
Table of Contents

  
UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

  

FORM 10-Q
  
 

☒ QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934
For the quarterly period ended March 31, 2011

or
 

☐ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934
For the transition period from                     to                     .

Commission file number: 000-50600
  

BLACKBAUD, INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

  
 

Delaware  11-2617163
(State or other jurisdiction of

incorporation or organization)  
(I.R.S. Employer

Identification No.)

2000 Daniel Island Drive
Charleston, South Carolina 29492

(Address of principal executive offices, including zip code)

(843) 216-6200
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

  
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing
requirements for the past 90 days.    YES  ☒    NO  ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required
to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (Section 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period
that the registrant was required to submit and post such files).    YES  ☒    NO  ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See
the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
 
Large accelerated filer    ☒  Accelerated filer                      ☐
Non-accelerated filer      ☐ (Do not check if a smaller reporting company)  Smaller reporting company    ☐

Indicate by check mark whether registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).    YES  ☐    NO  ☒

The number of shares of the registrant’s Common Stock outstanding as of April 25, 2011 was 44,502,932.
   



Table of Contents

BLACKBAUD, INC.

TABLE OF CONTENTS
 
      Page No. 
PART I.   FINANCIAL INFORMATION   

Item 1.   Financial statements   
  Consolidated balance sheets as of March 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010 (unaudited)    1  
  Consolidated statements of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 (unaudited)    2  
  Consolidated statements of cash flows for the three months ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 (unaudited)    3  

  

Consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income for the three months ended March 31, 2011 and
the year ended December 31, 2010 (unaudited)    4  

  Notes to consolidated financial statements (unaudited)    5  
Item 2.   Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations    16  
Item 3.   Quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk    27  
Item 4.   Controls and procedures    27  

PART II.   OTHER INFORMATION   
Item 2.   Unregistered sales of equity securities and use of proceeds    28  
Item 6.   Exhibits    28  

Signatures   
Exhibit – 2.3   
Exhibit – 31.1   
Exhibit – 31.2   
Exhibit – 32.1   
Exhibit – 32.2   
Exhibit – 101   



Table of Contents

PART I- FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 

Item 1. Financial statements

Blackbaud, Inc.
Consolidated balance sheets

(Unaudited)
 

    (in thousands, except share amounts)       
March 31,

2011   

December 31,
2010 

Assets      
Current assets:      

Cash and cash equivalents    $ 24,126      $ 27,974    
Donor restricted cash     14,870       16,359    
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $2,636 and $2,687 at March 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010,

respectively     50,311       59,804    
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     26,796       33,847    
Deferred tax asset, current portion     5,160       5,164    

     
 

Total current assets     121,263       143,148    
Property and equipment, net     23,819       22,963    
Deferred tax asset     40,839       44,639    
Goodwill     88,935       76,247    
Intangible assets, net     44,852       38,515    
Other assets     2,614       2,579    

     
 

Total assets    $ 322,322      $ 328,091    
     

 

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity      
Current liabilities:      

Trade accounts payable    $ 9,858      $ 9,883    
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities     23,518       28,322    
Donations payable     14,870       16,359    
Deferred revenue, current portion     135,489       141,149    

     
 

Total current liabilities     183,735       195,713    
Deferred revenue     6,126       6,900    
Other liabilities     3,288       2,419    

     
 

Total liabilities     193,149       205,032    
     

 

Commitments and contingencies (see Note 9)      
Stockholders’ equity:      

Preferred stock; 20,000,000 shares authorized, none outstanding     -       -    
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 180,000,000 shares authorized, 53,350,536 and 53,316,280 shares issued at

March 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively     53       53    
Additional paid-in capital     162,320       158,419    
Treasury stock, at cost; 8,846,663 and 8,842,882 shares at March 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010,

respectively     (161,288)      (161,186)   
Accumulated other comprehensive loss     (463)      (512)   
Retained earnings     128,551       126,285    

     
 

Total stockholders’ equity     129,173       123,059    
     

 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity    $ 322,322      $ 328,091    
     

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Blackbaud, Inc.
Consolidated statements of operations

(Unaudited)
 
   Three months ended March 31,  
    (in thousands, except share and per share amounts)        2011   2010  

Revenue       
License fees     $ 4,551      $ 5,167    
Subscriptions      25,510       19,176    
Services      24,032       20,089    
Maintenance      31,833       30,597    
Other revenue      1,348       1,210    

      
 

Total revenue      87,274       76,239    
      

 

Cost of revenue       
Cost of license fees      688       617    
Cost of subscriptions      9,162       7,226    
Cost of services      19,005       15,916    
Cost of maintenance      6,251       5,770    
Cost of other revenue      1,134       1,117    

      
 

Total cost of revenue      36,240       30,646    
      

 

Gross profit      51,034       45,593    
      

 

Operating expenses       
Sales and marketing      19,345       16,423    
Research and development      11,966       10,909    
General and administrative      9,202       8,397    
Amortization      233       196    

      
 

Total operating expenses      40,746       35,925    
      

 

Income from operations      10,288       9,668    
Interest income      33       20    
Interest expense      (24)      (46)   
Other income, net      69       3    

      
 

Income before provision for income taxes      10,366       9,645    
Income tax provision      2,782       3,693    

      
 

Net income     $ 7,584      $ 5,952    
      

 

Earnings per share       
Basic     $ 0.17      $ 0.14    
Diluted     $ 0.17      $ 0.13    

Common shares and equivalents outstanding       
Basic weighted average shares      43,352,216       43,435,218    
Diluted weighted average shares      43,916,657       44,226,074    

Dividends per share     $ 0.12      $ 0.11    

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Blackbaud, Inc.
Consolidated statements of cash flows

(Unaudited)
 
       Three months ended March 31,  
    (in thousands)        2011    2010  

Cash flows from operating activities       
  Net income     $ 7,584      $ 5,952    

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:       
Depreciation and amortization      4,017       3,819    
Provision for doubtful accounts and sales returns      1,124       457    
Stock-based compensation expense      3,796       3,152    
Excess tax benefits from stock based compensation      (193)      (1,014)   
Deferred taxes      382       795    
Other non-cash adjustments      (561)      (160)   
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisition of businesses:       

Accounts receivable      9,113       696    
Prepaid expenses and other assets      7,146       3,274    
Trade accounts payable      (1,547)      61    
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities      (6,373)      (6,356)   
Donor restricted cash      1,527       3,147    
Donations payable      (1,527)      (3,147)   
Deferred revenue      (6,976)      (3,348)   

      
 

Net cash provided by operating activities      17,512       7,328    
      

 

Cash flows from investing activities       
Purchase of property and equipment      (1,073)      (5,069)   
Purchase of net assets of acquired companies, net of cash acquired      (16,475)      -    
Purchase of intangible assets      -       (130)   
Proceeds from sale of assets      600       -    

      
 

Net cash used in investing activities      (16,948)      (5,199)   
      

 

Cash flows from financing activities       
Dividend payments to stockholders      (5,336)      (4,910)   
Proceeds from exercise of stock options      316       2,654    
Excess tax benefits from stock based compensation      193       1,014    
Payments on debt      -       (187)   
Payments on capital lease obligations      (14)      (81)   

      
 

Net cash used in financing activities      (4,841)      (1,510)   
      

 

Effect of exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents      429       (107)   
      

 

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents      (3,848)      512    
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period      27,974       22,769    

      
 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period     $ 24,126      $ 23,281    
      

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Blackbaud, Inc.
Consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income

(Unaudited)
 

       
Comprehensive

income 

  Common stock   Additional
paid-in
capital 

  
Treasury

stock 

  
Accumulated

other
comprehensive

income (loss) 

  
Retained
earnings 

  Total
stockholders’

equity (in thousands, except share amounts)         Shares   Amount           
Balance at December 31, 2009              52,214,606      $ 52      $134,726      $(134,382)     $ (201)     $ 115,911      $ 116,106    

Net income     $ 29,805       -       -       -       -       -       29,805       29,805    
Payment of dividends      -       -       -       -       -       -       (19,490)      (19,490)   
Purchase of 1,007,082 treasury

shares under stock repurchase
program      -       -       -       -       (22,613)      -       -       (22,613)   

Exercise of stock options and stock
appreciation rights      -       729,295       1     8,064       -       -       -       8,065    

Surrender of 158,459 shares upon
restricted stock vesting and
exercise of stock appreciation
rights      -       -       -       -       (4,191)      -       -       (4,191)   

Tax impact of exercise of
nonqualified stock options and
restricted stock vesting      -       -       -       2,629       -       -       -       2,629    

Stock-based compensation      -       -       -       13,000       -       -       59       13,059    
Restricted stock grants      -       460,659       -       -       -       -       -       -    
Restricted stock cancellations      -       (88,280)      -       -       -       -       -       -    
Translation adjustment, net of tax      (311)      -       -       -       -       (311)      -       (311)   

    
 

Comprehensive income     $ 29,494                  
Balance at December 31, 2010         53,316,280      $ 53      $158,419      $(161,186)     $ (512)     $126,285      $ 123,059    

    

 

Net income     $ 7,584       -       -       -       -       -       7,584       7,584    
Payment of dividends      -       -       -       -       -       -       (5,336)      (5,336)   
Exercise of stock options and stock

appreciation rights      -       53,097       -       316       -       -       -       316    
Surrender of 3,781 shares upon

restricted stock vesting and
exercise of stock appreciation
rights      -       -       -       -       (102)      -       -       (102)   

Tax impact of exercise of
nonqualified stock options and
restricted stock vesting      -       -       -       (193)      -       -       -       (193)   

Stock-based compensation      -       -       -       3,778       -       -       18       3,796    
Restricted stock grants      -       5,103       -       -       -       -       -       -    
Restricted stock cancellations      -       (23,944)      -       -       -       -       -       -    
Translation adjustment, net of tax      49       -       -       -       -       49       -       49    

    
 

Comprehensive income     $ 7,633                  
Balance at March 31, 2011         53,350,536      $ 53      $162,320      $(161,288)     $ (463)     $128,551      $ 129,173    

    

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Blackbaud, Inc.
Notes to consolidated financial statements

(Unaudited)

1. Organization

Blackbaud, Inc. (the Company) is the leading global provider of software and related services designed specifically for nonprofit organizations, and provides
products and services that enable nonprofit organizations to increase donations, reduce fundraising costs, improve communications with constituents, manage
their finances and optimize internal operations. As of March 31, 2011, the Company had approximately 24,000 active customers distributed across multiple
verticals within the nonprofit market including education, foundations, health and human services, religion, arts and cultural, public and societal benefits,
environment and animal welfare and international foreign affairs.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

Unaudited interim financial statements

The interim consolidated financial statements as of March 31, 2011, and for the three months ended March 31, 2011 and 2010, have been prepared by the
Company pursuant to the rules and regulations of the SEC for interim financial reporting. These consolidated statements are unaudited and, in the opinion of
management, include all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring adjustments and accruals) necessary to state fairly the consolidated balance sheets,
consolidated statements of operations, consolidated statements of cash flows and consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income for
the periods presented in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (U.S. GAAP). The consolidated balance sheet at
December 31, 2010 has been derived from the audited consolidated financial statements at that date. Operating results for the three months ended March 31, 2011
are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2011 or any other future period. Certain information and
footnote disclosures normally included in annual financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP have been omitted in accordance with the rules
and regulations for interim reporting of the SEC. These interim consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial
statements and notes thereto included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010 and other forms filed with the SEC
from time to time.

During the three months ended March 31, 2011, the Company recorded an out-of-period adjustment that increased income from operations by $0.8 million, $0.5
million net of tax, for the recognition of net revenue and related commission expense associated with subscription-based solutions for which revenue had not been
properly recorded in prior periods. The Company has determined that the impact of this out-of-period adjustment recorded in the three months ended March 31,
2011 is immaterial to the results of operations in all applicable prior annual periods. The Company also expects the impact of the adjustment to be immaterial to
the full year 2011 results of operations.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions. These estimates and
assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, as well as
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Areas of the financial statements where estimates may have the most significant
effect include revenue recognition, the allowance for sales returns and doubtful accounts, valuation of long-lived and intangible assets and goodwill, stock-based
compensation, the provision for income taxes and valuation of deferred tax assets. Changes in the facts or circumstances underlying these estimates could result
in material changes and actual results could differ from these estimates.
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Blackbaud, Inc.
Notes to consolidated financial statements

(Unaudited)
 
Revenue recognition

The Company’s revenue is primarily generated from the following sources: (1) selling perpetual licenses of its software products; (2) charging for the use of its
software products in a hosted environment; (3) providing professional services including implementation, training, consulting, analytic, hosting and other
services; and (4) providing software maintenance and support services.

License fees

The Company recognizes revenue from the sale of perpetual software license rights when all of the following conditions are met:
 

 •  persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists;
 

 •  the product has been delivered;
 

 •  the fee is fixed or determinable; and
 

 •  collection of the resulting receivable is probable.

The Company deems acceptance of an agreement to be evidence of an arrangement. Delivery occurs when the product is shipped or transmitted, and title and risk
of loss have transferred to the customers. The Company’s typical license agreement does not include customer acceptance provisions; however, if acceptance
provisions are provided, delivery is deemed to occur upon acceptance. The Company considers the fee to be fixed or determinable unless the fee is subject to
refund or adjustment or is not payable within the Company’s standard payment terms. Payment terms greater than 90 days are considered to be beyond the
Company’s customary payment terms. Collection is deemed probable if the Company expects that the customer will be able to pay amounts under the
arrangement as they become due. If the Company determines that collection is not probable, it defers revenue recognition until collection.

The Company sells software licenses with maintenance, varying levels of professional services and, in certain instances, with hosting services. The Company
allocates revenue to delivered components, normally the license component of the arrangement, using the residual value method based on objective evidence of
the fair value of the undelivered elements, which is specific to the Company. Fair value for maintenance services associated with software licenses is based upon
renewal rates stated in the agreements with customers, which vary according to the level of support service provided under the maintenance program. Fair value
of professional services and other products and services is based on sales of these products and services to other customers when sold on a stand-alone basis.
When a software license is sold with software customization services, generally the services are to provide customer support for assistance in creating special
reports and other enhancements that will assist with efforts to improve operational efficiency and/or to support business process improvements. These services are
not essential to the functionality of the software. However, when software customization services are considered essential to the functionality of the software, the
Company recognizes revenue for both the software license and the services on a percent-complete basis.

Subscriptions

The Company provides hosting services to customers who have purchased perpetual rights to certain of its software products (hosting services). Revenue from
hosting services, as well as data enrichment services, data management services and online training programs is recognized ratably over the service period of the
contract, which generally ranges from one to three years, upon deployment and use of the service. Any related set-up fees are also recognized ratably over the
same service period of the contract.

The Company makes certain of its software products available for use in hosted application arrangements without licensing perpetual rights to the software
(hosted applications). Revenue from hosted applications is recognized over the subscription service period, which generally ranges from one to three years, upon
deployment and use of the hosted application. Any related upfront activation, set-up or implementation fees are also recognized ratably over the same service
period. Direct and incremental costs relating to activation, set-up and implementation for hosted applications are capitalized until the hosted application is
deployed and in use, and then expensed over the remaining term of the arrangement.
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Blackbaud, Inc.
Notes to consolidated financial statements

(Unaudited)
 
For arrangements that have multiple elements and do not include software licenses, the Company allocates arrangement consideration at the inception of the
arrangement to those elements that qualify as separate units of accounting. The arrangement consideration is allocated to the separate units of accounting based on
relative selling price method in accordance with the selling price hierarchy, which includes: (i) vendor specific objective evidence (VSOE) if available; (ii) third
party evidence (TPE) if VSOE is not available; and (iii) best estimate of selling price if neither VSOE nor TPE is available. In general, the Company uses VSOE
in order to allocate the selling price to subscription and service deliverables.

Revenue from transaction processing fees is recognized when received. Credit card fees directly associated with processing donations for customers are included
in subscription revenue, net of related transaction costs.

Services

The Company generally bills consulting, installation and implementation services based on hourly rates plus reimbursable travel-related expenses. Revenue is
recognized for these services over the period the services are performed.

The Company recognizes analytic services revenue from donor prospect research engagements, the sale of lists of potential donors, benchmarking studies and
data modeling service engagements upon delivery.

The Company sells training at a fixed rate for each specific class, at a per attendee price or at a packaged price for several attendees, and revenue is recognized
only upon the customer attending and completing training. Additionally, the Company sells fixed-rate programs, which permit customers to attend unlimited
training over a specified contract period, typically one year, subject to certain restrictions, and revenue is recognized ratably over this contract period.

Maintenance

The Company recognizes revenue from maintenance services ratably over the contract term, which is typically one year. Maintenance contracts are at rates that
vary according to the level of the maintenance program and are generally renewable annually. Maintenance contracts also include the right to unspecified product
upgrades on an if-and-when available basis. Certain support services are sold in prepaid units of time and recognized as revenue upon their usage.

Deferred revenue

To the extent that the Company’s customers are billed or pay for the above described services in advance of delivery, the Company records such amounts in
deferred revenue.
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Blackbaud, Inc.
Notes to consolidated financial statements

(Unaudited)
 
Goodwill

The change in goodwill by reportable segment during the three months ended March 31, 2011 consisted of the following:
 

    (in thousands)        ECBU    GMBU    IBU    Other    Total  
Balance at December 31, 2010     $43,152      $26,472      $4,514      $2,109      $76,247    

Additions related to business combinations      12,560       -       -       -       12,560    
Disposition related to sale of assets      -       -       -       (51)      (51)   
Effect of foreign currency translation      -       -       179       -       179    

    
 

Balance at March 31, 2011        $55,712      $26,472      $4,693      $2,058      $88,935    

Amortization expense

Amortization expense related to intangible assets acquired in business combinations is allocated to cost of revenue on the statements of operations based on the
revenue stream to which the asset contributes. The following table summarizes amortization expense for the three months ended March 31, 2011 and 2010.
 
       Three months ended March 31,  
    (in thousands)        2011    2010  

Included in cost of revenue:       
Cost of license fees     $ 132    $ 94  
Cost of subscriptions      801     760  
Cost of services      387     336  
Cost of maintenance      252     297  
Cost of other revenue      19     19  

      
 

Total included in cost of revenue      1,591     1,506  
Included in operating expenses      233     196  

      
 

Total        $ 1,824    $ 1,702  

Recently adopted accounting pronouncements

Effective January 1, 2011, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2009-13, which amends the existing criteria for separating consideration in
multiple-deliverable arrangements. Arrangements that include perpetual software licenses are excluded from the scope of this ASU. ASU 2009-13 establishes a
hierarchy for determining the selling price of a deliverable and requires the use of best estimate of the selling price when VSOE or TPE of the selling price cannot
be determined. As a result of the requirement to use the best estimate of the selling price when VSOE or TPE of the selling price cannot be determined, the
residual method will no longer be permitted. ASU 2009-13 is applicable prospectively for revenue arrangements entered into or materially modified after the
adoption date. The adoption of ASU 2009-13 did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

3. Business combinations

PIDI

On February 1, 2011, the Company acquired all of the outstanding stock of Public Interest Data, Inc. (PIDI), a privately held company based in Virginia, for $16.6
million in cash. The acquisition of PIDI provided the Company additional capabilities in the area of donor acquisition list analytics and should enhance the
Company’s database management services offerings. The results of operations of PIDI are included in the consolidated financial statements of the Company from
the date of acquisition. During the first three months of 2011, total revenue from PIDI was $1.4 million and cost of revenue was $0.9 million. Acquisition-related
costs of $1.0 million, which primarily consisted of legal and financial advisory services, were recorded in income from operations during the three months ended
March 31, 2011.
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Blackbaud, Inc.
Notes to consolidated financial statements

(Unaudited)
 
In addition to the consideration paid at closing, the Company may be required to pay up to a maximum of $2.5 million in additional cash consideration if PIDI
meets revenue targets over the two years subsequent to the acquisition. A liability of $1.4 million was initially recognized for the estimated contingent
consideration that will be paid based on a probability-weighted discounted cash flow valuation technique. Any change in the fair value, or any change upon final
settlement, of the contingent consideration liability will be recognized in income from operations.

The following table summarizes the allocation of the purchase price based on the estimated fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed:
 
    (in thousands)      
    Cash and cash equivalents   $ 91    
    Accounts receivable    686    
    Other assets, current and noncurrent    291    
    Property and equipment    459    
    Intangibles    8,180    
    Goodwill    12,560    
    Trade accounts payable    (478)  
    Accrued expenses and other liabilities    (1,814)  
    Deferred tax liabilities, current and noncurrent    (3,409)  

    
 

   $    16,566    

The estimated fair value of accounts receivable approximates contractual value. The goodwill recognized is attributable primarily to the assembled workforce of
PIDI and the opportunities for expected synergies. None of the goodwill arising in the acquisition is deductible for income tax purposes. All of the goodwill is
assigned to the Enterprise Customer Business Unit reporting segment. The acquisition resulted in the identification of the following intangible assets:
 

    

Intangible
assets acquired
(in thousands)    

Weighted
average

amortization
period

(in years)  
    Customer relationships   $ 5,730     15   
    Marketing assets    150     2   
    Acquired software    1,720     8   
    Non-compete agreements    580     4   

    
 

  

   $ 8,180       

The fair value of the intangible assets was based on the income approach, which included both the relief of royalty and multi-period excess earnings methods.
Customer relationships are amortized on an accelerated basis. Marketing assets, acquired software and non-compete agreements are amortized on a straight-line
basis.

Pro forma results of operations for PIDI have not been presented because the results of PIDI are not material to the Company’s consolidated financial results.

4. Earnings per share

The Company computes basic earnings per share by dividing net income available to common stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding. Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing net income available to common stockholders by the weighted average number of common
shares and dilutive potential common shares then outstanding. Diluted earnings per share reflect the assumed conversion of all dilutive securities using the
treasury stock method. Dilutive potential common shares consist of shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options, settlement of stock appreciation rights and
vesting of restricted stock awards and units.
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Blackbaud, Inc.
Notes to consolidated financial statements

(Unaudited)
 
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share:
 
    Three months ended March 31,  
    (in thousands, except share and per share amounts)        2011     2010   
Numerator:       

Net income, as reported     $ 7,584      $ 5,952    
Denominator:       

Weighted average common shares      43,352,216       43,435,218    
Add effect of dilutive securities:       

Employee stock options and restricted stock      564,441       790,856    
    

 

Weighted average common shares assuming dilution      43,916,657       44,226,074    
    

 

Earnings per share:       
Basic     $ 0.17      $ 0.14    
Diluted        $ 0.17      $ 0.13    

The following shares and potential shares underlying stock-based awards were not included in diluted earnings per share because their inclusion would have been
anti-dilutive:
 
    Three months ended March 31,  

    2011   2010 
    Shares excluded from calculations of diluted EPS    399,263     164,355  

5. Comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income for the three months ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 is as follows:
 
    Three months ended March 31,  
    (in thousands)   2011   2010 
    Net income   $ 7,584    $ 5,952  
    Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax    49     (274) 

    
 

    Comprehensive income   $ 7,633    $ 5,678  

The amount of tax allocated to the translation adjustment recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) was an expense of $30,000 and a benefit of
$0.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
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Blackbaud, Inc.
Notes to consolidated financial statements

(Unaudited)
 
6. Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of the following as of March 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010:
 

(in thousands)        
March 31,

2011   

December 31,
2010 

    Deferred sales commissions     $ 11,913    $ 11,666    
    Prepaid software maintenance and royalties      4,363     4,352    
    Deferred professional services costs      4,261     3,447    
    Taxes, prepaid and receivable      2,342     10,826    
    Other      3,917     3,556    

    
 

Total prepaid expenses and other current assets        $ 26,796    $ 33,847    

7. Accrued expenses and other current liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consisted of the following as of March 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010:
 

    (in thousands)   

March 31,
2011   

December 31,  
2010   

    Accrued commissions and salaries     $ 5,237    $ 5,922    
    Accrued bonuses      4,567     8,952    
    Customer credit balances      3,339     3,379    
    Taxes payable      3,314     3,683    
    Accrued health care costs      886     862    
    Accrued accounting and legal fees      847     1,083    
    Other      5,328     4,441    

    
 

Total accrued expenses and other current liabilities        $23,518    $ 28,322    

8. Debt

Revolving credit facility

The Company has a $90.0 million revolving credit facility expiring in July 2012, which has a remaining option to increase the amount available under the facility
up to an additional $35.0 million, subject to certain terms and conditions. The revolving credit facility is guaranteed by the material domestic subsidiaries and is
collateralized with the stock of all of the Company’s subsidiaries. At March 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, there were no outstanding borrowings under the
credit facility.

Amounts borrowed under the revolving credit facility bear interest, at the Company’s option, at a variable rate based on (a) the higher of the prime rate plus a
margin of up to 0.5% or federal funds rate plus a margin of 0.5% to 1.0% (Base Rate Loans) or (b) LIBOR plus a margin of 1.0% to 1.5% (LIBOR Loans). The
exact amount of any margin depends on the nature of the loan and the leverage ratio at the time of the borrowing. The Company also pays a quarterly
commitment fee on the unused portion of the revolving credit facility equal to 0.2%, 0.25% or 0.3% per annum, depending on the Company’s leverage ratio.

Under the credit facility the Company has the ability to choose either Base Rate Loans or LIBOR Loans. Base rate borrowings mature in July 2012. LIBOR
Loans can be one, two, three or six month maturities, and the Company has the ability to extend the maturity of these loans by rolling them at their maturity into
new loans with the same or longer maturities. The Company evaluates the classification of its debt based on the maturity of individual borrowings and any roll-
over of borrowings subsequent to the balance sheet date, but prior to issuance of the financial statements.
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9. Commitments and contingencies

Leases

The Company leases its headquarters facility from Duck Pond Creek, LLC. Two current executive officers of the Company each have a 4% ownership interest in
Duck Pond Creek, LLC. The lease agreement has a term of 15 years with two five-year renewal options by the Company. The annual base rent of the lease is $3.6
million payable in equal monthly installments. The base rent escalates annually at a rate equal to the change in the consumer price index, as defined in the
agreement, but not to exceed 5.5% in any year. In addition, under the terms of the lease, the lessor will reimburse the Company an aggregate amount of $4.0
million for leasehold improvements, which will be recorded as a reduction to rent expense ratably over the term of the lease. During the three months ended
March 31, 2011 and 2010 rent expense was reduced by $66,700 related to this lease provision. The $4.0 million leasehold improvement allowance has been
included in the table below of operating lease commitments as a reduction in the Company’s lease commitments ratably over the then remaining life of the lease
from October 2008. The timing of the reimbursements for the actual leasehold improvements may vary from the amount reflected in the table below.

Additionally, the Company has subleased a portion of its facilities under various agreements extending through 2012. Under these agreements, rent expense was
reduced by $0.1 million in each of the three-month periods ended March 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. The operating lease commitments in the table below
have been reduced by minimum aggregate sublease commitments of $0.3 million for each of 2011 and 2012. No minimum aggregate sublease commitments exist
after 2012. The Company has also received, and expects to receive through 2012, quarterly South Carolina state incentive payments as a result of locating its
headquarters facility in Berkeley County, South Carolina. These amounts are recorded as a reduction of rent expense and were $0.7 million for each of the three
months ended March 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Additionally, the Company leases various office space and equipment under operating leases. The Company also has various non-cancelable capital leases for
computer equipment and furniture that are not significant.

As of March 31, 2011, the future minimum lease commitments related to operating lease agreements, net of related sublease commitments and lease incentives,
were as follows:
 
    Year ending December 31,
    (in thousands)      

2011 – remaining   $ 5,185  
2012    6,175  
2013    5,287  
2014    5,010  
2015    4,831  
Thereafter    37,367  

    
 

Total minimum lease payments   $    63,855  

Other commitments

The Company utilizes third-party relationships in conjunction with its products, with contractual arrangements varying in length from one to three years. In
certain cases, these arrangements require a minimum annual purchase commitment. The aggregate minimum purchase commitment under these arrangements is
approximately $3.5 million through 2013. The Company incurred expense under these arrangements of $1.1 million and $0.8 million for the three months ended
March 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Legal contingencies

The Company is subject to legal proceedings and claims that have arisen in the ordinary course of business. The Company records an accrual for a contingency
when it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. The Company does not believe the amount of
potential liability with respect to these actions will have a material adverse effect upon the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
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10. Income taxes

The Company calculated the provision for income taxes for the three months ended March 31, 2011 using the 2011 projected annual effective tax rate of 36.3%,
which excludes period-specific items. The Company’s effective tax rate, including the effects of period-specific events, was as follows:
 
        Three months ended March 31,  

        2011    2010 
    Effective tax rate       26.8%     38.3% 

Period-specific items recorded in the three months ended March 31, 2011 included a decrease of $1.0 million in the valuation allowance for certain state net
operating loss carryforwards, which reduced income tax expense. There were no material period-specific items recorded in the three months ended March 31,
2010.

The Company has deferred tax assets for, among other items, federal net operating loss carryforwards, state net operating loss carryforwards, and state tax credits.
A portion of the state net operating loss carryforwards and state tax credits have a valuation reserve due to the uncertainty of realizing such carryforwards and
credits in the future. Additionally, the Company has a valuation allowance for certain state deferred tax assets acquired from Kintera.

The Company recorded net excess tax benefits on stock option exercises and restricted stock vesting of $0.2 million and $1.0 million in stockholders’ equity
during the three months ended March 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

The total amount of unrecognized tax benefit that, if recognized, would favorably affect the effective tax rate, was $1.5 million at March 31, 2011. The Company
recognizes accrued interest and penalties, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense. The total amount of accrued interest
and penalties was not material to the consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2011 or December 31, 2010, or to the consolidated statement of operations for
the three months ended March 31, 2011 or 2010.

The Company has taken positions in certain taxing jurisdictions related to state nexus issues for which it is reasonably possible that the total amounts of
unrecognized tax benefits might decrease within the next twelve months. This possible decrease could result from the finalization of state income tax reviews and
the expiration of statutes of limitations. The reasonably possible decrease is not material at March 31, 2011.

It continues to be the Company’s intention to indefinitely reinvest undistributed foreign earnings. Accordingly, no deferred tax liability has been recorded in
connection with the undistributed foreign earnings. It is not practicable for the Company to determine the amount of the unrecognized deferred tax liability for
temporary differences related to investments in foreign subsidiaries.

11. Stock-based compensation

During the three months ended March 31, 2011, the Company issued 5,103 shares of restricted stock and 20,240 stock appreciation rights with an aggregate grant
date fair value of $0.1 million and $0.2 million, respectively. The Company also issued performance-based restricted stock units to certain executive officers with
an aggregate grant date value range of zero to $1.3 million depending on the achievement of the various performance targets. Under the performance-based
restricted stock unit agreements, if the minimum performance targets are not met, the restricted stock units will not vest and no shares of the Company’s common
stock will be granted. Compensation cost for the performance-based awards will be recognized to the extent the performance targets are achieved using the
graded-vesting method over the requisite service period of three years. No stock options were issued in the three months ended March 31, 2011.
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Stock-based compensation expense is allocated to expense categories on the consolidated statements of operations. The following table summarizes stock-based
compensation expense for the three months ended March 31, 2011 and 2010.
 
    Three months ended March 31,   
    (in thousands)       2011     2010   
    Included in cost of revenue:       

Cost of subscriptions     $ 102      $ 92    
Cost of services      457       436    
Cost of maintenance      242       177    

   
 

Total included in cost of revenue      801       705    
    Included in operating expenses:       

Sales and marketing      357       361    
Research and development      843       711    
General and administrative      1,795       1,375    

   
 

Total included in operating expenses      2,995       2,447    
   

 

Total      $ 3,796      $ 3,152    

12. Stockholders’ equity

Dividends

In February 2011, the Company’s Board of Directors approved an annual dividend of $0.48 per share and declared its first quarter dividend of $0.12 per share,
which was paid on March 15, 2011 to stockholders of record on February 28, 2011.

In May 2011, the Company’s Board of Directors declared a second quarter dividend of $0.12 per share payable on June 15, 2011 to stockholders of record on
May 27, 2011.

13. Segment information

The Company is organized into three operating units that are aligned to key customer groups. The three operating units are the Enterprise Customer Business Unit
(ECBU), the General Markets Business Unit (GMBU) and the International Business Unit (IBU).

Following is a description of each operating unit:
 

 
•  The ECBU is focused on marketing, sales, delivery and support to large and/or strategic, specifically identified named prospects and customers in

North America. In addition, ECBU is focused on marketing, sales and delivery of analytic services to all prospects and customers worldwide.
 

 
•  The GMBU is focused on marketing, sales, delivery and support to all emerging and mid-sized prospects and customers in North America that are

not specifically identified as ECBU prospects and customers.
 

 •  The IBU is focused on marketing, sales, delivery and support to all prospects and customers outside of North America.

The Company has determined that the three operating units represent the Company’s reportable segments. The Company’s chief operating decision maker is its
chief executive officer, or CEO. The CEO reviews financial information presented on an operating segment basis for the purposes of making certain operating
decisions and
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assessing financial performance. The CEO uses internal financial reports that provide segment revenues and operating income, excluding stock-based
compensation expense, amortization expense, depreciation expense, research and development expense and certain corporate sales, marketing, general and
administrative expenses. The CEO believes that the exclusion of these costs allows for a better understanding of the operating performance of the operating units
and management of other operating expenses and cash needs. The CEO does not review any segment balance sheet information.
 
(in thousands)        Three months ended March 31,  

        2011          2010   
Revenue by segment:         

ECBU     $ 36,999        $ 29,233    
GMBU      41,017         38,625    
IBU      7,216         6,735    
Other      2,042         1,646    

    
 

Total revenue     $ 87,274        $ 76,239    
    

 

Segment operating income :         
ECBU      14,999         12,512    
GMBU      23,021         22,578    
IBU      1,449         1,440    
Other      1,552         1,142    

    
 

     41,021         37,672    
Less:         

Corporate unallocated costs      25,113         23,150    
Stock based compensation costs      3,796         3,152    
Amortization expense      1,824         1,702    
Interest (income) expense, net      (9)         26    
Other income, net      (69)         (3)    

    
 

Income before provision for income taxes     $ 10,366        $ 9,645    
    

 

 

(1) Other includes revenue and the related costs from the sale of products and services not directly attributable to an operating segment.
(2) Segment operating income includes direct, controllable costs related to the sale of products and services by the reportable segment, except for IBU, which

includes operating costs from our foreign locations such as sales, marketing, general administrative, depreciation, facilities and IT support costs.
(3) Corporate costs include research and development, data center operating costs, depreciation expense, and certain corporate sales, marketing, general and

administrative expenses.
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The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial
statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. This report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These forward-looking statements reflect our current view with
respect to future events and financial performance and are subject to risks and uncertainties, including those set forth under “Cautionary statement” included in
this “Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations” and elsewhere in this report, that could cause actual results to differ
materially from historical or anticipated results.

Executive summary

We are the leading global provider of software and related services designed specifically for nonprofit organizations. Our products and services enable nonprofit
organizations to increase donations, reduce fundraising costs, improve communications with constituents, manage finances and optimize internal operations. We
have focused solely on the nonprofit market since our incorporation in 1982 and have developed our suite of products and services based upon our extensive
knowledge of the operating challenges facing nonprofit organizations. As of March 31, 2011, we had approximately 24,000 active customers. Our customers
operate in multiple verticals within the nonprofit market, including education, foundations, health and human services, religion, arts and cultural, public and
societal benefits, environment and animal welfare and international foreign affairs.

We derive revenue from selling perpetual licenses or charging for the use of our software products in a hosted environment and providing a broad offering of
services, including consulting, training, installation and implementation, as well as ongoing customer support and maintenance. Consulting, training and
implementation services are generally not essential to the functionality of our software products and are sold separately. Furthermore, we derive revenue from
providing hosting services, performing donor prospect research engagements, selling lists of potential donors, and providing benchmarking studies and data
modeling services.

Overall, revenue for the first quarter of 2011 increased 15% when compared to first quarter of 2010. When removing the impact of revenue from acquired
companies and foreign currency translation, revenue increased by 12%. This increase was the result of continued growth in our subscription revenue, principally
attributable to increased demand for our hosting services, online fundraising and data management offerings and the shift in our business towards hosted
solutions. Also contributing to the growth in revenue is an increase in our services revenue, which is primarily due to an increase in volume of consulting services
provided. Revenue associated with our core perpetual license offerings decreased in the first quarter 2011 when compared to the same period in 2010 as a result
of the continuing decreases in sales of our perpetual license offerings to the mid-market customer base, which is principally the result of customers opting to
purchase our solutions under alternative packaging with more flexible subscription-based pricing. We believe this trend will continue in the future.

Income from operations for the first quarter of 2011 increased by $0.6 million when compared to first quarter of 2010. The increase in income from operations is
primarily attributable to growth in revenue, partially offset by (1) $1.0 million of acquisition-related costs, (2) an increase of $0.6 million in stock-based
compensation expense and (3) an increase in selling and marketing expenses of $2.9 million. The increase in selling and marketing expenses is principally
attributable to an increase in commissionable revenue and an increase in marketing costs associated with the launch of our new corporate branding and newly
packaged offerings.

We ended the first quarter of 2011 with cash and cash equivalents totaling $24.1 million and no outstanding borrowings on our credit facility. During the first
quarter 2011, we generated $17.5 million in cash flow from operations, of which $16.5 million was used to acquire a business and $5.3 million to pay dividends.

The pace and impact of economic recovery on the nonprofit market remains uncertain and, consequently, we expect that our operating environment will continue
to be challenging in 2011 as existing and prospective customers remain cautious in their expenditure decisions. Notwithstanding these conditions, we remain
focused on execution, investing in our key growth initiatives, strengthening our leadership position and carefully managing our costs and expenses to achieve our
targeted level of profitability.
 

16



Table of Contents

Blackbaud, Inc.
Item 2. Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations (continued)
 
Results of operations

Comparison of the three months ended March 31, 2011 and 2010

We completed the acquisition of Public Interest Data, Inc., or PIDI, on February 1, 2011. We have included PIDI’s results of operations in our consolidated results
of operations from the date of acquisition, which impacts the comparability of our results of operations. We have noted in the discussion below, to the extent
meaningful, the impact on the comparability of our results of operations due to the inclusion of PIDI. During the first quarter 2011, PIDI’s total revenue was $1.4
million and income from operations was $0.5 million.

Revenue

The table below compares revenue from our statements of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2011 with the same period in 2010.
 
   Three months ended March 31,          
(in millions)   2011   2010   Change     % Change 
License fees   $ 4.6    $ 5.2    $ (0.6)       (12)% 
Subscriptions    25.5     19.2     6.3       33% 
Services    24.0     20.1     3.9       19% 
Maintenance    31.8     30.5     1.3       4% 
Other    1.4     1.2     0.2       17% 

Total revenue   $ 87.3    $ 76.2    $ 11.1       15% 

Total revenue increased $11.1 million, or 15%, in the first quarter of 2011 when compared to the first quarter of 2010. The increase in revenue is primarily
attributable to growth in our subscription and services revenue. The increase in subscription revenue is primarily due to an increase in demand for our hosting
services, online fundraising and data management offerings. The growth in revenue from our subscription offerings is also a result of the ongoing evolution of our
product offerings from traditional perpetual license-based arrangements with upfront payments to subscription-based offerings with more flexible pricing and
payments. Services revenue grew principally due to an increase in the volume of consulting services associated with implementation engagements of Blackbaud
Enterprise CRM. The increase in maintenance revenue is primarily attributable to new maintenance contracts associated with new license agreements and
increases in contracts with existing customers when comparing the first quarter of 2011 to the same period in 2010. The decrease in license fees is principally
attributable to the continued shift in our customers’ buying preference away from perpetual license arrangements towards subscription-based hosted applications.

Operating results

The operating results analyzed below are presented on a non-GAAP basis: the results exclude the impact of stock-based compensation expense, amortization of
intangibles arising from business combinations, gain on the sale of assets and acquisition-related expenses incurred in connection with our 2011 acquisition of
PIDI because, in managing our operations, we believe that the exclusion of these costs allows us to better understand and manage our operating expenses and
cash needs. These excluded costs are analyzed separately following the discussion of operating expenses.
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License fees
 
   Three months ended March 31,          

    
 

    

(in millions)   2011   2010   Change   % Change 
License fee revenue     $ 4.6    $ 5.2    $ (0.6)     (12)%  
Controllable cost of license fees    0.5     0.5     -       0%  

    
 

License fee gross profit     $ 4.1    $ 4.7    $ (0.6)     (13)%  
    

 

License fee gross margin    89%     90%      

Revenue from license fees is derived from the sale of our software products under a perpetual license agreement. We continue to experience a shift in our
customers’ buying preference away from solutions offered under perpetual license arrangements towards subscription-based hosted applications. Additionally, we
continue to experience longer sales cycle times, delays and postponements of purchasing decisions and overall caution exercised by existing and prospective
customers as a result of continued challenges posed by the weakened economic environment. During first quarter 2011, revenue from license fees to existing
customers increased $0.1 million and sales to new customers decreased by $0.7 million.

Direct controllable cost of license fees is principally comprised of third-party software royalties and variable reseller commissions. Cost of license fees in the first
quarter of 2011 compared to the same period in 2010 remained unchanged.

The percentage point decrease in license fee gross margin in the first quarter of 2011 compared to the same period in 2010 is the result of an increase in the mix of
license revenue for which we paid variable reseller commissions during the first quarter of 2011 when compared to the same period in 2010.

Subscriptions
 
   Three months ended March 31,          

    
 

    

(in millions)   2011   2010   Change   % Change 
Subscriptions revenue     $ 25.5    $ 19.2    $ 6.3     33%  
Controllable cost of subscriptions    8.3     6.4     1.9     30%  

    
 

Subscriptions gross profit     $ 17.2    $ 12.8    $ 4.4     34%  
    

 

Subscriptions gross margin    67%     67%      

Revenue from subscriptions is principally comprised of revenue from providing access to hosted applications and hosting services, access to certain data services
and our online subscription training offerings, and variable transaction fees associated with the use of our products to fundraise online. Included in subscriptions
revenue is $1.1 million of revenue attributable to the inclusion of PIDI and an out-of-period adjustment of $1.7 million, which increased subscription revenue in
first quarter 2011, related to our accounting for subscription-based offerings that were earned in prior periods. Excluding revenue from PIDI and the out-of-period
adjustment, the increase in subscription revenue of $3.6 million, or 19%, is principally attributable to the increase in demand for hosting services, online
fundraising and data management offerings. We continue to experience growth in our hosted applications business and are increasingly experiencing a shift in our
customers’ buying preference away from traditional perpetual licenses arrangements with upfront payment terms towards subscription based-offerings with more
flexible pricing and payments. Additionally, revenue from our hosting services continues to increase as demand for these services continues to grow from both
our existing and new perpetual license customers.

Controllable cost of subscriptions is primarily comprised of human resource costs, third-party royalty and data expenses, hosting expenses, an allocation of
depreciation, facilities and IT support costs and other costs incurred in
 

18



Table of Contents

Blackbaud, Inc.
Item 2. Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations (continued)
 
providing support and services to our customers. The increase in cost of subscriptions in the first quarter of 2011 compared to the same period in 2010 is
principally attributable to an increase in headcount as a result of the inclusion of PIDI and investments we are making in our infrastructure to support the growth
in our subscription offerings. Human resource costs increased $1.4 million as a result of the increase in headcount. The remaining increase is due to an increase in
data center operating costs.

Services
 
     Three months ended March 31,          
(in millions)   2011   2010   Change   % Change 
Services revenue     $ 24.0    $ 20.1    $ 3.9     19%  
Controllable cost of services    18.2     15.1     3.1     21%  

    
 

Services gross profit     $ 5.8    $ 5.0    $ 0.8     16%  
    

 

Services gross margin    24%     25%      

Services revenue consists of consulting, installation, implementation, education and analytic services. Consulting, installation and implementation services
involve converting data from a customer’s existing system, assistance in file set up and system configuration, and/or process re-engineering. Education services
involve customer training activities. Analytic services are comprised of donor prospect research, selling lists of potential donors, benchmarking studies and data
modeling services. These services involve the assessment of current and prospective donor information of the customer and are performed using our proprietary
analytical tools. The end product enables organizations to more effectively target their fundraising activities. We recognize services revenue attributable to
consulting services for implementation of our hosted applications and subscription offerings ratably over the related term of the hosting or subscription
arrangement. We also recognize the direct and incremental costs associated with consulting services revenue ratably over the service period. However, we
continue to expense indirect costs in the period the cost is incurred.

Overall, the increase in services revenue during the first quarter 2011 when compared to the same period in 2010 is principally attributable to an increase in
consulting services revenue of $3.5 million, analytic services revenue of $0.6 million and education services revenue of $0.6 million, partially offset by an out-of-
period adjustment recorded in the first quarter of 2011 of $0.8 million which reduced consulting services revenue. The increase in consulting services revenue is
principally attributable to an increase in the volume of consulting, installation and implementation services associated with our Blackbaud Enterprise CRM
product offering, which was partially offset by a reduction in the effective rates we charge as a result of a higher level of discounts offered on our consulting
services offerings during 2010. The rates we charge for our education and analytic services offerings have remained relatively constant year over year and, as
such, the increase in revenue is principally the result of an increase in volume of services provided.

Controllable cost of services is principally comprised of human resource costs, third-party contractor expenses, classroom rentals, other costs incurred in
providing consulting, installation and implementation services and customer training, data expense incurred to perform analytic services and an allocation of
depreciation, facilities and IT support costs. The increase in cost of services of $3.1 million in the first quarter 2011 when compared to the same period in 2010 is
primarily attributable to an increase in human resource and third-party contractor costs of $2.7 million, which was driven by the need for additional resource
capacity to meet the increasing demand for consulting services. Additionally, we continue to experience a shift in the mix of consultants to meet the needs of our
enterprise customers, which require a higher level of skilled resources that carry a higher cost.
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Maintenance
 
   Three months ended March 31,          

    
 

    

(in millions)   2011   2010   Change   % Change 
Maintenance revenue     $ 31.8    $ 30.5    $ 1.3     4%  
Controllable cost of maintenance    5.8     5.3     0.5     9%  

    
 

Maintenance gross profit     $ 26.0    $ 25.2    $ 0.8     3%  
    

 

Maintenance gross margin    82%     83%      

Revenue from maintenance is comprised of annual fees derived from maintenance contracts associated with new software licenses and annual renewals of
existing maintenance contracts. These contracts provide customers with updates, enhancements and upgrades to our software products and online, telephone and
email support. The increase in maintenance revenue of $1.3 million in the first quarter of 2011 compared to the first quarter of 2010 is principally comprised of
$2.3 million of maintenance with new customers associated with new license agreements and increases in contracts with existing customers and $0.9 million from
maintenance contract inflationary rate adjustments, offset by $1.9 million from maintenance contracts that were not renewed.

Controllable cost of maintenance is primarily comprised of human resource costs, third-party contractor expenses, third-party royalty costs, an allocation of
depreciation, facilities and IT support costs and other costs incurred in providing support and services to our customers. The increase in cost of maintenance in the
first quarter of 2011 compared to the same period in 2010 is principally attributable to an increase in human resource costs. Human resource costs increased due
to an increase in headcount and a change in the mix of support resources. Headcount increased due to an increase in volume of our new maintenance contracts
and increases in our existing maintenance customer contracts. Additionally, we continue to experience a shift in the mix of support resources to the meet the needs
of our enterprise customers, which require a higher level of skilled resources that carry a higher cost.

The decrease in maintenance gross margin in first quarter 2011 is due to additional headcount to meet the increasing needs of our customers.

Other revenue
 
   Three months ended March 31,          

    
 

    

(in millions)   2011   2010   Change   % Change 
Other revenue     $ 1.4    $ 1.2    $ 0.2     17%  
Controllable cost of other revenue    1.1     1.1     -       0%  

    
 

Other gross profit     $ 0.3    $ 0.1    $ 0.2     200%  
    

 

Other gross margin    21%     8%      

Other revenue includes the sale of business forms that are used in conjunction with our software products, reimbursement of travel-related expenses, primarily
incurred during the performance of services at customer locations and fees from user conferences. Other revenue increased in the first quarter of 2011 when
compared to the same period in 2010 primarily due to an increase in reimbursable travel-related costs from our services business.

Controllable cost of other revenue includes human resource costs, costs of business forms, costs of user conferences, reimbursable expenses relating to the
performance of services at customer locations and an allocation of depreciation, facilities and IT support costs.

The increase in other gross margin is due to an increase in realization of reimbursable travel-related expenses.
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The following schedule reconciles non-GAAP gross profit discussed above to gross profit as stated on the statement of operations:
 
   Three months ended March 31,          

    
 

    

(in millions)   2011   2010   Change   % Change 
License fees   $ 4.1    $ 4.7    $ (0.6)     (13)%  
Subscriptions    17.2     12.8     4.4     34%  
Services    5.8     5.0     0.8     16%  
Maintenance    26.0     25.2     0.8     3%  
Other    0.3     0.1     0.2     200%  

    
 

Total non-GAAP gross profit   $ 53.4    $ 47.8    $ 5.6     12%  
    

 

Less corporate costs not allocated:         
Stock-based compensation expense    0.8     0.7     0.1     17%  
Amortization of intangible assets acquired in business combinations    1.6     1.5     0.1     7%  

    
 

Gross profit as stated in statements of operations   $ 51.0    $ 45.6    $ 5.4     12%  
    

 

Gross margin %    58%     60%      

Operating expenses

Sales and marketing
 
   Three months ended March 31,          

    
 

    

(in millions)   2011   2010   Change   % Change 
Sales and marketing expense excluding stock-based compensation   $ 18.9    $ 16.0    $ 2.9     18%  
Add: Stock-based compensation expense    0.4     0.4     -       0%  

    
 

Sales and marketing expense   $ 19.3    $ 16.4    $ 2.9     18%  
    

 

% of revenue (excluding stock-based compensation)    22%     21%      

Sales and marketing expense includes salaries and related human resource costs, travel-related expenses, sales commissions, advertising and marketing materials,
public relations and an allocation of depreciation, facilities and IT support costs. Sales and marketing expense in the first quarter of 2011 compared to the first
quarter of 2010 increased by $2.9 million primarily due to an increase of $1.4 million in commission expense. The increase in commission expense is principally
attributable to higher commission rates and an increase in commissionable sales and revenue in 2011. Additionally, human resource costs increased by $0.8
million and marketing programs related costs increased by $ 0.6 million. Human resources costs increased due to additional headcount. The increase in marketing
programs related costs is principally attributable to the launch of our new corporate branding and an increase in marketing costs associated with newly packaged
offerings.

The increase in sales and marketing expense as a percentage of revenue in the first quarter of 2011 when compared to first quarter of 2010 is principally due to an
increase in commission expense.
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Research and development
 
   Three months ended March 31,          

    
 

    

(in millions)   2011   2010   Change   % Change 
Research and development expense excluding stock-based compensation     $ 11.2    $ 10.2    $ 1.0     10%      
Add: Stock-based compensation    0.8     0.7     0.1     14%      

    
 

Research and development expense     $ 12.0    $ 10.9    $ 1.1     10%      
    

 

% of revenue (excluding stock-based compensation)    13%     13%      

Research and development expenses include human resource costs, third-party contractor expenses, software development tools and other expenses related to
developing new products, upgrading and enhancing existing products and an allocation of depreciation, facilities and IT support costs. During the first quarter of
2011, the increase in research and development costs is principally attributable to an increase in human resource costs resulting from the ongoing investment we
are making in our products.

General and administrative
 
   Three months ended March 31,          

    
 

    

(in millions)   2011   2010   Change   % Change 
General and administrative expense excluding stock-based compensation, acquisition-related costs and gain on sale of

assets   $ 6.9    $ 7.0    $ (0.1)     (1)%      
Add: Acquisition-related costs    1.0     -       1.0     -  %      
Add: Gain on sale of assets    (0.5)     -       (0.5)     -  %      
Add: Stock-based compensation    1.8     1.4     0.4     29%      

    
 

General and administrative expense   $ 9.2    $ 8.4    $ 0.8     10%      
    

 

% of revenue (excluding stock-based compensation)    8%     9%      

General and administrative expense consists primarily of human resource costs for general corporate functions, including senior management, finance,
accounting, legal, human resources, corporate development, third-party professional fees, insurance, an allocation of depreciation, facilities and IT support costs,
and other administrative expenses. During the first quarter 2011 compared to the same period in 2010, the decrease in general and administrative expense and the
reduction in general and administrative costs as a percentage of revenue was principally due to a decrease in professional services costs.

Stock-based compensation

We recognize compensation expense related to stock-based awards granted to employees. We measure stock-based compensation cost at the grant date based on
the fair value of the award and recognize it as expense over the requisite service period, which is the vesting period.
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Our consolidated statements of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 include the amounts of stock-based compensation illustrated
below:
 
   Three months ended March 31,      

    
 

    

(in millions)   2011   2010   Change   % Change     
Included in cost of revenue:         

Cost of subscriptions     $ 0.1    $ 0.1    $ -       0%      
Cost of services    0.5     0.4     0.1     25%      
Cost of maintenance    0.2     0.2     -       0%      

    
 

Total included in cost of revenue    0.8     0.7     0.1     14%      
Included in operating expenses:         

Sales and marketing    0.4     0.4     -       0%      
Research and development    0.8     0.7     0.1     14%      
General and administrative    1.8     1.4     0.4     29%      

    
 

Total included in operating expenses    3.0     2.5     0.5     20%      
    

 

Total     $ 3.8    $ 3.2    $ 0.6     19%      
    

 

Stock-based compensation is comprised of expense from restricted stock, performance-based restricted stock units and stock appreciation rights. The table below
summarizes the stock-based compensation by award type for the three months ended March 31, 2011 and 2010.
 
   Three months ended March 31,      

    
 

    

(in millions)   2011   2010   Change   % Change 
Stock-based compensation from:         

Restricted stock   $ 2.5    $ 2.3    $ 0.2     9%      
Performance-based restricted stock units    0.2     -       0.2     -  %      
Stock appreciation rights    1.1     0.9     0.2     22%      

    
 

Total stock-based compensation   $ 3.8    $ 3.2    $ 0.6     19%      
    

 

Stock-based compensation expense increased in the first quarter of 2011 compared to the same period in 2010 due to additional grants in the second half of 2010,
partially offset by the vesting of grants issued in prior years.

The total amount of compensation costs related to non-vested awards not yet recognized was $31.0 million as of March 31, 2011. This amount will be recognized
as expense over a weighted average period of 1.8 years.
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Amortization

We allocated amortization expense to cost of revenue based on the nature of the respective identifiable intangible asset and whether the asset is directly associated
with a specific component of revenue. Amortization expense included in our consolidated statements of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2011
and 2010 is illustrated below:
 
   Three months ended March 31,          
(in millions)   2011   2010   Change   % Change 
Included in cost of revenue:         
Cost of license fees   $             0.1    $             0.1    $ -     0%  
Cost of subscriptions    0.8     0.8     -     0%  
Cost of services    0.4     0.3         0.1     33%  
Cost of maintenance    0.3     0.3     -     0%  
Cost of other revenue    -     -     -     -%  

    
 

Total included in cost of revenue    1.6     1.5     0.1     7%  
Included in operating expenses    0.2     0.2     -     0%  

    
 

Total   $ 1.8    $ 1.7    $ 0.1     6%  
    

 

Acquisition-related costs

During the first quarter 2011, we expensed $1.0 million of acquisition-related costs, which were recorded in general and administrative expense. There were no
similar expenses in the first quarter 2010.

Gain on sale of assets

During the first quarter 2011, we recognized a gain of $0.5 million from the sale of intangible assets, which was recorded as a reduction of general and
administrative expense. There was no similar transaction in first quarter 2010.

Income tax provision

The estimated annual effective tax rate for 2011 is 36.3%, which excludes period-specific items. Following is our effective tax rate, including the effects of
period-specific items:
 

    
Three months

ended March 31,  
    2011   2010 
Effective tax rate    26.8%     38.3%  

Period-specific items recorded in the three months ended March 31, 2011 included a decrease of $1.0 million in the valuation allowance for certain state net
operating loss carryforwards, which reduced income tax expense. There were no material period-specific items recorded in the three months ended March 31,
2010.

Our deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded at an amount based upon a U.S. federal income tax rate of 35.0% and appropriate statutory tax rates of various
foreign, state and local jurisdictions in which we operate. If our tax rates change in the future, we will adjust our deferred tax assets and liabilities to an amount
reflecting those income tax rates. Any change will affect the provision for income taxes during the period in which the determination is made.

The amount of unrecognized tax benefit that, if recognized, would favorably affect our effective rate as of March 31, 2011 was $1.5 million. We have taken
positions in certain taxing jurisdictions related to state nexus issues for which
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it is reasonably possible that the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits may decrease within the next twelve months. The possible decrease could result from
the finalization of state income tax reviews and the expiration of statutes of limitations. The reasonably possible decrease was not material at March 31, 2011.

Liquidity and capital resources

At March 31, 2011, cash and cash equivalents totaled $24.1 million, compared to $28.0 million at December 31, 2010. The $3.8 million decrease in cash and cash
equivalents during the first quarter of 2011 is principally the result of using cash generated from operations of $17.5 million and cash on hand to pay $16.5
million to acquire a business and $5.3 million in dividends to stockholders.

Our principal source of liquidity is our operating cash flow, which depends on continued customer renewal of our maintenance, support and subscription
agreements and market acceptance of our products and services. Based on current estimates of revenue and expenses, we believe that the currently available
sources of funds and anticipated cash flows from operations will be adequate for at least the next twelve months to finance our operations, fund anticipated capital
expenditures and pay dividends. Dividend payments are not guaranteed and our Board of Directors may decide, in its absolute discretion, at any time and for any
reason, not to declare or pay further dividends and/or repurchase our common stock.

At March 31, 2011 we had no outstanding borrowings under our credit facility. We have drawn on our credit facility from time to time to help us meet short-term
financial needs, such as business acquisitions and purchase of common stock under our repurchase program. Under our $90.0 million credit facility, which
matures in July 2012, we have a remaining option to increase the aggregate amount available by up to $35.0 million. We believe our cash on hand, cash generated
from operations and our credit facility provides us with sufficient flexibility to meet our financial needs.

Operating cash flow

Net cash provided by operating activities of $17.5 million increased by $10.2 million during the first quarter 2011 when compared to the first quarter of 2010.
Throughout both periods, our cash flows from operations were derived principally from: (i) our earnings from on-going operations prior to non-cash expenses
such as depreciation, amortization and stock-based compensation and adjustments to our provision for sales returns and allowances; (ii) the tax benefit associated
with our deferred tax asset, which reduces our cash outlay for income tax expense; and (iii) changes in our working capital.

Working capital changes as they impact the statement of cash flows are composed of changes in accounts receivable, prepaid expenses and other assets, accounts
payable, accrued expenses, accrued liabilities and deferred revenue. Cash flow from operations associated with working capital increased $7.0 million in first
quarter 2011 when compared to the same period in 2010. This net increase is principally due to:
 

 
•  an increase of $8.4 million in cash associated with a decrease in accounts receivable, primarily resulting from an increase in the collection of

accounts receivable as a result the timing of billings in late 2010 as compared to the late 2009, and a slight improvement in collections; and
 

 •  a refund of income tax payments of $6.0 million; partially offset by
 

 
•  a decrease of $3.6 million in cash associated with a decrease in deferred revenue, primarily resulting from an increase in revenue recognized from

deferred maintenance and consulting services billings.

Investing cash flow

Net cash used in the first quarter of 2011 for investing activities was $16.9 million compared to $5.2 million in the first quarter of 2010. The increase is
principally due to the purchase of PIDI in first quarter 2011.
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Financing cash flow

Net cash used in financing activities for the first quarter of 2011 was $4.8 million compared to $1.5 million in the same period in 2010. The increase in cash used
in financing activities is primarily due to a decrease in proceeds from stock option exercises and related tax benefits.

Commitments and contingencies

As of March 31, 2011, we had future minimum lease commitments of $63.8 million. There were no material changes outside the ordinary course of business in
our contractual obligations since December 31, 2010.

We utilize third-party relationships in conjunction with our products. The contractual arrangements vary in length from one to three years. In certain cases, these
arrangements require a minimum annual purchase commitment. The total minimum purchase commitments under these arrangements at March 31, 2011 were
$3.5 million through 2013. We incurred expense under these arrangements of $1.1 million and $0.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2011 and 2010,
respectively.

In February 2011, our Board of Directors approved our annual dividend of $0.48 per share for 2011. Dividends at the annual rate would aggregate to $21.1
million assuming 44.0 million shares of common stock are outstanding. Our ability to continue to declare and pay dividends may be restricted by, among other
things, the terms of our credit facility, general economic conditions and our ability to generate operating cash flow.

Off-balance sheet arrangements

We do not believe we currently have any off-balance sheet arrangements, financings or other relationships with unconsolidated entities or other persons.

Foreign currency exchange rates

Approximately 14% of our total net revenue for the three-month period ended March 31, 2011 was derived from operations outside the United States. We do not
have significant operations in countries in which the economy is considered to be highly inflationary. Our consolidated financial statements are denominated in
U.S. dollars and, accordingly, changes in the exchange rate between foreign currencies and the U.S. dollar will affect the translation of our subsidiaries’ financial
results into U.S. dollars for purposes of reporting our consolidated financial results. The accumulated currency translation adjustment, recorded as a separate
component of stockholders’ equity, was $0.5 million at March 31, 2011 and at December 31, 2010.

The vast majority of our contracts are entered into by our U.S., Canadian or U.K. entities. The contracts entered into by the U.S. entity are almost always
denominated in U.S. dollars, contracts entered into by our Canadian subsidiary are generally denominated in Canadian dollars, and contracts entered into by our
U.K., Australian and Netherlands subsidiaries are generally denominated in pounds sterling, Australian dollars and Euros, respectively. Historically, as the U.S.
dollar weakened, foreign currency translation resulted in an increase in our revenues and expenses denominated in non-U.S. currencies. During first quarter 2011,
foreign translation resulted in an increase in our revenues and expenses denominated in non-U.S. currencies. Though we do not believe our exposure to currency
exchange rates have had a material impact on our results of operations or financial position, we intend to continue to monitor such exposure and take action as
appropriate.

Cautionary statement

We operate in a highly competitive environment that involves a number of risks, some of which are beyond our control. The following statement highlights some
of these risks.

Statements contained in this Form 10-Q, which are not historical facts, are or might constitute forward-looking statements under the safe harbor provisions of the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Although we
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believe the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are based on reasonable assumptions, we can give no assurance that our expectations will be
attained. Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks that could cause actual results to differ materially from expected results. Factors that
could cause actual results to differ materially from our expectations expressed in the report include: general economic risk; lengthy sales and implementation
cycles, particularly in larger organizations; uncertainty regarding increased business and renewals from existing customers; continued success in sales growth;
management of integration of recently acquired companies and other risks associated with acquisitions; the ability to attract and retain key personnel, including a
new CFO; risk associated with successful implementation of multiple integrated software products; risks related to our dividend policy and stock repurchase
program, including potential limitations on our ability to grow and the possibility that we might discontinue payment of dividends; risks relating to restrictions
imposed by the credit facility; risks associated with management of growth; technological changes that make our products and services less competitive; and the
other risk factors set forth from time to time in our SEC filings.
 
Item 3. Quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk

Due to the nature of our short-term investments and the lack of material debt, we have concluded at March 31, 2011 that we face no material market risk
exposure. Therefore, no quantitative tabular disclosures are required. For a discussion of our exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations, see the
“Foreign currency exchange rates” section of Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations in this report.
 
Item 4. Controls and procedures

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e)) are designed only to provide reasonable assurance that they will meet their
objectives. As of the end of the period covered by this report, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management,
including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e))
pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(b). Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures are effective to provide the reasonable assurance discussed above.

Changes in internal control over financial reporting

No change in internal control over financial reporting occurred during the most recent fiscal quarter with respect to our operations, which has materially affected,
or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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Item 2. Unregistered sales of equity securities and use of proceeds

The following table provides information about shares of common stock repurchased during the three months ended March 31, 2011 under our stock repurchase
program, as well as common stock withheld by us to satisfy tax obligations of employees due upon vesting of restricted stock.
 

Period   

Total
number

of shares
purchased

(1)   

Average
price

paid per
share   

Total number
of shares

purchased as
part of

publicly
announced

plans or
programs   

Approximate
dollar value

of shares
that may yet

be
purchased
under the

plan or
programs (in

thousands) 
Beginning balance, January 1, 2011                   $50,000  
January 1, 2011 through January 31, 2011    -       $      -       -       $50,000  
February 1, 2011 through February 28, 2011    3,781     $26.76     -       $50,000  
March 1, 2011 through March 31, 2011    -       $      -       -       $50,000  
Total    3,781     $26.76     -       $50,000  

 
(1) During the period, there were no shares repurchased. These shares represent those withheld by us to satisfy the tax obligations of employees due upon

vesting of restricted stock.
 
Item 6. Exhibits
 

Exhibits:   

2.3*
 

Stock Purchase Agreement by and among Public Interest Data, Inc. all of the Stockholders of Public Interest Data, Inc., Stephen W.
Zautke, as Stockholder Representative and Blackbaud, Inc. dated as of February 1, 2011.

31.1  Certification by the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2  Certification by the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1
 

Certification by the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

32.2
 

Certification by the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

101.INS**  XBRL Instance Document.

101.SCH**  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.CAL** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.

101.DEF**  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.

101.LAB** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

101.PRE**  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.
 
* The registrant has requested confidential treatment with respect to portions of this exhibit. Those portions have been omitted from the exhibit and filed

separately with the U.S. Securities Exchange Commission.
** Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, the XBRL related information in Exhibit 101 to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q shall not be deemed “filed” for

purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or otherwise subject to liability of that Section, and shall not be part of any registration
statement or other document filed under the Securities Act of the Exchange Act, except as shall be expressly set forth by specific reference in such filing.
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized.
 

   BLACKBAUD, INC.

Date: May 10, 2011   By: /s/ Marc E. Chardon
     Marc E. Chardon
     President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: May 10, 2011   By: /s/ Timothy V. Williams
     Timothy V. Williams
     Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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THIS STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of February 1, 2011 by and among Blackbaud, Inc., a
Delaware corporation (“Blackbaud”), Public Interest Data, Inc., a Virginia corporation (such corporation and any predecessor entity thereto, the “Company”),
all of the stockholders of the Company listed on Schedule I hereto (the “Stockholders”) and Stephen W. Zautke, as the representative of the Stockholders (the
“Stockholder Representative”). Certain capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein are defined in Article IX hereof.

RECITALS

A. The Stockholders own all of the issued and outstanding shares of the capital stock of the Company, consisting of 10,000 shares of Company Common
Stock (the “Shares”).

B. Blackbaud desires to purchase all of the Shares from the Stockholders, and the Stockholders desire to sell the Shares to Blackbaud, upon the terms and
conditions of this Agreement (the “Sale”).

C. Blackbaud shall deposit in escrow a portion of the consideration payable by it in connection with the Sale as security for the indemnification obligations
and any Working Capital Deficiency set forth in this Agreement.

D. The Company and the Stockholders, on the one hand, and Blackbaud, on the other hand, desire to make certain representations, warranties, covenants
and other agreements in connection with the Sale.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual agreements, covenants and other promises set forth herein, the mutual benefits to be gained by the
performance thereof, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged and accepted, the parties
hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

THE PURCHASE AND SALE OF SHARES; CLOSING

1.1 Purchase and Sale of Shares. At the Closing and subject to and upon the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Stockholders shall sell, transfer,
convey, assign and deliver to Blackbaud, and Blackbaud shall purchase, acquire and accept from the Stockholders, all of the Shares, free and clear of all Liens
(other than those imposed by applicable Law), with the Stockholders delivering to Blackbaud certificates evidencing the Shares, duly endorsed for transfer, and
with Blackbaud making the payments to the Stockholders, the Stockholder Representative and the Escrow Agent as described in Section 1.3 hereof.

1.2 Closing. The closing of the Sale (the “Closing”) is taking place on the date of execution of this Agreement by means of conference call and the
electronic exchange of signature pages by the parties hereto. The date upon which the Closing actually occurs shall be referred to herein as the “Closing Date”. To
the extent permitted by applicable Law and GAAP, the parties will treat the Closing as being effective as of 12:01 a.m. on the Closing Date.

1.3 Purchase Price and Closing Payments.

(a) Payment to Stockholders. Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, as consideration for the transfer of the Shares from the Stockholders to
Blackbaud (in addition to the
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payment of the Escrow Amount under Section 1.3(b) hereof and any Earnout Payment after the Closing under Section 1.4 hereof, and subject to adjustment after
the Closing in accordance with Section 1.5 hereof), at or prior to the Closing, Blackbaud shall pay to the Stockholders in cash, without interest, an amount equal
to (x) the Initial Purchase Price (i) less the sum of (A) Company Transaction Expenses as of the Closing, (B) any amount of Closing Company Indebtedness as of
the Closing and (C) any Working Capital Deficiency pursuant to Section 1.5(a) hereof, (ii) plus any Working Capital Surplus pursuant to Section 1.5(a) hereof (all
such adjustments are referred to herein as the “Purchase Price Adjustments” and the resulting purchase price referred to as the “Closing Purchase Price”), less
(y) the Escrow Amount and less (z) the Stockholder Representative Amount. Each Stockholder shall be paid their Pro Rata Share of the total amount paid by
Blackbaud under this Section 1.3(a); provided, however, that, not withstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the Stockholders hereby agree that, as
between the Stockholders, The Michael F. MacLeod Revocable Trust Dated 10/3/2000 and The Delbert Clark Revocable Trust Dated 3/8/2001 shall bear, on an
equal basis between them, the total amount of those Transaction Expenses identified on Schedule 1.3(a) hereof (which Schedule 1.3(a) includes the bonus
amounts to be paid to the Company Personnel listed thereon, and which amounts, if not paid by the Closing, Blackbaud agrees to cause the Company to pay after
the Closing), the Stockholders hereby agree that The Michael F. MacLeod Revocable Trust Dated 10/3/2000 and The Delbert Clark Revocable Trust Dated
3/8/2001 shall bear, on an equal basis between them, the total amount of such Transaction Expenses as between the Stockholders, and any Purchase Price
Adjustments with respect to such Transaction Expenses (including any Other Adjustment Amounts after the Closing under Section 1.5 hereof) shall be borne
solely by The Michael F. MacLeod Revocable Trust Dated 10/3/2000 and The Delbert Clark Revocable Trust Dated 3/8/2001 and not any of the other
Stockholders, and the amounts paid to each of the Stockholders under this Agreement or otherwise allocated to the Stockholders in connection with the Escrow
Account or the Stockholder Representative Fund shall be adjusted accordingly. Payments by Blackbaud to each Stockholder under this Section 1.3(a) shall be
made by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account designated by such Stockholder.

(b) Payment to Escrow Account. At or prior to the Closing, Blackbaud shall pay, by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account
designated by the Escrow Agent, an amount equal to (i) the Escrow Amount to Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (the “Escrow Agent”), as escrow agent
under the Escrow Agreement, dated as of the Closing Date, by and among Blackbaud, the Stockholder Representative and the Escrow Agent, substantially in the
form attached hereto as Exhibit A (the “Escrow Agreement”), for deposit in the escrow account (the “Escrow Account”) to be established, maintained and
managed by the Escrow Agent pursuant to and in accordance with the terms of the Escrow Agent and (ii) 50% of any escrow costs, fees and expenses required to
be paid in accordance with the terms of the Escrow Agreement.

(c) Stockholder Representative Fund. At or prior to the Closing, Blackbaud shall pay to the Stockholder Representative, by wire transfer of
immediately available funds to an account designed by the Stockholder Representative, an amount equal to $100,000 (the “Stockholder Representative Amount”)
to hold as an escrow fund (the “Stockholder Representative Fund”) in accordance with Section 7.7 hereof.

(d) Payments for Company Transaction Expenses and Company Closing Indebtedness. At or prior to the Closing, Blackbaud shall pay (i) the
Company Transaction Expenses identified on the Estimated Closing Statement to each Person that is identified therein as being owed Company Transaction
Expenses as of the Closing and (ii) the Closing Company Indebtedness identified on the Estimated Closing Statement to each Person identified therein as a
creditor with respect to Closing Company Indebtedness; provided, that, other than with respect to amounts owed to Zanbar Capital, LLC (“Zanbar”) or its
Affiliates, Blackbaud may elect not to pay at or prior to the Closing any creditor for Closing Company Indebtedness listed on the Estimated Closing Statement for
amounts that are not otherwise due and owing at or prior to the Closing and instead permit such Closing Company Indebtedness to continue to remain outstanding
after the Closing; provided, further, that such outstanding
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amounts for Closing Company Indebtedness shall be deemed for all purposes of this Agreement to have been paid at the Closing and the Stockholders shall not
have any liability or obligations under this Agreement after the Closing with respect to such outstanding Closing Company Indebtedness (other than for any Final
Purchase Price Adjustments with respect to such Closing Company Indebtedness under Section 1.5).

1.4 Earnout Payments and Procedures.

(a) Earnout. In addition to the Closing Purchase Price payable pursuant to Section 1.3 hereof, Blackbaud shall pay to the Stockholder Representative
for distribution to the Stockholders reasonably promptly thereafter, in cash or by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account designated by the
Stockholder Representative, Earnout Payments in the amounts forth on Schedule 1.4(a) hereto, all in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in this
Section 1.4. Except to the extent otherwise agreed by the Stockholders, any payments by the Stockholder Representative to the Stockholders under this
Section 1.4 will be allocated to each Stockholder based on its Pro Rata Share.

(b) Earnout Procedures.

(i) Within fifteen (15) Business Days following January 31, 2012, Blackbaud shall prepare and deliver, or cause to be delivered, to the
Stockholder Representative a statement (an “Earnout Payment Statement”), certified by the chief executive officer or chief financial officer of Blackbaud, stating
(1) Blackbaud’s good faith determination of the Database Management Services Revenue and Merge/Purge Revenue during period from February 1, 2011 to
January 31, 2012, (2) Blackbaud’s good faith determination as to which portions of Milestone 1 (as described in Schedule 1.4(a) hereto) have been achieved and
(3) specifying in reasonable detail Blackbaud’s calculation of the portion of the First Earnout Amount payable (“First Earnout Payment”), in each case subject to
the provisions of this Section 1.4. Within fifteen (15) Business Days following January 31, 2013, Blackbaud shall prepare and deliver, or cause to be delivered, to
the Stockholder Representative an Earnout Payment Statement, certified by the chief executive officer or chief financial officer of Blackbaud, stating
(1) Blackbaud’s good faith determination of the Database Management Services Revenue and Merge/Purge Revenue during period from February 1, 2012 to
January 31, 2013, (2) Blackbaud’s good faith determination as to which portions of Milestone 2 (as described in Schedule 1.4(a) hereto) have been achieved and
(3) specifying in reasonable detail Blackbaud’s calculation of the portion of the Second Earnout Amount payable (“Second Earnout Payment” and, collectively
with the First Earnout Payment, the “Earnout Payments”).

(ii) The Stockholder Representative shall deliver to Blackbaud, within thirty (30) days following its receipt of an Earnout Payment Statement
(the “Earnout Objection Deadline Date”), either a notice of acceptance of (an “Earnout Acceptance Notice”), or a notice of objection to (an “Earnout Objection
Notice”), the determination of the amount of the First Earnout Payment or Second Earnout Payment, as applicable, as set forth in such Earnout Payment
Statement. If the Stockholder Representative delivers to Blackbaud an Earnout Acceptance Notice, or if the Stockholder Representative does not deliver an
Earnout Objection Notice by the Earnout Objection Deadline Date, then, effective as of the earlier of (1) the date of delivery of such Earnout Acceptance Notice
or (2) the close of business on the Earnout Objection Deadline Date, the amount of the First Earnout Payment or Second Earnout Payment, as applicable, as set
forth in such Earnout Payment Statement shall be deemed to be final. If the Stockholder Representative delivers an Earnout Objection Notice by the Earnout
Objection Deadline Date, such objections shall be resolved as follows: (A) for a period of ten (10) Business Days after delivery of such Earnout Objection Notice,
the Stockholder Representative and Blackbaud shall use their commercially reasonable efforts and negotiate in good faith to resolve such objections, and any
definitive written agreement with respect to all or any portion of the objected matters within such time period shall be final with respect to such matters; (B) if the
Stockholder Representative and Blackbaud do not reach a
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definitive written agreement resolving all objections set forth on such Earnout Objection Notice within ten (10) Business Days after delivery of such Earnout
Objection Notice, then the Stockholder Representative and Blackbaud shall immediately act to engage the Selected Independent Firm as promptly as possible to
resolve any remaining objections set forth on the Earnout Objection Notice (the “Unresolved Earnout Objections”); and (C) within twenty (20) Business Days
after the date of its engagement hereunder, the Selected Independent Firm shall determine whether the objections raised by the Stockholder Representative are
valid and shall issue a written ruling which shall include (X) a description of any resolutions to objections agreed upon by Blackbaud and the Stockholder
Representative, (Y) a reasonably detailed description of the Selected Independent Firm’s resolution of the Unresolved Earnout Objections and its basis therefore,
and (Z) a statement of the final amount of the First Earnout Payment or Second Earnout Payment, as applicable. The Selected Independent Firm shall be limited
in its engagement and decision to resolving the Unresolved Earnout Objections in accordance with the provisions of this Section 1.4. Each of Blackbaud and
Stockholder Representative shall bear its own expenses incurred in connection with the resolution of any Earnout Payment Statement, and, if engaged, the fees
and expenses of the Selected Independent Firm for its engagement in connection with this Section 1.4 (the “Earnout Dispute Costs”) shall be borne by Blackbaud
and the Stockholder Representative in the same proportion that the dollar amount of disputed portion of the Earnout Payment which is not resolved in favor of
such party bears to the total dollar amount of disputed portion of the Earnout Payment resolved by the Selected Independent Firm (by way of example only, if the
total amount of Earnout Payment in dispute is $1,000,000 and the Selected Independent Firm determines that $250,000 of such Earnout Payment should be paid
to the Stockholder Representative (for distribution to the Stockholders), the Stockholder Representative shall bear 75% of the Earnout Dispute Costs and
Blackbaud shall bear 25% of the Earnout Dispute Costs). The resolution by the Selected Independent Firm of the Unresolved Earnout Objections shall be
conclusive and binding. The Stockholder Representative and Blackbaud agree that, except for any violation of Section 1.4(c) hereof, the procedure set forth in
this Section 1.4(b)(ii) for resolving disputes with respect to the amount of the Earnout Payment shall be the sole and exclusive method for resolving any such
disputes.

(iii) For purposes hereof, a “Final Earnout Determination” shall mean the occurrence of any of the following (A) the receipt by Blackbaud of
an Earnout Acceptance Notice from the Stockholder Representative, (B) the passing of the Earnout Objection Deadline Date where the Stockholder
Representative does not deliver an Earnout Objection Notice or (C) the final determination by the Selected Independent Firm of all Unresolved Earnout
Objections. Within fifteen (15) Business Days after a Final Earnout Determination, Blackbaud shall pay to the Stockholder Representative (for distribution to the
Stockholders) the applicable final Earnout Payment as agreed to by the Stockholder Representative and Blackbaud or determined by the Selected Independent
Firm.

(iv) Subject to Section 5.1 hereof, Blackbaud agrees to provide promptly all information as reasonably requested by the Stockholder
Representative or, if the Selected Independent Firm is engaged, the Selected Independent Firm, and to make available for inspection and review the by the
Stockholder Representative or, if applicable, the Selected Independent Firm, during regular business hours upon reasonable prior notice, the books and records of
Blackbaud relating to the achievement of the Milestones, in each case as reasonably relevant to the determination of whether the Milestones have been completed
and the calculation of the Earnout Payments (provided, that the Selected Independent Firm must agree to keep such information confidential and not use or
disclose such information except in accordance with the performance of its engagement as contemplated by this Section 1.4).

(c) Earnout Measurements and Covenants.

(i) From the Closing until after a Final Earnout Determination is made with respect to the Second Earnout Payment in accordance with the
provisions of Section 1.4(b) (the “Earnout Process Period”), Blackbaud shall maintain financial accounts, books and records reasonably necessary to support and
document the determination of whether the milestones have been reached and the calculation of each Earnout Payment.
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(ii) All Database Management Services Revenue and Merge/Purge Revenue earned from the Closing until January 31, 2013 (the “Earnout
Measurement Period”) shall be recorded by Blackbaud in accordance with applicable Law and GAAP, consistent with the manner used by the Company to
prepare its income statement for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010 (including the same accounting methods, practices, principles, policies and procedures
and with consistent classifications, judgments and valuation and estimation methodologies (including with respect to revenue recognition and allowances for
doubtful accounts)). In the event that Blackbaud is required to record any Database Management Services Revenue and Merge/Purge Revenue during the Earnout
Measurement Period in a manner inconsistent with the first sentence of this Section 1.4(c)(ii), Blackbaud shall keep during the Earnout Process Period a separate
set of financial accounts, books and records for determining Database Management Services Revenue and Merge/Purge Revenue during the Earnout
Measurement Period which accounts, books and records shall comply with the first sentence of this Section 1.4(c)(ii).

(iii) During the Earnout Measurement Period, Blackbaud shall (A) act in good faith with respect to the operation of its and its Affiliates’
businesses (including the Company) in respect of Database Management Services Revenue and Merge/Purge Revenue and (B) use its reasonable best efforts to
continue its relationships with the Named Customers with respect to Database Management Services and Merge/Purge Services.

(iv) If during the Earnout Measurement Period, Blackbaud sells or otherwise disposes of the Company (whether by stock sale, merger or
otherwise) or all or a material portion of the Company’s business or assets, in either case to a third party, then upon the consummation of such sale or disposition
to a third party, all milestones for the Earnout Payments under this Section 1.4 that have not been subject to a Final Earnout Determination prior to the
consummation of such sale or disposition shall be deemed to have been met, and Blackbaud shall pay to the Stockholders both the First Earnout Amount and the
Second Earnout Amount (if not previously subject to a Final Earnout Determination prior to the consummation of such sale or disposition) within fifteen
(15) Business Days after the consummation of such sale or disposition.

(v) During the Earnout Process Period, upon the reasonable request of the Stockholder Representative (but in any event, not more than once
per three (3) month period), Blackbaud shall promptly deliver to the Stockholder Representative a statement setting forth Blackbaud’s good faith determination as
of the last available fiscal quarter prior to such request of Blackbaud’s and the Company’s Database Management Services Revenue and Merge/Purge Revenue
performance during the portion of the Earnout Measurement Period covered by such statement and the total year to date amount through the end of such period
(for the avoidance of doubt, any information disclosed pursuant to this Section 1.4(c)(v) shall be subject to the requirements of Section 5.1 hereof).

(vi) The Stockholders covenant and agree that they will not distribute any of the payments received from Blackbaud as result of achieving
any portion of Milestone 1 or Milestone 2 to employees of Blackbaud, its Affiliates or its Subsidiaries.

1.5 Estimated Closing Statement; Closing Adjustments to Closing Purchase Price.

(a) Prior to the Closing, the Company shall prepare and deliver to Blackbaud a statement, certified by the Company’s chief executive officer in a
form reasonably acceptable to Blackbaud (the “Estimated Closing Statement”) containing (i) an estimated balance sheet, prepared in accordance with applicable
Law and GAAP, consistent with the manner used by the Company to prepare
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its balance sheet as of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010 (including the same accounting methods, practices, principles, policies and procedures and with
consistent classifications, judgments and valuation and estimation methodologies), projecting the Company’s financial condition as of 11:59 p.m. on the day
immediately prior to the Closing Date prior to giving effect to the Transactions (the “Estimated Closing Balance Sheet”), including Total Current Assets, Total
Current Liabilities, Working Capital and the related Working Capital Surplus or Working Capital Deficiency from the amounts set forth in such Estimated Closing
Balance Sheet, (ii) a detailed spreadsheet containing (A) an itemized list of all Company Transaction Expenses as of the Closing, including the name, dollar
amount and all necessary wire transfer information for each Person to whom such Company Transaction Expenses are expected to be owed as of the Closing and
(B) an itemized list of all estimated Closing Company Indebtedness, including the name, dollar amount and all necessary wire transfer information for each
Person to whom such estimated Closing Company Indebtedness is expected to be owed as of the Closing, (iii) any estimated Purchase Price Adjustments as a
result of the information contained in such Estimated Closing Balance Sheet or such detailed spreadsheet and (iv) the amount of cash to be paid to each
Stockholder at the Closing in accordance with Section 1.3(a) hereof, including all necessary wire transfer information for each Stockholder. To the extent that
Working Capital as shown on the Estimated Closing Balance Sheet is less than the Working Capital Target (a “Working Capital Deficiency”), the Initial Purchase
Price shall be decreased by the amount of the Working Capital Deficiency. To the extent that Working Capital as shown on the Estimated Closing Balance Sheet is
more than the Working Capital Target (a “Working Capital Surplus”), the Initial Purchase Price shall be increased by the amount of the Working Capital Surplus.
Attached as Schedule 1.5(a) hereto for illustrative purposes only is a sample calculation of the Working Capital as of December 31, 2010 using the reviewed
balance sheet of the Company as of December 31, 2010 (subject to the adjustments noted in such schedule), including the Total Current Assets and Total Current
Liabilities and the components thereof, as well as the resulting Purchase Price Adjustment for Working Capital. The Closing Purchase Price is subject to further
adjustment in accordance with the provisions of this Section 1.5.

(b) Within ninety (90) days following the Closing Date, Blackbaud shall prepare (or cause to be prepared) and deliver to the Stockholder
Representative a statement, certified by Blackbaud’s chief executive officer or chief financial officer in a form reasonably acceptable to the Stockholder
Representative (the “Closing Statement”), containing Blackbaud’s good faith determination of (i) the actual balance sheet of the Company as of 11:59 p.m. on the
day immediately prior to the Closing Date prior to giving effect to the Transactions (the “Closing Balance Sheet”), including Total Current Assets, Total Current
Liabilities, Working Capital and the related Working Capital Surplus or Working Capital Deficiency from the amounts set forth in the Estimated Closing Balance
Sheet, (ii) the actual Company Transaction Expenses and Closing Company Indebtedness as of the Closing in a detailed spreadsheet that includes an itemized list
of each such Company Transaction Expense and Closing Company Indebtedness and each person to whom such Company Transaction Expense or Closing
Company Indebtedness was owed as of the Closing (for the avoidance of doubt, in the event that all or any portion of any Company Transaction Expense,
including any bonus or severance obligation, that is listed on the Estimated Closing Statement has not been paid by or on behalf of the Company prior to the
delivery of the Closing Statement and such Company Transaction Expense is not a non-contingent contractual obligation of the Company at such time, the
amount of such Company Transaction Expense that was not paid shall be deemed to not have been an actual Company Transaction Expense as of the Closing)
and (iii) any adjustments to the Purchase Price Adjustments paid at the Closing as a result of the information contained in such Closing Balance Sheet or such
spreadsheet. The Closing Statement and the Closing Balance Sheet shall be prepared in accordance with applicable Law and GAAP, consistent with the manner
used by the Company to prepare its balance sheet as of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010, including the same accounting methods, practices, principles,
policies and procedures and with consistent classifications, judgments and valuation and estimation methodologies.
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(c) If the Stockholder Representative disagrees with any aspect of the Closing Statement, the Stockholder Representative may, within thirty (30) days
after receipt of the Closing Statement (the “Examination Period”) deliver to Blackbaud a notice of dispute setting forth in reasonable detail the amounts which the
Stockholder Representative believes to be correct in the Closing Statement, the actual line item or items disputed, the amounts disputed and the basis for such
dispute (each, a “Payment Dispute Notice”). At any time prior to the expiration of the Examination Period, the Stockholder Representative may in its sole
discretion amend and/or withdraw any previously submitted Payment Dispute Notice. In connection with the Stockholder Representative’s review of the Closing
Statement and the Purchase Price Adjustments contained therein, Blackbaud will, subject to Section 5.1 hereof, (i) provide the Stockholder Representative and its
Representatives with access during normal business hours, upon reasonable prior notice, to the Company and it Representatives and the books, records, accounts
and files of the Company pertaining to the calculation of the Closing Statement and the Purchase Price Adjustments contained therein and (ii) reasonably
cooperate with the Stockholder Representative and its Representatives in such review. Upon the expiration of the Examination Period, if no Payment Dispute
Notice has been provided by the Stockholder Representative during the Examination Period, or if all provided Payment Dispute Notice(s) have been withdrawn
by the Stockholder Representative, then the Closing Statement provided pursuant to Section 1.5(b) above shall be deemed accepted by the Stockholder
Representative and shall become a “Final Closing Statement” and the Purchase Price Adjustments contained therein shall be deemed “Final Purchase Price
Adjustments”. However, if upon the expiration of the Examination Period, one or more Payment Dispute Notice(s) has or have been delivered and not withdrawn,
then, until ten (10) Business Days following the end of the Examination Period (the “Negotiation Period”), Blackbaud and the Stockholder Representative shall
negotiate in good faith to attempt to agree on the Closing Statement. If the parties reach a definitive written agreement on any or all of such amounts within the
Negotiation Period, such agreement shall be final (and if there is definitive written agreement on all of such amounts, the Closing Statement, as adjusted pursuant
to such agreement, shall become a Final Closing Statement and the Purchase Price Adjustments contained therein shall be deemed Final Purchase Price
Adjustments).

(d) To the extent a Payment Dispute Notice has been delivered and not withdrawn and no agreement pursuant to Section 1.5(c) above is reached
during the Negotiation Period, then either Stockholder or Blackbaud may require that the parties engage the McLean, Virginia office of Argy, Wiltse & Robinson,
P.C. (or if such firm declines such engagement or is otherwise no longer independent of the parties at such time, the Mid-Atlantic (i.e., Northern Virginia,
Washington, D.C. or Maryland) office of such other nationally recognized independent accounting firm as may be mutually selected by Blackbaud and the
Stockholder Representative, and if none is mutually selected, such firm with similar credentials as selected by the Washington D.C. Regional Office of the
American Arbitration Association) (the “Selected Independent Firm”) to examine the disputed items and deliver its results which shall include any adjustments
required to the Closing Statement (which as adjusted by the Selected Independent Firm, shall become a Final Closing Statement), including the Purchase Price
Adjustments contained therein (which as adjusted by the Selected Independent Firm, shall be deemed Final Purchase Price Adjustments), to Blackbaud and the
Stockholders no later than thirty (30) Business Days following acceptance of such engagement. Stockholder Representative and Blackbaud agree to use their
commercially reasonably efforts to effect the selection and appointment of the Selected Independent Firm pursuant to this Section 1.5(d) as promptly as
reasonably practicable. The Selected Independent Firm shall be limited in its engagement and decision to applying such agreed upon procedures to the particular
line items and range of amounts set forth in the Payment Dispute Notice(s) and not settled by written agreement during the Negotiation Period, and shall not
render a decision on any other portion of the Closing Statement or any amount outside such disputed range of amounts for any such line items. In connection with
the Selected Independent Firm’s review of the Closing Statement and the Purchase Price Adjustments contained therein, Blackbaud will (i) provide the Selected
Independent Firm and its Representatives with access during normal business hours, upon reasonable prior notice, to the Company
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and it Representatives and the books, records, accounts and files of the Company pertaining to the calculation of the Closing Statement and the Purchase Price
Adjustments contained therein and (ii) reasonably cooperate with the Selected Accounting Firm and its Representatives in such review (provided, that the
Selected Independent Firm must agree to keep such information confidential and not use or disclose such information except in accordance with the performance
of its engagement as contemplated by this Section 1.5). The decision of the Selected Independent Firm shall be in writing and include reasonable detail about the
basis for such decision. The decision of the Selected Independent Firm shall be final and binding upon the parties. Each of Blackbaud and Stockholder
Representative shall bear its own expenses incurred in connection with the resolution of the Closing Statement, and, if engaged, the fees and expenses of the
Selected Independent Firm for its engagement in connection with this Section 1.5 (the “Audit Costs”) shall be borne by Blackbaud and the Stockholder
Representative in the same proportion that the dollar amount of disputed items which are not resolved in favor of such party bears to the total dollar amount of
disputed items resolved by the Selected Independent Firm (by way of example only, if the total amount of disputed items by the Stockholder Representative is
$100,000 and the Stockholder Representative is awarded $70,000 by the Selected Independent Firm, the Stockholder Representative shall bear 30% of the Audit
Costs and Blackbaud shall bear 70% of the Audit Costs).

(e) For purposes hereof, the “Working Capital Adjustment Amount” shall mean an amount equal to (i) the Working Capital as shown in the Final
Closing Statement, less (ii) the Working Capital as shown in the Estimated Closing Statement. If the absolute value of the Working Capital Adjustment Amount is
$50,000 or less, then no adjustment shall be made to the Closing Purchase Price after the Closing Date under this Section 1.5 in connection with Working Capital.
If the Working Capital Adjustment Amount is a positive number greater than $50,000, then Blackbaud shall pay to the Stockholders an amount in cash equal to
the Working Capital Adjustment Amount within fifteen (15) Business Days after the date on which the Closing Statement has become a Final Closing Statement,
with such payment amount allocated to each Stockholder based on its Pro Rata Share and made by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account
designated by each such Stockholder. If the Working Capital Adjustment Amount is a negative number with an absolute value greater than $50,000, then
Blackbaud and the Stockholder Representative shall prepare and deliver joint written instructions to the Escrow Agent instructing the Escrow Agent to distribute
from the Escrow Account to Blackbaud an amount in cash equal to the Working Capital Adjustment Amount within five (5) Business Days of the Escrow Agent’s
receipt of the joint written instructions.

(f) For purposes hereof, the “Other Adjustment Amount” shall mean an amount equal to (i) the aggregate amount of the Company Transaction
Expenses and Closing Company Indebtedness as shown in the Final Closing Statement, less (ii) the aggregate amount of the Company Transaction Expenses and
Closing Company Indebtedness as shown in the Estimated Closing Statement. If the Other Adjustment Amount is a negative number, then Blackbaud shall pay to
the Stockholders an amount in cash equal to the Other Adjustment Amount within fifteen (15) Business Days after the date on which the Closing Statement has
become a Final Closing Statement, with such payment amount allocated to each Stockholder based on its Pro Rata Share and made by wire transfer of
immediately available funds to an account designated by each such Stockholder. If the Other Adjustment Amount is a positive number, then Blackbaud and the
Stockholder Representative shall prepare and deliver joint written instructions to the Escrow Agent instructing the Escrow Agent to distribute from the Escrow
Account to Blackbaud an amount in cash equal to the Other Adjustment Amount within five (5) Business Days of the Escrow Agent’s receipt of the joint written
instructions.

1.6 Escrow Payments for Earnout and Purchase Price Adjustment. Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement, including Sections 1.4 and 1.5 above,
to the contrary, all reductions from the Escrow Amount permitted pursuant to Sections 1.4 and 1.5 shall be made on a dollar-for-dollar basis regardless of amount
and without regard to the Individual Threshold Amount or Aggregate Threshold Amount.
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ARTICLE II

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company hereby represents and warrants to Blackbaud, subject only to such exceptions as are specifically disclosed in the schedule of disclosures and
exceptions (referencing the appropriate section and paragraph numbers) supplied to Blackbaud (the “Schedule of Exceptions”) dated as of the date hereof as to
the matters specified in this Article II and except as expressly contemplated by the terms of this Agreement or the Related Agreements:

2.1 Organization of the Company. The Company is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the
Commonwealth of Virginia. The Company has the corporate power to own its properties and to carry on its business as currently conducted. Except as set forth in
Section 2.1(i) of the Schedule of Exceptions, the Company is duly qualified or licensed to do business and in good standing as a foreign corporation in each
jurisdiction in which it conducts business, except for those jurisdictions in which the failure to be so qualified or licensed and in good standing would not be
reasonably expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect. Attached to Section 2.1(ii) of the Schedule of Exceptions is a
true and correct copy of the Company’s articles of incorporation and bylaws (collectively, the “Company Charter Documents”), each as amended and in full force
and effect on the date hereof. Section 2.1(iii) of the Schedule of Exceptions lists the directors and officers of the Company as of the date hereof prior to giving
effect to the Transactions. The operations now being conducted by the Company are not now and have not during the past five (5) years been conducted by the
Company under any other name. The Company is not in violation of any of the provisions of the Company Charter Documents.

2.2 Company Capital Structure.

(a) The authorized capital stock of the Company consists of 10,000 shares of Company Common Stock, 10,000 of which are issued and outstanding
as of the date of this Agreement. The Shares constitute all of the issued and outstanding equity interests in the Company.

(b) The Shares are duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable and not subject to preemptive rights created by statute, the
Company Charter Documents, or any agreement to which the Company is a party or by which it is bound, and have been issued in compliance with applicable
federal, state and foreign securities Laws in all material respects. The Company has not repurchased any shares of Company Capital Stock except in compliance
with all applicable federal, state, foreign, or local Laws, including federal, state and foreign securities Laws and any agreements applicable thereto. As of the
Closing, there are no declared or accrued but unpaid dividends with respect to any shares of Company Capital Stock. Except for the Shares, the Company has no
other capital stock authorized, issued or outstanding.

(c) The Company has never adopted or maintained any plan providing for equity compensation of any Person. Except as set forth in Section 2.2(c) of
the Schedule of Exceptions, the Company has not granted any options to purchase Company Capital Stock or any other type of stock award. There are no
outstanding options, warrants, calls, rights, commitments or agreements of any character, written or oral, to which the Company is a party or by which it is bound,
obligating the Company to issue, deliver, sell, repurchase or redeem, or cause to be issued, delivered, sold, repurchased or redeemed, any shares of the Company
Capital Stock or obligating the Company to grant, extend, accelerate the vesting of, change the price of, otherwise amend or enter into any such option, warrant,
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call, right, commitment or agreement. Except as set forth in Section 2.2(c) of the Schedule of Exceptions, there are no outstanding or authorized stock
appreciation, stock unit, phantom stock, profit participation or other similar rights, written or oral, with respect to the Company. The Company is not a party to,
and as of the date hereof, to the Knowledge of the Company, there are no other voting trusts, proxies, or other agreements or understandings with respect to the
voting stock of the Company other than the Stockholders’ Agreement.

2.3 Subsidiaries. The Company does not have, and has never had, any Subsidiaries and does not otherwise own any shares of capital stock or any equity
interest in, or control, directly or indirectly, any other corporation, partnership, association, joint venture or other business entity or have any ongoing obligation
to purchase any shares of capital stock with respect thereto.

2.4 Authority. The Company has all requisite corporate or other power and authority to enter into this Agreement and the other agreements referenced
herein or required hereby (the “Related Agreements”) to which it is a party, and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby (the
“Transactions”). The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Related Agreements to which it is a party and the consummation of the Transactions have
been duly authorized by all necessary corporate or other action on the part of the Company, and no further action is required on the part of the Company to
authorize this Agreement, the Related Agreements, and the Transactions. This Agreement and the Related Agreements to which the Company is a party will be
duly executed and delivered by the Company and, assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery by the other parties hereto, will constitute the valid and
binding obligation of the Company, enforceable against the Company in accordance with its respective terms, except as such enforceability may be subject to the
laws of general application relating to bankruptcy, insolvency and the relief of debtors and rules of law governing specific performance, injunctive relief or other
equitable remedies.

2.5 No Conflict. Except as set forth in Section 2.5 of the Schedule of Exceptions, the execution and delivery by the Company of this Agreement and the
Related Agreements, and the consummation of the Transactions, will not conflict with or result in any violation of or default under (with or without notice or
lapse of time, or both) or give rise to a right of termination, cancellation, modification or acceleration of any obligation, payment of any benefit, or loss of any
benefit (any such event, a “Conflict”) under (i) any provision of the Company Charter Documents, (ii) any mortgage, indenture, lease, contract (whether written
or oral), covenant or other agreement, instrument or commitment, permit, concession, franchise or license (each a “Contract” and collectively the “Contracts”) to
which the Company or any of its properties or assets (whether tangible or intangible) is a party or, as the case may be, subject, or (iii) any judgment, order, decree,
statute, law, ordinance, rule or regulation applicable to the Company or any of its properties (whether tangible or intangible) or assets, except, with respect to
clauses (ii) or (iii), where such Conflict would not be reasonably expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect.

2.6 Governmental Consents. No consent, waiver, approval, order or authorization of, or registration, declaration or filing with any court, administrative
agency or commission or other federal, state, county, local or foreign governmental authority, instrumentality, agency or commission (each, a “Governmental
Entity”), is required by or with respect to the Company or the Stockholders in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement or the consummation
of the Transactions.

2.7 Company Financial Statements.

(a) Section 2.7 of the Schedule of Exceptions sets forth the Company’s reviewed balance sheet as of December 31, 2010, and the related reviewed
statements of income, cash flows and stockholder equity for the twelve month period then ended (the foregoing financial statement of the
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Company and any notes thereto are hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Financial Statements”). The Financial Statements are correct in all material respects
and have been prepared in accordance with GAAP, consistently applied in all material respects, throughout the periods indicated (in accordance with the
requirements for reviewed financial statements). The Financial Statements present fairly in all material respects the Company’s financial condition and operating
results as of the date and during the period indicated therein, subject to normal year-end adjustments, which are not material in amount. A certified public
accounting firm has reviewed and issued a report on the Financial Statements, which is included as part of the Financial Statements.

(b) The Company maintains a standard system of accounting established and administered in accordance with GAAP. The Company maintains a
system of internal accounting controls and procedures that are sufficient to provide reasonable assurance that (i) transactions are executed with management’s
authorization, (ii) transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP and to maintain accountability
for assets, (iii) access to assets is permitted only in accordance with management’s authorization and (iv) the recorded accountability for assets is compared with
existing assets at reasonable intervals and appropriate action is taken with respect to any differences. Neither the Company (including any Company Personnel)
nor its independent accountants has identified or been made aware of (i) any significant deficiency or material weakness in the system of internal accounting
controls utilized by the Company, (ii) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves the management of the Company or any Company Personnel who have a
role in the preparation of financial statements or the internal accounting controls utilized by the Company or (iii) any claim or allegation regarding any of the
foregoing.

2.8 No Undisclosed Liabilities. To the Knowledge of the Company, the Company does not have any material obligation, expense, claim, deficiency,
guaranty or endorsement of any type, whether accrued, absolute, contingent, matured, unmatured or otherwise, whether or not required to be reflected in financial
statements in accordance with GAAP, except liabilities which individually or in the aggregate (i) have been reflected in the Financial Statements, (ii) have arisen
since in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practices since the date of the Financial Statements or pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or the
Related Agreements or (iii) are executory obligations arising in the ordinary course of business (and not as a result of the breach of any Contract identified in
Sections 2.13 or 2.14 hereof).

2.9 No Changes. Since December 31, 2010, except as set forth in Section 2.9 of the Schedule of Exceptions, there has or have not been, occurred or arisen
any:

(a) transaction by the Company, which is material to the Company, except in the ordinary course of business and consistent with past practices;

(b) amendments or changes to the Company Charter Documents;

(c) capital expenditure or commitment by the Company exceeding $10,000 individually or $25,000 in the aggregate;

(d) payment, discharge or satisfaction, in any amount in excess of $10,000 in any one case, or $25,000 in the aggregate, of any claim, liability or
obligation (absolute, accrued, asserted, unasserted, contingent or otherwise), other than payment, discharge or satisfaction of claims, liabilities and obligations in
the ordinary course of business or of liabilities reflected or reserved against in the Financial Statements;
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(e) pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened action, suit or other legal proceeding by or before any Governmental Entity with
respect to a labor dispute or claim of wrongful discharge or other unlawful labor practice or action with respect to the Company;

(f) change in accounting methods or practices (including any change in depreciation or amortization policies or rates) by the Company other than as
required by GAAP;

(g) change in any material election in respect of Taxes, adoption or change in any material accounting method in respect of Taxes, material
agreement or settlement of any claim or assessment in respect of Taxes, or extension or waiver of the limitation period applicable to any claim or assessment in
respect of Taxes;

(h) revaluation by the Company of any of its assets (whether tangible or intangible);

(i) declaration, setting aside or payment of a dividend or other distribution (whether in cash, stock or property) in respect of any Company Capital
Stock, or any split, combination or reclassification in respect of any shares of Company Capital Stock, or any issuance or authorization of any issuance of any
other securities in respect of, in lieu of or in substitution for shares of Company Capital Stock, or any direct or indirect repurchase, redemption or other
acquisition by the Company of any shares of Company Capital Stock (or options, warrants or other rights convertible into, exercisable or exchangeable therefor);

(j) destruction of, damage to, or loss of any assets (whether tangible or intangible) of the Company with a book value in excess of $10,000 in any one
case or $25,000 in the aggregate, whether or not covered by insurance;

(k) except in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice or pursuant to the written plans and policies of the Company in effect as of
December 31, 2010 and listed on Section 2.23(a)(i) of the Schedule of Exceptions, a material increase in the base salary or other compensation payable or to
become payable by the Company to any Company Personnel, or the declaration, payment, commitment or obligation of any kind for the payment by the
Company of a severance payment, termination payment, bonus or other additional salary or compensation to any such Person;

(l) entry into any material Contract to which the Company is a party or by which it or any of its assets (whether tangible or intangible) are bound or
any termination, extension or material amendment or modification of the terms of any material Contract to which the Company is a party or by which it or any of
its assets are bound;

(m) sale, lease, license or other disposition of any of the material assets (whether tangible or intangible) or material properties of the Company taken
as a whole, including the sale of any accounts receivable of the Company, or any creation of any security interest in any such material assets or material
properties;

(n) (i) loan made by the Company to any Person that is outstanding as of the date hereof (other than accounts receivables, deposits and prepaid
expenses in the ordinary course of business, including advances to Company Personnel for travel and business expenses in the ordinary course of business),
(ii) incurrence by the Company of any indebtedness, (iii) guarantee by the Company of any indebtedness, (iv) issuance or sale of any debt securities of the
Company or (v) guarantee of any debt securities of others;
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(o) granting of any waiver or release by the Company of any right or claim material to the Company, including any write-off or other compromise of
any material account receivable of the Company;

(p) commencement, settlement, written notice or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threat, of any lawsuit or legal proceeding or other investigation
by a Governmental Entity against the Company;

(q) written notice of any claim or potential claim of ownership by any Person other than the Company of any Company Intellectual Property owned,
developed or created by the Company, or of any claim or potential claim of infringement by the Company of any other Person’s Intellectual Property;

(r) issuance or sale, or contract to issue or sell, by the Company of any shares of Company Capital Stock or securities convertible into, or exercisable
or exchangeable for, shares of Company Capital Stock or any stock, or any securities, warrants, options or rights to purchase any of the foregoing;

(s) (i) sale or license by the Company of any Company Intellectual Property or execution of any agreement with respect to any Company Intellectual
Property (other than customer contracts in the ordinary course of business), (ii) purchase or license by the Company of any Intellectual Property or execution of
any agreement with respect to the Intellectual Property of any other Person, except as contemplated by this Agreement, (iii) agreement by the Company with
respect to the development of any Intellectual Property with a third party (other than customer contracts in the ordinary course of business), or (iv) material
change in pricing or royalties set or charged by the Company to its customers or licensees or in pricing or royalties set or charged by Persons who have licensed
Intellectual Property to the Company, except in the case of clause (i) or (ii), with respect to non-exclusive end user licenses of object code in the ordinary course
of business;

(t) agreement or material modification to any agreement pursuant to which any other party was granted marketing, distribution, development or
similar rights of any type or scope with respect to any products or technology of the Company;

(u) any other event or condition of any character that has had or is reasonably likely to have a Company Material Adverse Effect; or

(v) agreement by the Company, or any officer, employee or director on behalf of the Company, to do any of the things described in the preceding
clauses (a) through (u) of this Section 2.9.

2.10 Tax Matters.

(a) Tax Returns and Audits.

(i) The Company has prepared and timely filed all required federal, state, local and foreign returns, estimates, information statements and
reports, including for sales and use taxes (each a “Tax Return”), relating to any and all Taxes concerning or attributable to the Company or its operations, and
such Tax Returns are true and correct and have been completed in accordance with applicable law.

(ii) The Company has paid all Taxes it is required to pay and has withheld with respect to Company Personnel and other Persons and timely
paid over to the appropriate Tax
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authority all federal, state and foreign income taxes and social security charges and similar fees, Federal Insurance Contribution Act, Federal Unemployment Tax
Act and other Taxes required to be withheld and paid over.

(iii) The Company is not currently delinquent in the payment of any Tax, nor is there any Tax deficiency outstanding, assessed or proposed
against the Company, nor has the Company executed any waiver of any statute of limitations on or extending the period for the assessment or collection of any
Tax.

(iv) The Company has disclosed on its federal income tax returns all positions that could give rise to the imposition on it of a substantial
understatement penalty under Section 6662 of the Code.

(v) No audit or other examination of any Tax Return of the Company is presently in progress, nor has the Company been notified by any Tax
authority (orally or in writing, formally or informally) of any intent or plan to request such an audit or other examination.

(vi) The Company does not have any liabilities for unpaid federal, state, local or foreign Taxes which have not been accrued or reserved on
the Closing Balance Sheet, whether asserted or unasserted, contingent or otherwise, and the Company has not incurred any liability for Taxes since the date of the
Financial Statements other than in the ordinary course of business.

(vii) The Company has delivered to Blackbaud or its legal counsel copies of all foreign, federal, state and local income and all state and local
sales and use and/or value added Tax Returns for the Company filed for all periods since January 1, 2008, together with all related workpapers and analysis
created by or on behalf of the Company.

(viii) There are (and, immediately following the Closing Date, there will be) no liens, pledges, charges, claims, restrictions on transfer,
mortgages, security interests or other encumbrances of any sort (collectively, “Liens”) on the assets of the Company relating to or attributable to Taxes other than
customary Liens for Taxes not yet due and payable.

(ix) The Company (A) has never been a member of an affiliated group (within the meaning of Section 1504(a) of the Code or similar
provisions of state, local or foreign law) filing a consolidated federal or state income Tax Return, (B) has never been a party to any tax sharing, indemnification or
allocation agreement, (C) has no Liability for the Taxes of any Person (other than Company) under Treasury Regulations Section 1.1502-6 (or any similar
provision of state, local or foreign Law), as a transferee or successor, by contract or agreement, or otherwise, or (D) ever been a party to any joint venture,
partnership or other arrangement that could be treated as a partnership for Tax purposes.

(x) The Company has not been, at any time, a “United States Real Property Holding Corporation” within the meaning of Section 897(c)(2) of
the Code.

(xi) No adjustment relating to any Tax Return filed by the Company currently is proposed in writing by any Tax authority to the Company or
any representative thereof.

(xii) There are no Tax rulings, requests for rulings, or “closing agreements” (as described in Section 7121 of the Code or any corresponding
provision of state, local or foreign Tax Law) relating to the Company which could affect the Company’s liability for Taxes for any period on or after the Closing
Date. The Company has not changed any method of accounting that will require it to make any adjustment under Section 481 of the Code (or any corresponding
provision of state, local or foreign Tax Law) for any period ending on or after the Closing Date.
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(xiii) The Company has not participated in an international boycott within the meaning of Section 999 of the Code.

(xiv) With respect to any property transferred in connection with the performance of services for the Company, the provisions of Section 83
of the Code have been complied with by the Company in all material respects (including with respect to the filing of any applicable statements or elections).

(xv) The Company has not constituted either a “distributing corporation” or a “controlled corporation” in a distribution of stock qualifying
for tax-free treatment under Section 355 of the Code.

(xvi) The Company has not engaged in a transaction that is the same as or substantially similar to one of the types of transactions that the
Internal Revenue Service has determined to be a tax avoidance transaction and identified by notice, regulation, or other form of published guidance as a listed
transaction, as set forth in Treasury Regulation Section 1.6011-4(b)(2).

(xvii) Except as set forth in Section 2.10(a)(xvii) of the Schedule of Exceptions, the Company is and has at all times been resident for Tax
purposes in its place of incorporation or formation and is not and has not at any time been treated as a resident in any other jurisdiction for any Tax purpose
(including any double taxation arrangement). The Company is not subject to and no Tax authority has made a claim that the Company is subject to Tax in any
jurisdiction other than its place of incorporation or formation.

(xviii) At all times from its inception through December 31, 2007, the Company was validly treated as a “C Corporation” for all Tax
purposes. At all times since January 1, 2008, the Company has validly been treated as an “S Corporation” within the meaning of Section 1361(a) of the Code and
comparable provisions of any state or local Tax Law under which the Company files Tax Returns.

(xix) Except as set forth in Section 2.10(a)(xix) of the Schedule of Exceptions, the Company does not have any potential liability for any Tax
under Section 1374 of the Code.

(b) Executive Compensation Tax. There is no contract, agreement, plan or arrangement to which the Company is a party, including the provisions of
this Agreement which, individually or collectively, (i) could give rise to the payment of any amount that would not be deductible as a result of the application of
Sections 162(m) or 404 of the Code, (ii) is subject to Section 409A of the Code, or (iii) could require the Company, Blackbaud or any Affiliate of Blackbaud to
gross up a payment to any Company Personnel for Tax related payments or cause a penalty or additional tax under Section 409A of the Code.

2.11 Restrictions on Business Activities. There is no agreement (non-competition or otherwise), commitment, judgment, injunction, order or decree to
which the Company is a party or otherwise binding upon the Company, which has or would reasonably be expected to have the effect of prohibiting or materially
impairing any present material business practice of the Company, any material acquisition of property (tangible or intangible) by the Company, the conduct of
business by the Company in any material respect, or otherwise limiting the freedom of the Company to engage in any line of business or to compete with any
Person. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Company is
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not bound by any agreement under which the Company is restricted in any material respect from selling, licensing or otherwise distributing any of its technology
or products or from providing services to customers or potential customers in any geographic area, during any period of time or in any segment of the market.

2.12 Title to Properties; Absence of Liens and Encumbrances; Condition of Equipment.

(a) The Company does not own any real property.

(b) Section 2.12(b)(i) of the Schedule of Exceptions sets forth a list of all real property currently leased by the Company or otherwise currently used
or occupied by the Company for the operation of the Company’s business (the “Leased Real Property”), together with the name of the lessor, the date of the lease
and each amendment thereto and the aggregate annual rental payable under any such lease. Except as set forth in Section 2.12(b)(ii) of the Schedule of
Exceptions, all such leases are in full force and effect, are valid and effective in accordance with their respective terms, and there is not, under any such lease, any
existing default or event of default (or event which with notice or lapse of time, or both, would constitute a default) by the Company or, to the Knowledge of the
Company, by any other party thereto.

(c) The Company has provided Blackbaud true, correct and complete copies of all leases, lease guaranties, subleases, agreements for the leasing, use
or occupancy of, or otherwise granting a right in or relating to the Leased Real Property, including all amendments and modifications thereof (the “Lease
Agreements”); and there are no other Lease Agreements to which the Company is bound other than those identified in Section 2.12(b)(i) of the Schedule of
Exceptions. Except as identified in Section 2.12(b)(ii) of the Schedule of Exceptions, the Company has not received any written notice of a default, alleged failure
to perform, or any offset or counterclaim with respect to any Lease Agreement, which has not been fully remedied and withdrawn. The consummation of the
Transactions will not (i) affect the enforceability against any Person of any current Lease Agreement or the rights of the Company to the continued use and
possession of the current Leased Real Property for the conduct of business as presently conducted, (ii) require the consent of any party to the Lease Agreements
or (iii) result in a breach of any of the Lease Agreements or permit any party to the Lease Agreements to modify the terms of such Lease Agreements following
the Closing.

(d) The Leased Real Property is in operating condition, is regularly maintained and, to the Knowledge of the Company, is free from material
structural, physical and mechanical defects and is suitable for the conduct of the business of the Company as presently conducted.

(e) The Company has good and valid title to, or, in the case of leased properties and assets, valid leasehold interests in, all of its tangible properties
and assets, real, personal and mixed, used or held for use in its business, free and clear of any judgments or Liens, except (i) as reflected in the Financial
Statements, (ii) Liens set forth in Section 2.12(e) of the Schedule of Exceptions, (iii) Liens for Taxes, assessments and similar charges which are not yet due and
payable, or are being contested in good faith and have been disclosed in Section 2.12(e) of the Schedule of Exceptions, and (iv) such imperfections of title and
encumbrances, if any, which do not materially detract from the value or materially interfere with the present use of the property subject thereto or affected
thereby.

(f) Section 2.12(f) of the Schedule of Exceptions lists all items of equipment (the “Equipment”) with a book value in excess of $20,000 and owned or
leased by the Company, and such Equipment is (i) in operating condition and regularly maintained, subject to normal wear and tear, and (ii) together with the
other equipment of the Company, adequate for the conduct of the business of the Company as currently conducted.
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(g) The Company has either (i) sole and exclusive ownership of, free and clear of any judgments or Liens, or (ii) the valid right to use unrestricted in
any material respect by contract or statute (other than requirements under privacy laws and confidentiality obligations to its customers) its records relating to
customer lists, customer contact information, customer correspondence and customer licensing and purchasing histories relating to its current and former
customers (such records, the “Customer Information”). Subject to privacy laws and confidentiality obligations to its customers, no Person other than the Company
possesses any licenses, Liens or claims with respect to the use of the Customer Information owned by the Company, or has rights to the Customer Information as
a whole.

2.13 Intellectual Property.

(a) Section 2.13(a)(i) and Section 2.13(a)(ii) of the Schedule of Exceptions contain, respectively, a complete and accurate list of (i) all products and
services marketed by the Company in the five (5) years preceding the date hereof and (ii) all products and service offerings that are in development as of the date
hereof (other than updates or upgrades to existing products) and that the Company expects or intends to make available commercially in the future (such products
described in clauses (i) and (ii), the “Company Products”).

(b) Section 2.13(b) of the Schedule of Exceptions contains a complete and accurate list, as of the date hereof, of the following Owned Company
Intellectual Property: (i) all registered Trademarks and material unregistered Trademarks; (ii) all Patents and (iii) all registered Copyrights and material
unregistered Copyrights and applications therefor, in each case listing, as applicable, (A) the name of the applicant/registrant and current owner, (B) the
jurisdiction where the application/registration is located and (C) the application or registration number. Except (i) as required in connection with any registration
of Company Owned Intellectual Property and (ii) as necessary for the use of the Owned Company Intellectual Property, all material logbooks, documents and
records supporting the creating and ownership of Owned Company Intellectual Property which obtains value by virtue of being maintained confidential, have
been confidentially retained by the Company. All necessary documents and certificates in connection with the registration of any Owned Company Intellectual
Property that has been registered have been filed with the relevant patent, copyright, trademark or other authorities in the United States or elsewhere in the world,
as the case may be, for the purposes of prosecuting, maintaining (to the extent due prior to the date hereof) or registering such Owned Company Intellectual
Property. There are no actions that must be taken by the Company within ninety (90) days of the date of this Agreement, including the payment of any
registration, maintenance or renewal fees or the filing of any responses to Governmental Entity office actions, documents, applications or certificates for the
purposes of obtaining, maintaining, or preserving or renewing any Owned Company Intellectual Property that has been registered or is under application to be
registered. The Company has not claimed “small business status” in the application for or registration of any Owned Company Intellectual Property.

(c) Section 2.13(c) of the Schedule of Exceptions contains a complete and accurate list, as of the date hereof, of the Domain Name registrations of
the Company. Section 2.13(c) of the Schedule of Exceptions identifies, for each Domain Name registration, the named owner, and the registrar or equivalent
Person with whom that Domain Name is registered. The Company’s use and registration of its Domain Name registrations does not infringe any third party’s
Intellectual Property Rights. In the case in which the Company has acquired ownership of a Domain Name registration from another party, the Company has
made or procured a transfer of the Domain Name in accordance with the procedure of the registrar.

(d) In each case in which the Company has acquired ownership of any Trademarks, Copyrights, or Patents currently included in the Owned
Company Intellectual Property from another person (excluding, however Trademarks, Copyrights or Patents acquired from employees of the Company
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in the ordinary course of business pursuant to a separate written agreement or by operation of law) (each of which are identified in Section 2.13(d) of the
Schedule of Exceptions), the Company has obtained a valid and enforceable assignment sufficient to irrevocably transfer all of the transferor’s rights in and to all
such Intellectual Property to the Company and has recorded or had recorded each such assignment that involves registered Owned Company Intellectual Property
with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office or the U.S. Copyright Office, or, as applicable, their respective equivalents in the applicable jurisdiction, in each case
in accordance with applicable laws.

(e) Other than non-exclusive outbound “shrink-wrap” licenses in the forms set forth in Section 2.13(e) of the Schedule of Exceptions, Section 2.13(e)
of the Schedule of Exceptions contains a complete and accurate list of all Contracts as of the date hereof (such agreements, the “Company Intellectual Property
Agreements”) (i) under which the Company uses or has the right to use any Licensed Company Intellectual Property, other than licenses and related services
agreements for commercially available software that is used by the Company but not incorporated into any Company Products and that has not been substantially
customized solely for use by Company or (ii) under which the Company has licensed to others the right to use or agreed to transfer to others any of the Company
Intellectual Property, in each case specifying the parties to the agreement, the relevant Company Intellectual Property and any ongoing royalty payments. The
Company has not granted any exclusive license under any Owned Company Intellectual Property or any licenses to use any Company Source Code (excluding
licenses to third parties granted in the ordinary course of business who are providing or have provided information technology services to the Company). To the
Knowledge of the Company, there are no pending disputes regarding the scope of any Company Intellectual Property Agreements, performance under any
Company Intellectual Property Agreements, or with respect to payments made or received under any Company Intellectual Property Agreements.

(f) The Company Intellectual Property is sufficient for the conduct of the business of the Company as it is currently conducted. Without limiting the
foregoing, the Company has the right to use all software development tools, library functions, or compilers that the Company (i) uses to create, modify, compile,
or support any Company Product or (ii) uses to provide any services provided by the Company.

(g) The Company owns all right, title and interest in the Owned Company Intellectual Property, free and clear of all Liens other than encumbrances,
restrictions or other obligations expressly set forth in any of the Company Intellectual Property Agreements. All Owned Company Intellectual Property was
written and created by either (i) employees of the Company acting within the scope of their employment or (ii) by third parties who have validly and irrevocably
assigned all of their rights therein to the Company, and no third party will, as of the Closing, own any of the Owned Company Intellectual Property. No Company
Personnel owns or has a license to any Company Intellectual Property other than the right to use Company Intellectual Property in connection with his or her
duties to the Company.

(h) Except as set forth in Section 2.13(h) of the Schedule of Exceptions, the Company has taken reasonable and appropriate steps to protect and
preserve the confidentiality of the Trade Secrets that comprise any part of the Owned Company Intellectual Property and, to the Knowledge of the Company and
the Stockholders, there have not occurred any unauthorized uses, disclosures or infringements of any such Trade Secrets by any person. All use and disclosure by
the Company of Trade Secrets owned by another person have been pursuant to the terms of a written agreement with or other permission by such person or was
otherwise lawful. Without limiting the foregoing, the Company has a policy requiring all employees to execute a confidentiality and assignment agreement
substantially in the Company’s standard form previously provided to Blackbaud, and consultants and contractors who are or have been engaged in the preparation
of Owned Company Intellectual Property to execute an agreement that includes confidentiality and assignment provisions.
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Copies of all such agreements with consultants and contractors have been provided to Blackbaud. The Company has enforced such policy and all current and
former employees, and consultants and contractors who are or have been engaged in the preparation of Owned Company Intellectual Property have executed
assignment agreements with the Company, and all current and former employees, and consultants and contractors who are given access to Confidential
Information of the Company have signed confidentiality agreements with the Company.

(i) To the Knowledge of the Company, none of the Company’s current products or services or other operation of the Company’s business has
infringed upon, misappropriated, or otherwise violated, or is infringing upon, misappropriating, or otherwise violating, in any respect the Intellectual Property
Rights of any third party. To the Knowledge of the Company as of the date hereof, no Person or any of such Person’s products or services or other operation of
such Person’s business is infringing upon, misappropriating, or otherwise violating any Owned Company Intellectual Property.

(j) There is no suit, claim, action, investigation or proceeding made, conducted or brought by a third party that has been served upon the Company
or, to the Knowledge of the Company, filed or threatened with respect to, and the Company has not been notified in writing of, any alleged infringement,
misappropriation, or other violation by the Company or any of its current products or services or other operation of the Company’s business of the Intellectual
Property Rights of such third party. To the Knowledge of the Company, there is no pending or threatened claim against the Company or its customers challenging
the validity or enforceability of, or contesting the Company’s rights with respect to, any of the Company Intellectual Property. The Company has not received any
written opinion of counsel regarding, (i) any potential allegation of infringement or misappropriation by the Company, (ii) the application of any Patent to the
Company Products, or (iii) the operation of the Company’s business as presently conducted. The Company is not subject to any order of any Governmental Entity
that restricts or impairs the use, transfer or licensing of any Company Intellectual Property.

(k) The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the Transactions will not result in (i) the Company granting to any third
party any rights or licenses to any Intellectual Property or Intellectual Property Rights, (ii) any right of termination or cancellation under any Company
Intellectual Property Agreement, (iii) the imposition of any Lien on any Owned Company Intellectual Property as a result of any act of the Company, or (iv) as of
the Closing, Blackbaud or any of its Subsidiaries being required, under the terms of any agreement to which the Company is a party, to grant any third party any
rights or licenses to any of Blackbaud’s or any of its Subsidiaries’ Intellectual Property or Intellectual Property Rights or to pay any royalties or other amounts in
excess of those that would have, in any event, been payable by the Company had the transactions contemplated by this Agreement not occurred.

(l) As of the date hereof, to the Knowledge of the Company, there are no design or other errors in the Company Products that permit unauthorized
access to computers or systems of users through those Company Products. The Company has implemented procedures consistent with standard industry practices
with respect to the detection and quarantining of viruses, disabling codes, or other malicious code.

(m) Except as set forth in Section 2.13(m) of the Schedule of Exceptions, the Company’s software developers have not incorporated any Open
Source Software into any software that is provided as a Company Product by the Company; notwithstanding the foregoing, the Shareholders and Company make
no representation with respect to whether Open Source Software has been incorporated by third parties into third-party proprietary software licensed to the
Company under a non-open source conventional license as opposed to an open source license.
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(n) The Company has not experienced any substantial defects in the software and hardware used in its business as it is currently conducted that have
not been satisfactorily resolved.

(o) None of the Company Source Code for the Company Products or Trade Secrets has been published or disclosed by the Company (except to its
employees or advisers or pursuant to non-disclosure agreements) or, to the Knowledge of the Company, by any other Person except as authorized by the Company
under a non-disclosure agreement enforceable by the Company. Except as set forth in Section 2.13(o) of the Schedule of Exceptions, there are no Contracts
pursuant to which the Company has deposited, or is required to deposit, with an escrow agent or any other Person, any Company Source Code.

(p) The Company’s collection and dissemination of personal customer information and personal information of its customers’ constituents in
connection with its business has been conducted in accordance with applicable privacy policies published or otherwise adopted by the Company and applicable
law or regulation of any Governmental Entity with jurisdiction over the Company. The execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement by Company and
Stockholders will not result in any violation of any Company Privacy Policy or any Law pertaining to privacy. Except as set forth in Section 2.13(p) of the
Schedule of Exceptions, the Company has at all applicable times maintained compliance with the Visa Cardholder Security Information Program, and the
Payment Card Industry Data Security Standards governing the physical security of end user information and data.

(q) No government funding, facilities of a university, college, other educational institution or research center was used in the development of any
Owned Company Intellectual Property. To the Knowledge of the Company, no Company Personnel who was involved in, or who contributed to, the creation or
development of any Owned Company Intellectual Property, has performed services for the government, university, college, or other educational institution or
research center during a period of time during which such Company Personnel was also performing services for the Company.

(r) The Company does not have any commitment to any standards body to license any Owned Company Intellectual Property, to any Person by
virtue of that Person being a member of a standards body, or to any Person by virtue of that Person having implemented a standard administered or promulgated
by a standards body. The Company Products are not required to be compliant with any standards promulgated or administered by, or with any operating systems
offered by, any third party.

(s) If the Company has exported the Company Products, or any technical information or other technology within its control, it has done so in
compliance with U.S. export laws and regulations promulgated and enforced by the Bureau of Export Administration.

(t) The Company possesses (i) a list of all components of the Company’s software systems which constitute Owned Company Intellectual Property
and of all miscellaneous related items that are required for employees and representatives of the Company to work with and develop such software systems, or
which have been used to develop, test, maintain, or modify such software systems, and (ii) the associated supporting documentation, scripts, code libraries, testing
file, configuration or property files, defect tracking database, test script repository, build and test scripts, database schemas, ancillary software, and all other
similar components, data, and materials, in each case, that are required for such systems to function or which are currently used to develop, test, maintain, or
modify such software systems.

2.14 Contracts. As of the date hereof, except as set forth in Section 2.14 of the Schedule of Exceptions, the Company is not a party to, nor is it bound by:

(a) any (i) employment, consulting or other Contract with an employee or individual consultant or salesperson, (ii) consulting or sales Contract with
a firm or other organization to provide services to the Company or (iii) Contract pursuant to which the Company must pay commissions, in each case of clauses
(i) through (iii), involving payments by the Company in excess of $10,000 per year;
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(b) any written or oral agreement or plan regarding rights to or the issuances of Company Capital Stock or any other profit sharing plan, including
any stock option plan, stock appreciation rights plan, phantom stock plan or stock purchase plan;

(c) any fidelity or surety bond or completion bond involving amounts in excess of $10,000;

(d) any lease of personal property having a value in excess of $10,000 individually or $50,000 in the aggregate;

(e) any Contract relating to capital expenditures and involving future payments in excess of $10,000 individually or $50,000 in the aggregate;

(f) any Contract relating to the disposition or acquisition of material assets or any interest in any business enterprise outside the ordinary course of
the Company’s business;

(g) any mortgage, indenture, guarantee, loan or credit agreement, security agreement or other agreement or instrument relating to the borrowing of
money or extension of credit involving amounts in excess of $10,000;

(h) any purchase order or Contract for the purchase by the Company of materials involving in excess of $10,000 individually or $50,000 in the
aggregate;

(i) any dealer, distribution, marketing or development Contract;

(j) any sales representative, original equipment manufacturer, value added, remarketer, reseller, or independent software vendor, customer or other
Contract for use or distribution of the Company’s products, technology or services;

(k) any other Contract that involves (i) amounts in excess of $10,000 individually or $25,000 in the aggregate with all related Contracts and is not
cancelable without penalty within ninety (90) days, (ii) minimum purchase commitments by the Company in excess of $10,000 per year, or (iii) ongoing service
or support obligations and that are not cancelable without penalty or refund within ninety (90) days, (iv) the development or delivery of any customer-specified
product enhancements or upgrades, or (v) co-marketing arrangements, most-favored nations undertakings or price protection mechanisms.

2.15 No Defaults. Except as set forth in Section 2.15 of the Schedule of Exceptions, the Company is in compliance with and has not materially breached,
violated or defaulted under, or received notice that it has materially breached, violated or defaulted under, any of the terms or conditions of any Contract required
to be disclosed under Sections 2.13 or 2.14 hereof, nor is the Company aware of any event that would constitute such a breach, violation or default with the lapse
of time, giving of notice or both. Except as set forth in Section 2.15 of the Schedule of Exceptions, each Contract required to be disclosed under Sections 2.13 or
2.14 hereof is in full force and effect, and the Company is not in material default thereunder, nor, to the Knowledge of the Company, is any other party to any
such Contract in material default thereunder. Except as set forth in Section 2.15 of the Schedule of Exceptions, the consummation of the Transactions will neither
violate nor result in the breach, modification, cancellation,
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termination or suspension of any Contract required to be disclosed under Sections 2.13 or 2.14 hereof, except for such violations, breaches, modifications,
cancellations, terminations and suspensions that would not be reasonably expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect.
Except as set forth in Section 2.15 of the Schedule of Exceptions or as would not be reasonably expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company
Material Adverse Effect, immediately following the Closing, the Company will be permitted to exercise all of the Company’s rights under the Contracts required
to be disclosed under Sections 2.13 or 2.14 hereof to the same extent the Company would have been able to had the Transactions not occurred and without being
required to pay any additional amounts or consideration other than fees, royalties or payments which the Company would otherwise be required to pay had such
Transactions not occurred.

2.16 Interested Party Transactions.

(a) Except as set forth in Section 2.16(a) of the Schedule of Exceptions, no officer or director or, to the Knowledge of the Company, holder of more
than five percent (5%) of the outstanding shares of Company Capital Stock (nor any ancestor, sibling, descendant or spouse of any of such Persons, or any trust,
partnership, corporation or other entity in which any of such Persons has or has had an interest, an “Interested Person”), has or has had, directly or indirectly,
(i) an economic interest in any entity which furnished or sold, or furnishes or sells, services, products or technology that the Company furnishes or sells, or
proposes to furnish or sell, or (ii) any economic interest in any entity that purchases from or sells or furnishes to the Company, any services, products or
technology, or (iii) a beneficial interest in any Contract to which the Company is a party, except in the case of clause (iii) in any such Person’s capacity as an
officer, director or stockholder of the Company; provided, however, that ownership of no more than five percent (5%) of the outstanding voting stock of a private
corporation, or three percent (3%) of the outstanding voting stock of a publicly traded corporation, shall not be deemed to be an “interest in any entity” for
purposes of this Section 2.16.

(b) All transactions pursuant to which any officer, director or stockholder of the Company or any Interested Person has purchased any services,
products or technology from, or sold or furnished any services, products or technology to, the Company, have been on an arms’ length basis on terms no less
favorable to the Company than would be available from an unaffiliated party.

2.17 Governmental Authorization. Each consent, license, permit, grant or other authorization (i) pursuant to which the Company currently operates or holds
any interest in any of its properties, or (ii) which is required for the operation of the Company’s business as currently conducted (collectively, “Company
Authorizations”) has been issued or granted to the Company and is in full force and effect, except for such consents, licenses, permits, grants or other
authorizations, which the failure to have been issued or granted or be in full force and effect would not be reasonably expected, individually or in the aggregate, to
have a Company Material Adverse Effect.

2.18 Litigation. Except as set forth in Section 2.18 of the Schedule of Exceptions, there is no action, suit, claim or proceeding of any nature by or before
any Governmental Entity pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened against the Company, any of its properties (tangible or intangible) or any of
its officers or directors in their respective capacities as such. There is no investigation, inquiry or other proceeding pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company,
threatened against the Company, any of its properties (tangible or intangible) or any of its officers or directors in their respective capacities as such by any
Governmental Entity. Since January 1, 2008, no Governmental Entity has provided the Company with written notice challenging or questioning the legal right of
the Company to conduct its operations as conducted at that time or as presently conducted, which challenge or question has not been resolved.
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2.19 Accounts Receivable.

(a) The Company has made available to Blackbaud a list of all accounts receivable of the Company as of the date of the Financial Statements,
together with the respective range of days elapsed since each invoice.

(b) All of the Company’s accounts receivable are bona fide, arose in the ordinary course of business and are carried at values determined in
accordance with GAAP, less any reserves for doubtful accounts set forth on the Financial Statements. Except as set forth in Section 2.19(b) of the Schedule of
Exceptions, no Person has any Lien on any of the Company’s accounts receivable, and no request or agreement for deduction or discount has been made with
respect to any of the Company’s accounts receivable.

2.20 Minute Books. The minutes of the proceedings of meetings and written actions of the Board of Directors and the stockholders of the Company
provided to Blackbaud are the only minutes of the Company as of the date of this Agreement and contain accurate summaries of all meetings and actions by
written consent of the Board of Directors (or committees thereof) of the Company and of all meetings and actions by written consent of the stockholders of the
Company, since the time of incorporation of the Company.

2.21 Environmental, Health and Safety Matters.

(a) The Company has at all times complied and, to the Knowledge of the Company, is in compliance, in all material respects, with all Environmental
Laws, which compliance has included obtaining and complying at all times, in all material respects, with all Permits required pursuant to Environmental Laws for
the occupation of its facilities and properties and the operation of its business.

(b) To the Knowledge of the Company, the Company has not received any notice, report or other information regarding any actual or alleged
material violation of, or liability under, Environmental Laws with respect to its past or current operations, properties or facilities.

(c) None of the following exists at any property or facility owned or operated by the Company: (i) underground storage tanks; (ii) asbestos-
containing material; (iii) materials or equipment containing polychlorinated biphenyls; or (iv) landfills, surface impoundments, or disposal areas.

(d) The Company has not treated, stored, disposed of, arranged for or permitted the disposal of, transported, handled, released, or exposed any
Person to, any substance, including any Hazardous Materials, or owned or operated any property or facility (and not such property or facility is contaminated by
any Hazardous Materials so as to create a “Recognized Environmental Condition” under ASTM 1527-05) so as to give rise to any current or future liability or
corrective or remedial obligation under any Environmental Laws.

(e) The Company has not assumed, provided an indemnity with respect to, or otherwise become subject to any material liabilities of any other Person
under any Environmental Law.

2.22 Fees and Expenses. The Company has not incurred, nor will it incur, directly or indirectly, any liability for investment banking fees or for brokerage or
finders’ fees or agents’ commissions or any similar charges in connection with this Agreement or the Transactions.
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2.23 Employee Benefit Plans and Compensation.

(a) Schedule. Section 2.23(a)(i) of the Schedule of Exceptions contains an accurate and complete list of each Company Employee Plan and each
Employee Agreement (whether or not under a Company Employee Plan). Neither the Company nor any of its ERISA Affiliates has made any commitment to
establish, adopt or enter into any new Company Employee Plan or Employee Agreement, or to modify any Company Employee Plan or Employee Agreement
(except to the extent required by law). Section 2.23(a)(ii) of the Schedule of Exceptions sets forth a table listing the name and salary of each exempt employee
and/or consultant of the Company.

(b) Documents. The Company has delivered to Blackbaud (i) correct and complete copies all Company Employee Plan documents, (ii) the three
(3) most recent annual reports (Form Series 5500 and all schedules and financial statements attached thereto), if any, required under ERISA for any Company
Employee Plan, (iii) if any Company Employee Plan is funded, the most recent annual and periodic accounting of such Company Employee Plan’s assets, (iv) all
material communications relating to any established or proposed Company Employee Plan that relates to any material amendments, terminations, increases or
decreases in benefits, acceleration of payments or vesting schedules or other events that would result in any Liability to the Company or its ERISA Affiliates,
(v) all policies pertaining to fiduciary liability insurance covering the fiduciaries for each Company Employee Plan, (vi) discrimination test results for each
Company Employee Plan (if discrimination testing was required) for the three (3) most recent plan years, (vii) the most recent IRS determination letter issued
with respect to each Company Employee Plan, and (viii) visa and work permit information with respect to current Company Personnel.

(c) Employee Plan Compliance. Each Company Employee Plan has been established and maintained in accordance with its terms and in material
compliance with all applicable laws. The Company and each of its ERISA Affiliates has performed all material obligations required to be performed by them
under each Company Employee Plan. Each Company Employee Plan intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code either has timely obtained a
favorable determination letter from the IRS, or is in the form of a prototype, master or volume submitter plan document that has a current letter from the IRS
stating that the language of such plan document meets the qualification requirements of Section 401(a) of the Code and the Company is entitled to reliance on
such letter with regard to such Company Employee Plan, and nothing has occurred since the date of that determination letter or adoption of that prototype, master
or volume submitter plan document that could reasonably be expected to cause any such Company Employee Plan to fail to qualify under § 401(a) of the Code.
No “prohibited transaction,” within the meaning of Section 4975 of the Code or Sections 406 and 407 of ERISA, and not otherwise exempt under Section 408 of
ERISA, has occurred with respect to any Company Employee Plan. There are no material actions, suits or claims pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company,
threatened or reasonably anticipated (other than routine claims for benefits) against any Company Employee Plan or against the assets of any Company Employee
Plan. As of the Closing, each Company Employee Plan that is not an Employee Agreement can be amended, terminated or otherwise discontinued after the
Closing in accordance with its terms without Liability to Blackbaud, the Company, or any ERISA Affiliate (other than ordinary administration expenses). There
are no audits, inquiries or proceedings pending or to the Knowledge of the Company, its ERISA Affiliates or the Stockholders threatened by the IRS, U.S.
Department of Labor or any other Governmental Entity with respect to any Company Employee Plan. The Company and its ERISA Affiliates are not subject to
any penalty or tax with respect to any Company Employee Plan under Section 502(i) of ERISA or Sections 4975 through 4980 of the Code, nor is any employee
or former employee of the Company subject to penalty or additional tax under Section 409A of the Code. The Company and each of its ERISA Affiliates have
timely made all contributions and other payments required by and due under the terms of each Company Employee Plan.
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(d) No Pension Plans or Welfare Plans. The Company and its ERISA Affiliates have never maintained, established, sponsored, participated in, or
contributed to, any (i) employee benefit plan subject to Section 412 of the Code or Title IV of ERISA (ii) “multiemployer plan” within the meaning of Section (3)
(37) of ERISA, (iii) “multiple employer plans” for purposes of ERISA, (iv) a “funded welfare plan” within the meaning of Section 419 of the Code, or (v) an
international plan that is a defined benefit pension plan. No Company Employee Plan provides health or disability benefits that are not fully insured through an
insurance contract.

(e) No Post-Employment Obligations. Except as set forth in Section 2.23(e) of the Schedule of Exceptions, no Company Employee Plan provides, or
reflects or represents any liability to provide, post-termination or retiree life insurance, health or other retiree employee welfare benefits to any Person for any
reason, except as may be required by COBRA or other applicable statute, and neither the Company nor any of its ERISA Affiliates has ever represented, promised
or contracted (whether in oral or written form) to any Company Personnel (either individually or to Company Personnel as a group) or any other Person that such
Company Personnel or other Person would be provided with post-termination or retiree life insurance, health or other employee welfare benefit, except to the
extent required by statute.

(f) Effect of Transaction. Except as set forth in Section 2.23(f) of the Schedule of Exceptions, the execution of this Agreement and the consummation
of the transactions contemplated hereby will not (either alone or upon the occurrence of any additional or subsequent events) constitute an event under any
Company Employee Plan, Employee Agreement, trust or loan that will or may result in (i) any payment (whether of severance pay or otherwise), acceleration,
forgiveness of indebtedness, vesting, distribution, increase in benefits or obligation to fund benefits or (ii) a penalty or additional tax under Section 409A of the
Code with respect to any Company Personnel. There is no contract, agreement, plan or arrangement to which the Company or any of its ERISA Affiliates is a
party or by which any of them is bound to compensate any Company Personnel for excise taxes paid pursuant to Section 4999 of the Code.

(g) Employment Matters. The Company and each of its ERISA Affiliates: (i) has complied in all material respects with all applicable foreign,
federal, state and local laws, collective agreements, works agreements, rules, practices and regulations respecting employment, employment practices, terms and
conditions of employment and wages and hours including orders and awards relevant to terms and conditions of service, health and safety, labor leasing, use of
fixed-term contracts, supply of temporary staff, social security filings and payments, secondment and expiration rules, applicable requirements in respect of staff
representation and paid vacations, in each case, with respect to Company Personnel, (ii) has withheld and reported all amounts required by law or agreement to be
withheld and reported with respect to wages, salaries and other payments to Company Personnel, (iii) are not liable for any arrears of wages, taxes or penalties for
failure to comply with any of the foregoing, (iv) are not liable for any payment to any trust or other fund governed by or maintained by or on behalf of any
Governmental Entity, with respect to unemployment compensation benefits, social security or other benefits or obligations for Company Personnel (other than
routine payments to be made in the normal course of business and consistent with past practice), except for any such liability that would not, individually or in the
aggregate, be material to the Company. There are no pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened or reasonably anticipated claims or actions against
the Company or any of its ERISA Affiliates under any worker’s compensation policy or long-term disability policy. Neither the Company nor any of its ERISA
Affiliates has or anticipates any direct or indirect material liability with respect to any misclassification of any Person as an independent contractor rather than as
an employee, or with respect to any employee leased from another employer.

(h) Labor. No work stoppage or labor strike against the Company is pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened or reasonably
anticipated. The Company does not know of
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any activities or proceedings of any labor union to organize any Company Personnel. There are no actions, suits, claims, labor disputes or grievances pending or,
to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened or reasonably anticipated relating to any labor, safety or discrimination matters involving any Company Personnel,
including charges of unfair labor practices or discrimination complaints. The Company has not engaged in any unfair labor practices within the meaning of the
National Labor Relations Act. The Company presently is not, nor has it been in the past, a party to, or bound by, any collective bargaining agreement or union
contract with respect to Company Personnel, and no collective bargaining agreement is being negotiated by the Company. The Company is not and has not been a
party to any redundancy agreements (including social plans or job protection plans). Except as set forth in Section 2.23(h) of the Schedule of Exceptions, the
employment by the Company of all Employees is “at will” employment.

(i) Certain Compensation Arrangements. Except as set forth in Section 2.23(i) of the Schedule of Exceptions, there are no variable compensation
plans or practices (including bonus plans or practices) with respect to Company Personnel. Except as set forth in Section 2.23(i) of the Schedule of Exceptions,
the Company has not made any promises or other undertakings, oral or in writing, to any Company Personnel or any third party with respect to any such variable
compensation plans or practices.

2.24 Insurance and Bonds. Section 2.24 of the Schedule of Exceptions lists all insurance policies and bonds (whether denominated as bid, litigation,
performance, fidelity, AD&D, or otherwise) covering the assets, business, equipment, properties, operations, employees, officers and directors (in their respective
capacities as such) of the Company or any of its Affiliates. The Company believes that such insurance policies and bonds are upon terms that are reasonable and
adequate for and are of the type and in amounts customarily carried by Persons with businesses, operations, properties and locales similar to those of Company.
There is no claim by the Company or any of its Affiliates pending under any of such policies or bonds. All potentially insurable claims have been properly
tendered to the appropriate insurance carrier in compliance with any applicable insurance policy notice provisions. All premiums due and payable under all such
policies and bonds have been paid, and the Company and its Affiliates are otherwise in material compliance with the terms of such policies and bonds. All such
insurance policies are valid and binding in accordance with their terms, except to the extent such enforceability may be limited by the effect of any applicable
bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, moratorium or similar law affecting creditors’ rights generally and general principles of equity or public policy (regardless
of whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law), and are in full force and effect. To the Knowledge of the Company, there is no
threat of termination of, or premium increase with respect to, any of such policies. The bonds, if any, listed in Section 2.24 of the Schedule of Exceptions satisfy
all requirements for such bonds set forth in (A) any Law applicable to the Company or its businesses and (B) any Contract of the Company.

2.25 Compliance with Laws. The Company has complied with, is not in violation of, and has not received any notice of violation with respect to any
foreign, federal, state or local Laws, except for such non-compliance and violations which would not be reasonably expected to have, individually or in the
aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect. Except for such non-compliance which would not be reasonably expected to have, individually or in the
aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect, each of the Company Products does and has complied in with all applicable Laws of each jurisdiction in which
such Company Product is or has been sold directly or indirectly by or on behalf of the Company, including such Laws which pertain to: electrical safety; energy
consumption of energy using products or components; the presence (or absence) of specified substances in electrical or electronic products, batteries or products
generally; labeling of product or product packaging as respects product content or as respects health, safety or environmental effects or attributes or as respects
required end-of-life handling or disposition of products or product packaging; and coverage under approved scheme for end-of-life collection and return of
products or of product packaging.
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2.26 Foreign Corrupt Practices Act. The Company (including any of its officers or directors) has not taken or failed to take any action which would cause it
to be in violation of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, or any rules or regulations thereunder. Neither the Company nor, to the Knowledge of
the Company, any third party acting on behalf of the Company, has offered, paid, promised to pay, or authorized, or will offer, pay, promise to pay, or authorize,
directly or indirectly, the giving of money or anything of value to any Official, or to any other Person while knowing or being aware of a high probability that all
or a portion of such money or thing of value will be offered, given or promised, directly or indirectly, to any Official, for the purpose of: (i) influencing any act or
decision of such Official in his, her or its official capacity, including a decision to fail to perform his, her or its official duties or functions; or (ii) inducing such
Official to use his, her or its influence with any Governmental Entity to affect or influence any act or decision of such Governmental Entity, or to obtain an
improper advantage in order to assist the Company or any third party in obtaining or retaining business for or with, or directing business to, Company. For
purposes of this Agreement, an “Official” shall include any appointed or elected official, any government employee, any political party, party official, or
candidate for political office, or any officer, director or employee of any Governmental Entity.

2.27 Warranties; Indemnities. Except for warranties implied by law or set forth in Section 2.27 of the Schedule of Exceptions, the Company has not given
any warranties or indemnities relating to products or technology sold or services rendered by the Company.

2.28 Stockholder Loans. The Company has not loaned any money to any Company Personnel or the Stockholders, and none of such Persons is indebted to
the Company for any amount (other than for advances to Company Personnel for travel and business expenses in the ordinary course of business).

2.29 Suppliers and Customers. Except as set forth in Section 2.29 of the Schedule of Exceptions, no licensor, vendor, supplier, licensee or customer of the
Company within the twelve (12) month period prior to the Closing Date has cancelled or otherwise modified its relationship with the Company in a manner
adverse to the Company in any material respect, and no such Person has communicated in writing to the officers, directors or other senior managers of the
Company any intention to do so.

2.30 Privacy. The Company has delivered to Blackbaud correct and complete copies of all written policies maintained by the Company since January 1,
2006 with respect to privacy and personal data protection relating to its employees, customers, suppliers, service providers, or any other third parties from or
about whom the Company has obtained personal data (“Company Privacy Policies”). The Company has complied in all material respects with, is not in material
violation of, and has not received any notices of material violation with respect to, any applicable Laws, contracts, Company Privacy Policies or any other
commitments, obligations or representations concerning privacy and personal data protection relating to its employees, customers, suppliers, service providers, or
any other third parties from or about whom the Company has obtained personal data (“Company Privacy Obligations”). The Company has not received written
notice of any claims or alleged claims that the Company has violated Company Privacy Obligations and, to the Knowledge of the Company, no governmental
agency is conducting a formal investigation to determine whether the Company has violated any Company Privacy Obligations. The consummation of the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement will not violate any Company Privacy Obligation in any material respect, nor require the Company to provide any
notice to, or seek any consent from, any employee, customer, supplier, service provider or other third party under any Company Privacy Policy.

2.31 Compliance with the Immigration Reform and Control Act. The Company is in material compliance with and has not violated in any material respect
the terms and provisions of applicable Laws relating to immigration, including the Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986, and all related
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regulations promulgated thereunder (collectively, the “Immigration Laws”). To the Knowledge of the Company, the Company has not been the subject of any
investigation by a Government Entity relating to its compliance with or violation of the Immigration Laws.

2.32 Delivery of Documents. Section 2.32 of the Schedule of Exceptions contains a list of all documents that have been delivered by or on behalf of the
Company to Blackbaud in connection with the Transactions. The copies of such documents that were provided to Blackbaud were true and complete copies of the
respective documents.

2.33 No Untrue Statements. To the Knowledge of the Company, none of the representations or warranties made by the Company (as modified by the
Schedule of Exceptions) in this Agreement, and none of the statements made in any exhibit, schedule or certificate furnished by the Company or anyone acting on
behalf thereof pursuant to this Agreement contains any untrue statement of a material fact.

2.34 No Other Representations or Warranties. EXCEPT FOR THE REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY CONTAINED IN
THIS Article II AND OF THE STOCKHOLDERS CONTAINED IN Article III (IN EACH CASE, AS MODIFIED BY THE SCHEDULE OF EXCEPTIONS)
OR IN ANY ANCILLARY DOCUMENTS RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT, NEITHER THE COMPANY NOR THE STOCKHOLDERS, NOR ANY OF
THEIR RESPECTIVE REPRESENTATIVES, NOR ANY OTHER PERSON MAKES OR HAS MADE ANY OTHER REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY,
EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, AT LAW OR IN EQUITY, IN RESPECT OF THE COMPANY OR ITS AFFILIATES, THEIR RESPECTIVE BUSINESSES, THE
STOCKHOLDERS, THE SALE OR ANY OF THE OTHER TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED BY THIS AGREEMENT OR THE RELATED
AGREEMENTS, AND THE COMPANY AND THE STOCKHOLDERS HEREBY EXPRESSLY DISCLAIM ANY OTHER REPRESENTATIONS OR
WARRANTIES, WHETHER MADE BY THE COMPANY, THE STOCKHOLDERS OR ANY OF THEIR RESPECTIVE REPRESENTATIVES. EXCEPT
FOR THE REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES CONTAINED IN Article II AND Article III HEREOF (AS MODIFIED BY THE SCHEDULE OF
EXCEPTIONS) OR IN ANY ANCILLARY DOCUMENTS RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT, THE COMPANY AND THE STOCKHOLDERS DISCLAIM
ALL LIABILITY AND RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY REPRESENTATION, WARRANTY, PROJECTION, FORECAST, STATEMENT OR INFORMATION
MADE, COMMUNICATED OR FURNISHED (ORALLY OR IN WRITING) TO BLACKBAUD OR ANY OF ITS REPRESENTATIVES (INCLUDING ANY
OPINION, INFORMATION, PROJECTION OR ADVICE THAT MAY HAVE BEEN OR MAY BE PROVIDED TO BLACKBAUD OR ITS
REPRESENTATIVE BY THE COMPANY, ANY STOCKHOLDER OR ANY OF THEIR RESPECTIVE REPRESENTATIVES).

ARTICLE III

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE STOCKHOLDERS

Each Stockholder hereby severally, but not jointly, represents and warrants to Blackbaud, subject only to such exceptions as are specifically disclosed in the
Schedule of Exceptions (referencing the appropriate section and paragraph numbers) dated as of the date hereof as to the matters specified in this Article III:

3.1 Stockholder Title to Shares. Such Stockholder has good and marketable title to, and is the legal and beneficial owner of, its portion of the Shares set
forth on Schedule I hereto, and upon consummation of the purchase contemplated herein, Blackbaud will acquire from such Stockholder good and marketable
title to such Shares, free and clear of all Liens, excepting only such restrictions upon transfer, if any, as may be imposed by applicable Law.
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3.2 Authority. Such Stockholder has all requisite corporate or other power and authority to enter into this Agreement and the Related Agreements, and to
consummate the Transactions. The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Related Agreements to which it is a party and the consummation of the
Transactions have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate or other action on the part of such Stockholder, and no further action is required on the part of
such Stockholder to authorize this Agreement, the Related Agreements, and the Transactions. This Agreement and the Related Agreements to which such
Stockholder is a party have been duly executed and delivered by such Stockholder and, assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery by the other
parties hereto, will constitute the valid and binding obligation of such Stockholder, enforceable against such Stockholder in accordance with its respective terms,
except as such enforceability may be subject to the laws of general application relating to bankruptcy, insolvency and the relief of debtors and rules of law
governing specific performance, injunctive relief or other equitable remedies.

3.3 Organization and Good Standing. Such Stockholder, if not an individual person, is an entity duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under
the Laws of the jurisdiction of its formation.

3.4 No Conflict. The execution and delivery by such Stockholder of this Agreement and the Related Agreements, and the consummation of the
Transactions, will not conflict with or result in any violation of or default under (with or without notice or lapse of time, or both) or give rise to a Conflict under
(i) any provision of such Stockholder’s Stockholder Charter Documents, (ii) any Contract to which such Stockholder or any of its properties or assets (whether
tangible or intangible) is a party or, as the case may be, subject, or (iii) any judgment, order, decree, statute, law, ordinance, rule or regulation applicable to such
Stockholder or any of its properties (whether tangible or intangible) or assets, except in each case where such Conflict will not have a material and adverse effect
on the ability of such Stockholder (or the Stockholder Representative in such Stockholder’s stead) to consummate the Transactions or perform its obligations
under this Agreement or any Related Agreement.

3.5 Governmental Consents. No consent, waiver, approval, order or authorization of, or registration, declaration or filing with any Governmental Entity is
required by or with respect to such Stockholder in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement or the consummation of the Transactions, except
for such consents, waivers, approvals, orders, authorizations, registrations, declarations and filings which, if not obtained or made, would not be reasonably
expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a material and adverse effect on the ability of such Stockholder (or the Stockholder Representative in such
Stockholder’s stead) to consummate the Transactions or perform its obligations under this Agreement or any Related Agreement.

3.6 Litigation. There is no action, suit, claim or proceeding of any nature pending, or to the knowledge of such Stockholder, threatened, against such
Stockholder or any of its properties or officers or directors in their capacity as such which, if adversely determined, would reasonably be expected to prohibit or
materially restrain the ability of such Stockholder to enter into this Agreement or the Related Agreements or to consummate the Transactions.

3.7 No Other Representations or Warranties. EXCEPT FOR THE REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE STOCKHOLDERS
CONTAINED IN THIS Article III AND OF THE COMPANY CONTAINED IN Article II (IN EACH CASE, AS MODIFIED BY THE SCHEDULE OF
EXCEPTIONS) OR IN ANY ANCILLARY DOCUMENTS RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT, NEITHER THE COMPANY NOR THE STOCKHOLDERS,
NOR ANY OF THEIR RESPECTIVE REPRESENTATIVES, NOR ANY OTHER PERSON MAKES OR HAS MADE ANY OTHER REPRESENTATION OR
WARRANTY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, AT LAW OR IN EQUITY, IN RESPECT OF THE COMPANY OR ITS AFFILIATES, THEIR RESPECTIVE
BUSINESSES, THE
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STOCKHOLDERS, THE SALE OR ANY OF THE OTHER TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED BY THIS AGREEMENT OR THE RELATED
AGREEMENTS, AND THE COMPANY AND THE STOCKHOLDERS HEREBY EXPRESSLY DISCLAIM ANY OTHER REPRESENTATIONS OR
WARRANTIES, WHETHER MADE BY THE COMPANY, THE STOCKHOLDERS OR ANY OF THEIR RESPECTIVE REPRESENTATIVES. EXCEPT
FOR THE REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES CONTAINED IN Article II AND Article III HEREOF (AS MODIFIED BY THE SCHEDULE OF
EXCEPTIONS) OR IN ANY ANCILLARY DOCUMENTS RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT, THE COMPANY AND THE STOCKHOLDERS DISCLAIM
ALL LIABILITY AND RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY REPRESENTATION, WARRANTY, PROJECTION, FORECAST, STATEMENT OR INFORMATION
MADE, COMMUNICATED OR FURNISHED (ORALLY OR IN WRITING) TO BLACKBAUD OR ANY OF ITS REPRESENTATIVES (INCLUDING ANY
OPINION, INFORMATION, PROJECTION OR ADVICE THAT MAY HAVE BEEN OR MAY BE PROVIDED TO BLACKBAUD OR ANY OF ITS
REPRESENTATIVES BY THE COMPANY, ANY STOCKHOLDER OR ANY OF THEIR RESPECTIVE REPRESENTATIVES).

ARTICLE IV

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BLACKBAUD

As of the date hereof Blackbaud hereby represents and warrants to the Company and the Stockholders:

4.1 Organization and Standing. Blackbaud is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of Delaware.
Blackbaud has the corporate power to own its properties and to carry on its business as currently being conducted. Blackbaud is duly qualified or licensed to do
business and in good standing as a foreign corporation in each jurisdiction in which it conducts business, except for those jurisdictions in which the failure to be
so qualified or licensed and in good standing would not be reasonably expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Blackbaud Material Adverse Effect.

4.2 Authority. Blackbaud has all requisite corporate power and authority to enter into this Agreement and the Related Agreements to which it is a party, and
to consummate the Transactions. The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Related Agreements to which it is a party and the consummation of the
Transactions have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of Blackbaud, and no further action is required on the part of Blackbaud to
authorize this Agreement, the Related Agreements and the Transactions. This Agreement and the Related Agreements to which Blackbaud is a party has been
duly executed and delivered by Blackbaud and constitutes the valid and binding obligations of Blackbaud, enforceable against Blackbaud in accordance with its
terms, except as such enforceability may be subject to the laws of general application relating to bankruptcy, insolvency and the relief of debtors and rules of law
governing specific performance, injunctive relief or other equitable remedies.

4.3 No Conflict. The execution and delivery of this Agreement by Blackbaud does not, and the consummation of the Transactions will not, conflict with, or
result in any violation of, or default under (with or without notice or lapse of time, or both), or give rise to a Conflict under (i) any provision of the certificate of
incorporation and bylaws of Blackbaud, (ii) any Contract to which Blackbaud or any of its properties or assets (whether tangible or intangible) is a party or, as the
case may be, subject, or (iii) any judgment, order, decree, statute, law, ordinance, rule or regulation applicable to such Blackbaud or any of its properties (whether
tangible or intangible) or assets, except in each case where such Conflict would not be reasonably expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Blackbaud
Material Adverse Effect.
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4.4 Consents. No consent, waiver, approval, order or authorization of, or registration, declaration or filing with, any Governmental Entity is required by or
with respect to Blackbaud in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, except
for such consents, waivers, approvals, orders, authorizations, registrations, declarations and filings which, if not obtained or made, would not be reasonably
expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Blackbaud Material Adverse Effect.

4.5 Litigation. There is no action, suit, claim or proceeding of any nature pending, or to the knowledge of Blackbaud, threatened, against Blackbaud or any
of its properties or officers or directors in their capacity as such which, if adversely determined, would reasonably be expected to prohibit or materially restrain
the ability of Blackbaud to enter into this Agreement or the Related Agreements or to consummate the Transactions.

4.6 Capital Resources; Solvency. Blackbaud has sufficient capital resources available to it to pay the Closing Purchase Price, the Escrow Amount and any
other amounts required to be paid hereunder, including Section 1.4 hereof, and to perform all of its obligations hereunder. Blackbaud is not insolvent and
consummation of the Sale and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement will not cause Blackbaud to become insolvent.

4.7 Investment Intent. Blackbaud is acquiring the Shares for its own account for investment only and not with a view to the distribution or resale thereof (as
such terms are defined in the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”)). Blackbaud understands that the Shares have not been registered under
the Securities Act and cannot be sold unless subsequently registered under the Securities Act or an exemption from such registration is available.

ARTICLE V

ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS

5.1 Confidentiality. Each Stockholder will treat and hold confidential as such all of the Confidential Information, refrain from using any of the Confidential
Information except in connection with this Agreement, not trade any Blackbaud securities while in possession of material Confidential Information, and deliver
promptly to Blackbaud or destroy, at the request and option of Blackbaud, all tangible embodiments (and all copies) of the Confidential Information which are in
his, her or its possession. In the event that any Stockholder is requested or required (by oral question or request for information or documents in any legal
proceeding, interrogatory, subpoena, civil investigative demand, or similar process) to disclose any Confidential Information, that party will notify Blackbaud
promptly of the request or requirement so that Blackbaud may seek an appropriate protective order or waive compliance with the provisions of this Section 5.1. If,
in the absence of a protective order or the receipt of a waiver hereunder, a Stockholder is, on the advice of counsel, compelled to disclose any Confidential
Information to any tribunal or else stand liable for contempt, that party may disclose the Confidential Information to the tribunal; provided, however, that the
disclosing party shall use his or its commercially reasonable efforts to obtain, at the reasonable request of Blackbaud and at Blackbaud’s expense, an order or
other assurance that confidential treatment will be accorded to such portion of the Confidential Information required to be disclosed as Blackbaud shall designate.

5.2 Publicity. No public release or announcement concerning the Transactions shall be issued by Blackbaud, the Company, the Stockholders or their
respective Affiliates or Representatives without the prior written consent of Blackbaud and the Stockholder Representative (such consent not to be unreasonably
withheld, delayed or conditioned).
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5.3 Reasonable Efforts. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, in furtherance and not in limitation of the covenants of the parties contained
in this Article V, if any objection is asserted or any administrative or judicial action or proceeding, including any proceeding by a private party, is instituted (or
threatened to be instituted) challenging any of the Transactions as violative of any Law, each party shall cooperate in all respects with each other and use its
respective commercially reasonable efforts to resolve any such objections or challenge and resist any such action or proceeding and to have vacated, lifted,
reversed or overturned any decree, judgment, injunction or other order, whether temporary, preliminary or permanent, that is in effect and that prohibits, prevents
or restricts consummation of the Transactions.

5.4 Additional Documents and Further Assurances. Each party hereto, at the request of another party hereto, shall execute and deliver such other
instruments and do and perform such other acts and things as may be necessary or desirable for effecting completely the consummation of the Transactions.

5.5 Expenses. Each party hereto shall pay its respective Third-Party Transaction Expenses; provided, that if the Sale is consummated, Blackbaud shall pay
all Third-Party Transaction Expenses incurred by the Company in accordance with Section 1.3(d) hereof.

5.6 Employment Arrangements.

(a) On the Closing Date, Blackbaud shall offer “at will” employment by Blackbaud or a Subsidiary of Blackbaud (including, effective as of the
Closing, the Company) to the individuals set forth on Schedule 5.6(a)(i) who were Employees of the Company immediately prior to the Closing (including Key
Employees, the “Continuing Employees”). Schedule 5.6(a)(ii) sets forth which Continuing Employees (the “Key Employees”) must execute employment
agreements with Blackbaud, substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B (the “Blackbaud Employment Agreements”) at or prior to the Closing and the
salaries to be provided by Blackbaud or its Subsidiary to each such Key Employee under the Blackbaud Employment Agreements.

(b) At or prior to the Closing, the Company shall terminate the employment of those Employees listed on Schedule 5.6(b)(i) (the “Non-Continuing
Employees”), and such Schedule 5.6(b)(i) sets forth the maximum amounts to be paid to such Employees by the Company in connection with the termination of
their employment, and noting the contractually obligated amounts as of the Closing. If the Company pays more than the amount set forth on Schedule 5.6(b)(i)
after the Closing without the prior written consent of the Stockholder Representative, the payments in excess of such amounts shall not be considered Company
Transaction Expenses for purposes of this Agreement, notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein. Schedule 5.6(b)(ii) sets forth a list of which
Non-Continuing Employees must execute at or prior to the Closing a Non-Continuing Employee Severance Agreement and Release substantially in the form
attached hereto as Exhibit C or in such other form as is reasonably acceptable to Blackbaud (the “Non-Continuing Employee Severance Agreement and
Releases”). The Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to obtain from each Non-Continuing Employee upon their termination a Non-Continuing
Employee Severance Agreement and Release. The Company shall not pay any severance to any Non-Continuing Employee who is terminated and does not sign a
Non-Continuing Employee Severance Agreement and Release (except as may otherwise be required by law or by the express terms of agreements identified in
the Schedule of Exceptions as containing severance arrangements). Blackbaud hereby acknowledges that at or prior to the Closing, the Company may transfer and
assign to each Non-Continuing Employee any life insurance policy held by the Company on the life of such Non-Continuing Employee, so long as the Non-
Continuing Employee assumes in connection with such transfer and assignment all premiums payments and other obligations under the policy.
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(c) At or prior to the Closing, the Company shall terminate the services of its independent contractors, Paul Davenport and Sudha Nimmagadda, and
Zanbar Capital Management, LLC (“Zanbar Capital Management”) (collectively, the “Terminated Consultants”). The Company shall obtain from Zanbar Capital
Management and use its commercially reasonable efforts to obtain from each of the other Terminated Consultants a severance agreement and release dated the
date of such Terminated Consultant’s termination of service with the Company in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Blackbaud and attached hereto as
Exhibit D (“Consultant Severance Agreement and Release”).

5.7 Consents. The Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain the consents, waivers and approvals, and to timely provide notices of
assignment, under any of the Contracts to which it is a party deemed appropriate or necessary by Blackbaud in connection with the Transactions, including all
consents, waivers, approvals and notices of assignment set forth in Schedule 6.1(b), so as to preserve all rights of, and benefits to, the Company thereunder from
and after the Closing.

5.8 Tax Matters.

(a) Tax Returns for Periods Ending Before the Closing Date. The Stockholder Representative shall prepare or cause to be prepared and file or cause
to be filed all Tax Returns for the Company for all periods ending prior to the Closing Date which are filed on or after the Closing Date (“Pre-Closing Tax
Periods”), which Tax Returns will be prepared consistent with past practice of the Company except as otherwise required by applicable Law; provided, that the
parties agree that the Company may seek a research and development tax credit for the 2010 tax year. In the case of any Tax Returns for Pre-Closing Tax Periods,
the Stockholder Representative shall provide such Tax Returns to Blackbaud for its review and consent no later than sixty (60) days after the Closing Date. The
Stockholders shall be responsible for and shall indemnify Blackbaud in accordance with Article VII hereof from and against any Tax with respect to the Company
that is attributable to any Pre-Closing Tax Periods; provided, however, that with respect to any Tax Return for any Pre-Closing Tax Period that has been agreed
upon by Blackbaud and the Stockholder Representative (including the amount of Taxes stated as due and payable therein), in lieu of the procedures contained in
Section 7.5 hereof, Blackbaud and the Stockholder Representative agree to provide joint written instructions to the Escrow Agent to disburse to Blackbaud funds
from the Escrow Account equal to the amount of Taxes stated as due and payable in such Tax Returns within five (5) Business Days after Blackbaud’s written
request to the Stockholder Representative for such disbursement.

(b) Tax Returns for Periods Beginning Before and Ending After the Closing Date. Blackbaud shall prepare or cause to be prepared and file or cause
to be filed any and all Tax Returns of the Company for a Tax period that begins before the Closing Date and ends on or after the Closing Date (each a “Straddle
Tax Period”), which Tax Returns will be prepared consistent with the past practices of the Company except as otherwise required by applicable law. The
Stockholders shall be responsible for and shall indemnify Blackbaud in accordance with Article VII hereof from and against any Tax with respect to the Company
that is attributable to that portion of a Straddle Tax Period that ends on the day immediately prior to the Closing Date; provided, however, that with respect to any
Tax Return for any Straddle Tax Period that has been agreed upon by Blackbaud and the Stockholder Representative (including the amount of Taxes stated as due
and payable therein), in lieu of the procedures contained in Section 7.5 hereof, Blackbaud and the Stockholder Representative agree to provide joint written
instructions to the Escrow Agent to disburse to Blackbaud funds from the Escrow Account equal to the amount of Taxes stated as due and payable in such Tax
Return within five (5) Business Days after Blackbaud’s written request to the Stockholder Representative for such disbursement. Blackbaud shall provide such
Tax Returns to the Stockholder Representative for its review and consent at least sixty (60) days prior to their filing due date and, to the extent any Tax shown as
due on any such Tax Return could reasonably be expected to be payable by the Stockholders, Blackbaud shall make such revisions to such
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Tax Returns as are reasonably requested by the Stockholder Representative. For purposes of this Section 5.8(b), in the case of any Taxes that are imposed on a
periodic basis and are payable for a Straddle Tax Period, the portion of such Tax that relates to the portion of such Taxable period ending on the day immediately
prior to the Closing Date shall (i) in the case of any Taxes other than Taxes based upon or related to income or receipts, be deemed to be the amount of such Tax
for the entire Tax period multiplied by a fraction the numerator of which is the number of days in the Tax period ending on the day immediately prior to the
Closing Date and the denominator of which is the number of days in the entire Tax period, and (ii) in the case of any Tax based upon or related to income or
receipts, be determined and apportioned using an interim closing of the books as of the close of business on the day immediately prior to Closing Date.

(c) Cooperation on Tax Matters. Blackbaud, the Company and the Stockholder Representative shall cooperate fully in connection with the
preparation and filing of Tax Returns and any audit, litigation or other proceeding with respect to Taxes for any earlier taxable period of the Company. Such
cooperation shall include the retention and (upon another party’s request) the provision of records and information which are reasonably relevant to any such Tax
Return, audit, litigation or other proceeding and making employees available on a mutually convenient basis to provide additional information and explanation of
any material provided hereunder, to the extent reasonably available to such party. Blackbaud agrees (i) to retain all books and records with respect to Tax matters
pertinent to the Company relating to any taxable period beginning before the Closing Date until the expiration of the statute of limitations (and, to the extent
notified by the Stockholder Representative, any extensions thereof) of the respective taxable periods, and to abide by all record retention agreements entered into
with any governmental entity and (ii) to give the Stockholder Representative reasonable written notice prior to transferring, destroying or discarding any such
books and records and, if the Stockholder Representative so requests, to allow the Stockholder Representative to take possession of such books and records.

(d) Transfer Taxes. All transfer, documentary, sales, use, stamp, registration and other such Taxes, and all conveyance fees, recording charges and
other fees and charges (including any penalties and interest) incurred by the Stockholders in connection with the consummation of the Transactions will be paid
by or on behalf of the Stockholders when due, and each Stockholder will, at its own expense, file or cause to be filed all necessary Tax Returns and other
documentation with respect to all such Taxes, fees and charges, and, if required by applicable law, the parties will, and will cause their Affiliates to, join in the
execution of any such Tax Returns and other documentation.

5.9 Preservation of Records. The Company agrees, and Blackbaud agrees to cause the Company to act in such a manner, to preserve and keep the records
held by it as of the Closing relating to the business of the Company for a period of seven (7) years from the Closing Date and to make such records and its
personnel available to the Stockholder Representative as may be reasonably required in connection with, among other things, any insurance claims by, Tax audits
against, legal proceedings by or against, or governmental investigations of, the Stockholders or any of the Affiliates, or in order to enable the Stockholders to
comply with their respective obligations or enforce their rights under this Agreement and the Related Agreements.

5.10 Termination of Stockholders’ Agreement. The Company and each Stockholder hereby (i) agrees that, effective as of the Closing, the Stockholders’
Agreement, dated as of December 31, 2009 (the “Stockholders’ Agreement”), by and between the Company and each of the Stockholders is and shall be
terminated and (ii) releases, effective as of the Closing, any and all claims arising under or related to the Stockholders’ Agreement that such party may have
against any other party to the Stockholders’ Agreement.
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ARTICLE VI

CLOSING DELIVERIES

6.1 Closing Deliverables of the Company and the Stockholders. At or prior to the Closing, the Company, the Stockholder Representative and/or the
Stockholders shall deliver, or cause to be delivered, to Blackbaud, the following:

(a) the Escrow Agreement in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit A, duly executed by the Stockholder Representative and the Escrow
Agent;

(b) written evidence reasonably acceptable to Blackbaud that the consents, approvals, permissions, acknowledgements or notices listed on Schedule
6.1(b) have been obtained or made;

(c) written evidence reasonable acceptable to Blackbaud that the Company has terminated each of those agreements listed on Schedule 6.1(c);

(d) written evidence reasonably acceptable to Blackbaud that the Company has amended each of those agreements listed on Schedule 6.1(d) in the
manner specified on Schedule 6.1(d), and that each such agreement is in full force and effect, as amended;

(e) a legal opinion from outside legal counsel to the Company, substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit E;

(f) a certificate, validly executed by the Secretary of the Company, certifying as to (i) a copy, and the effectiveness, of the Company Charter
Documents and (ii) the incumbency of the executive officers of the Company;

(g) a long-form certificate of good standing for the Company from the Secretary of State of the Commonwealth of Virginia, dated within ten
(10) Business Days prior to the Closing Date;

(h) a Certificate of Legal Existence of the Company or similar certificate in each state where the Company is qualified to do business, dated within
ten (10) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, certifying as to the good standing of the Company in such respective state;

(i) a statement properly and validly executed by a duly authorized officer of the Company in a form reasonably acceptable to Blackbaud for purposes
of satisfying Blackbaud’s obligations under Treasury Regulation Section 1.1445 2(c)(3);

(j) the Estimated Closing Statement, certified by the chief executive officer of the Company;

(k) evidence reasonably acceptable to Blackbaud that the Company has terminated the services of each of the Non-Continuing Employees effective
prior to or as of the Closing and copies of Non-Continuing Employee Severance Agreement and Releases duly executed by each of the Non-Continuing
Employees identified on Schedule 5.6(b)(ii) and any other Non-Continuing Employee Severance Agreement and Releases entered into at or prior to the Closing;

(l) Blackbaud Employment Agreements for each of the Key Employees, duly executed by such Key Employee;
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(m) Noncompetition Agreements in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit F, duly executed by each of the Persons identified on Schedule
6.1(m);

(n) evidence reasonably acceptable to Blackbaud that the Company has terminated the services of each of the Terminated Consultants effective as of
the Closing and a copy of the Consultant Severance Agreement and Release for Zanbar Capital Management and any other Consultant Severance Agreement and
Releases with any other Terminated Consultant entered into at or prior to the Closing;

(o) a written resignation from each of the officers and directors of the Company effective as of the Closing;

(p) evidence reasonably acceptable to Blackbaud that the Company has terminated all stock options and stock appreciation, phantom stock, profit
participation and/or similar rights held by any Person with respect to the Company effective at or prior to the Closing;

(q) the Company shall have provided Blackbaud payoff letters from each creditor that is owed Closing Company Indebtedness (including Zanbar) in
a form reasonably satisfactory to Blackbaud;

(r) the Company shall have delivered to Blackbaud executed documents reasonably satisfactory to Blackbaud to allow the Company, effective as of
the Closing, to transfer all Company bank account authorizations to representatives designated by Blackbaud; and

(s) stock certificates or duly executed affidavits of lost stock certificates evidencing all of the Shares, along with duly executed stock powers.

6.2 Closing Deliverables of Blackbaud. At or prior to the Closing, Blackbaud shall deliver, or cause to be delivered, to the Stockholder Representative, the
following:

(a) the Escrow Agreement substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A, duly executed by Blackbaud and the Escrow Agent;

(b) copies of Blackbaud Employment Agreements for each of the Key Employees, duly executed by Blackbaud; and

(c) written evidence reasonably acceptable to the Stockholder Representative that Blackbaud shall have made all of the payments required by
Section 1.3 hereof.

ARTICLE VII

INDEMNIFICATION AND ESCROW

7.1 Survival of Representations and Warranties.

(a) By the Company and the Stockholders. The representations and warranties of the Company and the Stockholders contained in this Agreement
shall survive for a period of fifteen (15) months following the Closing Date (the date of expiration of such fifteen (15) month period, the “Survival Date”);
provided, however, that the representations and warranties of the Company in Section 2.2 (Company Capital Structure) and Section 2.4 (Authority) and the
representations and warranties of each of the Stockholders in Section 3.1 (Stockholder Title to Shares) and Section 3.2 (Authority) (each an
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“Indefinite Representation”) shall survive indefinitely, and the representations and warranties of the Company contained in Section 2.10 (Tax Matters), and
Section 2.21 (Environmental, Health and Safety Matters) (each of such representations and warranties, a “Special Representation”) shall have a Survival Date of
ninety (90) days after the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations. If an indemnification claim is properly asserted in writing pursuant to Section 7.5
prior to the expiration (as provided in this Section 7.1(a)) of the representation or warranty that is the basis for such claim, then such representation or warranty
shall survive beyond the Survival Date until, but only for the purpose of, the resolution of such claim. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this
Agreement, no claim for indemnification may be made by a Blackbaud Indemnified Party unless written notice of such claim satisfying the requirements of
Section 7.5 is received by the Stockholder Representative on or prior to the Survival Date for such claim.

(b) By Blackbaud. The representations and warranties of Blackbaud contained in this Agreement shall survive the Closing.

7.2 Indemnification by the Stockholders.

(a) Incurred Losses for Company Breaches. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Article VII, from and after the Closing, the Stockholders shall
jointly and severally indemnify Blackbaud and its officers, directors and Affiliates (including, after the Closing, the Company) (any, an “Blackbaud Indemnified
Party” and collectively, the “Blackbaud Indemnified Parties”), for any claims, losses, liabilities, damages, deficiencies, costs and expenses, including reasonable
attorneys’ fees and reasonable out-of-pocket expenses of investigation and defense (hereinafter individually a “Loss” and collectively “Losses”) paid, incurred,
accrued or sustained by such Blackbaud Indemnified Parties, or any of them (including, after the Closing, the Company), directly or indirectly, as a result of:

(i) any breach or inaccuracy of a representation or warranty of the Company contained in this Agreement;

(ii) any failure by (A) the Company to perform or comply with any covenant or other agreement applicable to it contained in this Agreement
(or any Related Agreement to which it is party) that is required to be performed at or prior to the Closing or (B) the Stockholder Representative to comply with
any covenant or other agreement applicable to it contained in this Agreement or any Related Agreement to which it is a party;

(iii) any Tax imposed on or relating to the Company with respect to any Pre-Closing Tax Period or any portion of a Straddle Tax Period that
ends prior to the Closing Date;

(iv) any payment by the Company after the Closing under any guarantee issued and outstanding as of the Closing for the indebtedness of any
third party; and

(v) any Liability of the Company arising out of or related to any failure to file and pay over amounts in connection with unclaimed property
Tax Returns and/or any violations of escheat laws.

(b) Incurred Losses for Stockholder Breaches. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Article VII, from and after the Closing, each Stockholder
shall severally, but not jointly, indemnify the Blackbaud Indemnified Parties for any Losses paid, incurred, accrued or sustained by such Blackbaud Indemnified
Parties, or any of them (including, after the Closing, the Company), as a result of:

(i) any breach or inaccuracy of a representation or warranty of such Stockholder contained in this Agreement; and
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(ii) any failure by such Stockholder to perform or comply with any covenant or other agreement applicable to it contained in this Agreement
or any Related Agreement to which it is a party.

7.3 Indemnification by Blackbaud. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Article VII, from and after the Closing, Blackbaud shall indemnify the
Stockholders and their Affiliates and their and their Affiliates’ respective officers, directors, agents, representatives, successors and assigns (any of the foregoing,
a “Stockholder Indemnified Party” and collectively, the “Stockholder Indemnified Parties” and, each of the Stockholder Indemnified Parties and the Blackbaud
Indemnified Parties being, an “Indemnified Party”) for any Losses paid, incurred, accrued or sustained by such Stockholder Indemnified Parties, or any of them,
as a result of:

(a) any breach or inaccuracy of a representation or warranty of Blackbaud contained in this Agreement; and

(b) any failure by Blackbaud to perform or comply with any covenant or other agreement applicable to it contained in this Agreement (including any
covenant by or with respect to the Company after the Closing) or any Related Agreement to which Blackbaud or the Company is a party, including the Escrow
Agreement.

7.4 Calculation of Losses; Limitations on Indemnification.

(a) Thresholds. Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, except as set forth in the last sentence of this Section 7.4(a), no
Blackbaud Indemnified Party may recover any amounts under this Agreement with respect to any Loss unless (i) such individual Loss exceeds $20,000 (the
“Individual Threshold Amount”) or (ii) the aggregate of all such individual Losses less than the Individual Threshold Amount (“Covered Losses”) exceeds
$210,000 (the “Aggregate Threshold Amount”), in which case the Blackbaud Indemnified Parties shall be entitled to recover all Covered Losses from the first
dollar. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Blackbaud Indemnified Parties shall be entitled to recover for, and the Individual Threshold Amount and the Aggregate
Threshold Amount, shall not apply as thresholds to, any and all claims or payments made with respect to (1) any Losses incurred pursuant to clauses (iii), (iv) or
(v) of Section 7.2(a) hereof, (2) claims based on fraud or intentional misrepresentation or intentional breach of a covenant contained herein or (3) any breach or
inaccuracy of an Indefinite Representation or Special Representation.

(b) Maximum Payment. Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, the maximum aggregate amount for which the Blackbaud
Indemnified Parties may recover pursuant to this Article VII and Section 1.5, in the aggregate, shall be limited to an amount equal to twenty-five percent (25%) of
the Closing Purchase Price, except for (1) claims or payments made with respect to any Losses incurred pursuant to clause (iii) of Section 7.2(a) hereof,
(2) claims based on fraud or (3) claims or payments made with respect to any breach or inaccuracy of an Indefinite Representation or Special Representation;
provided, that in no event shall the Blackbaud Indemnified Parties recover, directly or indirectly (including through the Escrow Account), from the Stockholders
(except for (x) claims or payments made with respect to any Losses incurred pursuant to clause (iii) of Section 7.2(a) hereof or (y) claims that are based on fraud)
an aggregate amount greater than, and the Stockholders’ aggregate maximum liability under this Agreement to the Blackbaud Indemnified Parties shall not
exceed an amount equal to the Closing Purchase Price. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, any claims by Blackbaud Indemnified Parties under this
Agreement shall first be applied against the Escrow Account before the Blackbaud Indemnified Parties may seek recovery directly against a Stockholder.
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(c) Materiality; No Right of Contribution. For the purpose of quantifying an Indemnified Party’s Losses under this Article VII only (and not for
determining whether there has been any breach of this Agreement for which an Indemnified Party is entitled to indemnification under this Agreement), any
representation or warranty given or made by Blackbaud, the Company or the Stockholders that is qualified in scope as to materiality (including Blackbaud
Material Adverse Effect and Company Material Adverse Effect) shall be deemed to be made or given without such qualification. The Stockholders shall have no
right of contribution from the Company with respect to any Loss claimed by a Blackbaud Indemnified Party.

(d) Treatment of Indemnification Payments. All indemnification payments under this Agreement shall be treated as an adjustment to the Closing
Purchase Price.

(e) Damages. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, Losses shall not include, and no party shall not be liable for
(directly or indirectly through the Escrow Account), any consequential, incidental, indirect, exemplary, special or punitive damages, including any loss of future
revenue, income or profits, diminution of value or loss of business reputation or opportunity, except to the extent claimed by a third party in a third party claim for
which an Indemnified Party is entitled to indemnification in accordance with the terms of this Article VII.

(f) Excess Recovery. If any Indemnified Party collects an amount in discharge of a claim in respect of a Loss pursuant to this Article VII and such
Indemnified Party (or an Affiliate thereof) subsequently recovers from a third party a sum which is referable to that claim in respect of such breach (such that the
Indemnified Party has received an amount in connection therewith in excess of its related Losses) (such excess recovery, the “Excess Recovery”), such
Indemnified Party shall (or, as appropriate, shall procure that such Affiliate shall) forthwith repay to the indemnifying party or parties an amount equal to the
Excess Recovery less any costs or expenses incurred by the Indemnified Party in procuring the Excess Recovery (but no more than the amount paid by or on
behalf of the indemnifying parties to the Indemnified Party pursuant to this Article VII).

(g) Insurance; Tax Losses. In the event any Losses by any Indemnified Party are covered by insurance or any indemnity, contribution or other similar
right against a third party, each Indemnified Party agrees to use commercially reasonable efforts to seek recovery under such insurance or indemnity, contribution
or similar right. The amount of Losses otherwise recoverable under this Article VII shall be limited to the amount of any liability or damage that remains after
deducting therefrom (i) any insurance proceeds and any indemnity, contribution or other similar cash payment actually received by the Indemnified Parties from
any third party with respect thereto or (ii) any tax savings actually realized by the Indemnified Parties in connection with such Loss.

(h) Subrogation. Upon making an indemnity payment pursuant to this Agreement, the indemnifying parties will, to the extent of such payment, be
subrogated to all rights of the Indemnified Party against any third party in respect of the third party claims to which the payment related. Without limiting the
generality of any other provision hereof, each such Indemnified Party and the indemnifying parties will duly execute upon request all instruments reasonably
necessary to evidence and perfect the above described subrogation rights.

(i) Mitigation. Each Indemnified Party shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to mitigate its expected Losses upon and after becoming aware
of any event or condition that would reasonable be expected to give rise to any Losses that are indemnifiable hereunder, including responding to Losses in the
same manner as the applicable party would respond to such Losses in the absence of the indemnification provisions of this Agreement.
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(j) No Duplication. Any Losses for which any Indemnified Party is entitled to indemnification under this Article VII shall be determined without
duplication of recovery by reason of the state of facts giving rise to such Losses constituting a breach of more than one representation, warranty, covenant or
agreement.

(k) Purchase Price Adjustments. No Stockholder shall have any indemnity obligations under this Article VII with respect to any amount resulting in
a claim to the extent that such amount will result or has resulted in a decrease to the amount paid to, or an increase in the amount paid by, the Stockholders under
Section 1.5 hereof.

(l) No Rescindment. Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, no breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement contained
herein shall give rise to any right on the part of any party hereto, after the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, to rescind this Agreement or
any of the transactions contemplated hereby.

(m) Remedies Exclusive. Except for claims based on fraud and actions for specific performance permitted by Section 8.10 hereof, from and after the
Closing, the rights of the Indemnified Parties to indemnification relating to this Agreement or the Transactions shall be strictly limited to those contained in this
Article VII, and other than as expressly set forth in this Agreement, including Sections 1.4 and 1.5 hereof, such indemnification rights shall be the exclusive
remedies of the Indemnified Parties subsequent to the Closing with respect to any matter in any way relating to this Agreement or the Transactions or arising in
connection herewith.

7.5 Claims for Indemnification.

(a) Procedure for Claims. If a Blackbaud Indemnified Party wishes to assert a claim for indemnification under this Article VII (other than a third-
party claim covered by Section 7.5(b) below and or as expressly set forth in Section 5.8 hereof), Blackbaud shall deliver to the Stockholder Representative (and,
if prior to the Release Date, the Escrow Agent) prior to 11:59 p.m. on the Survival Date a certificate (an “Claim Certificate”) signed by any officer of Blackbaud
(and if the Blackbaud Indemnified Party is not Blackbaud, such Blackbaud Indemnified Party) (A) stating that such Blackbaud Indemnified Party has paid,
sustained, incurred or accrued, or reasonably anticipates in good faith that it will have to pay, sustain, incur or accrue Losses subject to indemnification by the
Stockholders under Section 7.2 hereof (after taking into account the provisions of this Article VII, including Section 7.4 hereof) (B) specifying the amount of
such Losses (the aggregate amount of such Losses being referred to as the “Claimed Amount”), (C) specifying in reasonable detail the facts pertinent to such
claim(s), the individual items of Losses included in the amount so stated, the date each such item was paid, sustained, incurred or properly accrued, and the nature
of the basis for indemnification under Section 7.2 to which such item is related, including, if applicable, the representation, warranty, covenant or agreement of
the Company or the Stockholders which has been breached, (D) authorizing and granting power of attorney to Blackbaud to act on behalf of such Blackbaud
Indemnified Party in connection with such indemnification claim if the Blackbaud Indemnified Party is not Blackbaud and (E) demanding payment of the
Claimed Amount. If a Stockholder Indemnified Party wishes to assert a claim for indemnification under this Article VII (other than a third-party claim covered by
Section 7.5(b) below), the Stockholder Representative shall deliver to Blackbaud a Claim Certificate signed by the Stockholder’s Representative and the
Stockholder Indemnified Party (A) stating that such Stockholder Indemnified Party has paid, sustained, incurred, or accrued Losses subject to indemnification by
Blackbaud under Section 7.3 hereof, (B) specifying the Claimed Amount, (C) specifying in reasonable detail the facts pertinent to such
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claim(s), the individual items of Losses included in the amount so stated, the date each such item was paid, sustained, incurred or properly accrued, and the nature
of the basis for indemnification under Section 7.3 to which such item is related, including, if applicable, the representation, warranty, covenant or agreement of
the Company or the Stockholders which has been breached, and (D) demanding payment of the Claimed Amount. Within thirty (30) days after delivery of any
such Claim Certificate, the recipient of such Claim Certificate, the Stockholder Representative or Blackbaud, as applicable, as the representative of the
indemnifying party or parties (the “Indemnifying Party Representative”), shall deliver to the Stockholder Representative or Blackbaud, as applicable, as the
representative of the Indemnified Party (the “Indemnified Party Representative”) a written response in which the Indemnifying Party Representative shall either:
(I) agree that the Indemnified Party is entitled to receive all of the Claimed Amount (and if the Indemnified Party is (x) a Blackbaud Indemnified Party,
Blackbaud and the Stockholder Representative shall promptly provide joint written instructions to the Escrow Agent to disburse funds from the Escrow Account
to the Indemnified Party in an amount equal to the Claimed Amount or (y) a Stockholder Indemnified Party, Blackbaud shall promptly pay the Stockholder
Indemnified Party an amount equal to the Claimed Amount), (II) agree that the Indemnified Party is entitled to receive part, but not all, of the Claimed Amount
(the “Agreed Amount”) (and if the Indemnified Party is (x) a Blackbaud Indemnified Party, Blackbaud and the Stockholder Representative shall promptly provide
joint written instructions to the Escrow Agent to disburse funds from the Escrow Account to the Indemnified Party in an amount equal to the Agreed Amount or
(y) a Stockholder Indemnified Party, Blackbaud shall promptly pay the Stockholder Indemnified Party an amount equal to the Agreed Amount) or (III) contest
that the Indemnified Party is entitled to receive any of the Claimed Amount. If the Indemnifying Party Representative in such response contests the payment of all
or part of the Claimed Amount, then the Indemnifying Party Representative and the Indemnified Party Representative shall use good faith efforts to resolve such
dispute in accordance with Section 7.5(c) below.

(b) Procedure for Third Party Claims. All claims for indemnification made under this Agreement resulting from, related to or arising out of a third-
party claim against an Indemnified Party shall be made in accordance with the following procedures. In the event an Indemnified Party becomes aware of a third
party claim which such Indemnified Party reasonably believes may result in a Loss for which such Indemnified Party is entitled to indemnification under this
Article VII, the Indemnified Party Representative shall promptly notify the Indemnifying Party Representative of such claim by delivery of a Claim Certificate to
the Indemnifying Party Representative. Delay or failure in so notifying the Indemnifying Party Representative shall relieve the indemnifying parties of their
obligations under this Article VII only to the extent, if at all, that the indemnifying parties are prejudiced by reason of such delay or failure. If there is a third party
claim that, if adversely determined would give rise to a right of recovery for Losses under this Article VII after taking into account the provisions of Section 7.4
hereof, then any amounts incurred or accrued by or on behalf of the Indemnified Party in defense of such third party claim, regardless of the outcome of such
claim, shall be deemed Losses of the Indemnified Party hereunder. Within thirty (30) days after delivery of such Claim Certificate, the Indemnifying Party
Representative may, upon written notice thereof to the Indemnified Party Representative, assume control of the defense of such action, suit, proceeding or claim
(including the compromise or settlement thereof) if (i) the Indemnifying Party Representative provides written notice to Indemnified Party Representative that the
Indemnifying Party Representative intends to undertake such defense; (ii) the Indemnifying Party Representative provides the Indemnified Party Representative
with evidence reasonably acceptable to Indemnified Party Representative that the indemnifying parties will have the financial resources to defend against the
third-party claimant and fulfill their indemnification obligations hereunder (provided, that if the indemnifying parties with respect to such third-party claim are the
Stockholders, if there are sufficient Escrow Funds in the Escrow Account, after taking into account all other pending claims, to pay for the full amount of the third
party claim, including the reasonably anticipated costs and expenses of defending such claim, the Stockholder Representative shall not be required to provide any
further evidence
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hereunder); (iii) the third-party claim involves only monetary damages and does not seek an injunction or other equitable relief; and (iv) the defense of the third-
party claim is conducted actively and diligently by legal counsel reasonably acceptable to the Indemnified Party Representative. If the Indemnifying Party
Representative does not assume control of such defense, the Indemnified Party Representative shall control such defense on behalf of the Indemnified Party.
Whichever party is not controlling such defense may participate therein at the expense of the Person it is representing; provided, however, that if the
Indemnifying Party Representative assumes control of such defense and the Indemnified Party Representative reasonably concludes, based on the written advice
of independent counsel, that the indemnifying parties and the Indemnified Party have conflicting interests with respect to such action, suit, proceeding or claim,
where representation of both the indemnifying parties and the Indemnified Party by the same counsel would be prohibited by rules or regulations governing the
professional conduct of such counsel, the reasonable out-of-pocket fees and expenses of independent counsel to the Indemnified Party solely in connection
therewith shall be considered “Losses” for purposes of this Agreement; provided, further, however, that in no event shall the indemnified parties be responsible
for the fees and expenses of more than one counsel for all Indemnified Parties. The party controlling such defense shall keep the other party reasonably advised of
the status of such action, suit, proceeding or claim and the defense thereof and shall consider recommendations made by the other party with respect thereto. The
party not controlling the defense (and, if such party is a Blackbaud Indemnified Party, Blackbaud and the Company) shall (i) provide to the party controlling the
defense and its counsel reasonable access during normal business hours to their respective records and personnel relating to any third party claim and
(ii) reasonably cooperate with the party conducting the defense in the defense or settlement thereof. The Indemnified Party shall not agree to any settlement of
such action, suit, proceeding or claim without the prior written consent of the Indemnifying Party Representative, not to be unreasonably withheld, delayed or
conditioned. If the Stockholder Representative is the Indemnifying Party Representative, the Stockholder Representative shall not agree to any settlement of such
action, suit, proceeding or claim that does not include a complete release by the settling third party of all potential Blackbaud Indemnified Parties from all
Liability with respect to such action, suit, proceeding or claim or that imposes any Liability on any other Blackbaud Indemnified Party without the prior written
consent of such Blackbaud Indemnified Party, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned. If Blackbaud is the Indemnifying Party
Representative, Blackbaud shall not agree to any settlement of such action, suit, proceeding or claim that does not include a complete release by the settling third
party of all potential Stockholder Indemnified Parties from all Liability with respect to such action, suit, proceeding or claim or that imposes any Liability on any
other Stockholder Indemnified Party without the prior written consent of such Stockholder Indemnified Party, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld,
delayed or conditioned.

(c) Resolution of Conflicts. In case the Indemnifying Party Representative shall object in writing to any claim or claims made in any Claim
Certificate, including the indemnifying parties’ obligations to indemnify an Indemnified Party for a third party claim described therein, the Indemnifying Party
Representative and the Indemnified Party Representative shall attempt in good faith to agree upon the rights of the respective parties with respect to each of such
claims within forty-five (45) days following the delivery by the Indemnifying Party Representative of its response to such Claim Certificate. If the Indemnifying
Party Representative and the Indemnified Party Representative should so agree, a memorandum setting forth such agreement shall be prepared and signed by both
parties on behalf of themselves and the Persons they are representing in connection with such claim. If the Stockholders are the indemnifying parties and payment
from the Escrow Account is required at such time in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and such memorandum, Blackbaud and the Stockholder
Representative shall deliver joint written instructions to the Escrow Agent to disburse Escrowed Funds to the Blackbaud Indemnified Party in accordance with
such memorandum. If Blackbaud is the indemnifying party and payment is required at such time in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and such
memorandum, Blackbaud shall promptly pay such amounts to the Stockholder Indemnified Parties.
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7.6 Escrow. The Escrow Agent shall hold the funds in the Escrow Account (the “Escrow Funds”) in accordance with the terms of the Escrow Agreement
for the purpose of securing the indemnification obligations of the Stockholders set forth in this Article VII and for any amounts owed by the Stockholders after
the Closing under Section 1.5 of this Agreement. The Escrow Funds shall be held in an interest-bearing account, with the interest accruing in favor of the
Stockholders but subject to recovery by Blackbaud under this Article VII or under Section 1.5 hereof. Within five (5) Business Days after the Release Date, the
Escrow Agent shall pay to the Stockholders the Escrow Funds (including any accrued interest thereon and without regard to any income Taxes payable by
Blackbaud on such interest) not previously released to Blackbaud and retain any Escrow Funds subject to unsatisfied claims specified in any Claim Certificate
delivered to the Stockholder Representative and the Escrow Agent prior to the 11:59 p.m. on the Release Date in accordance with the requirements of
Section 7.5(a) hereof. For purposes hereof, the “Release Date” shall mean the date that is fifteen (15) months after the Closing Date. Within five (5) Business
Days after all such claims have been resolved by settlement or judgment, the Escrow Agent shall deliver to the Stockholders the remaining Escrow Funds
(including any accrued interest thereon and without regard to any income Taxes payable by Blackbaud on such interest). Any deliveries of the Escrow Funds to
the Stockholders pursuant to this Section 7.6 shall be made in proportion to their Pro Rata Share. Blackbaud and the Stockholder Representative shall promptly
deliver joint written instructions to the Escrow Agent required pursuant to the terms of the Escrow Agreement to make the distributions required by this
Section 7.6.

7.7 Stockholder Representative.

(a) Each of the Stockholders, by the execution and delivery of this Agreement, hereby appoint the Stockholder Representative as such Stockholder’s
representative, attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution to act in the name, place and stead of such Stockholder, to act on behalf of such
Stockholder in any amendment of or litigation or dispute involving this Agreement, including defending, negotiating, settling or otherwise dealing with claims
under Sections 1.4 or 1.5 or Article VII hereof or under any Related Agreements, and to do or refrain from doing all such further acts and things, and to execute
all such documents, as the Stockholder Representative shall deem necessary or appropriate in conjunction with any of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement, including the power to: (i) to negotiate, execute and deliver all ancillary agreements, statements, certificates, notices, approvals, extensions, waivers,
undertakings, amendments and other documents required or permitted to be given in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement or any other Related Agreement; (ii) to give and receive all notices and communications to be given or received under this Agreement or any other
Related Agreement and to receive service of process in connection with any disputes or claims hereunder or thereunder; (iii) to authorize payment to any
Blackbaud Indemnified Party for the Escrow Funds in satisfaction of claims by any Blackbaud Indemnified Party, or to object to such payments, to agree to,
negotiation, enter into settlements and compromises of, and comply with orders of courts with respect to such claims or with respect to any other claim involving
a dispute between a Blackbaud Indemnified Party and a Stockholder relating to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby; and (iv) to take any and
all additional actions as is contemplated to be taken by or on behalf of the Stockholders by the terms of this Agreement.

(b) All decisions and actions by the Stockholder Representative, including any agreement between the Stockholder Representative and Blackbaud
relating to the defense or settlement of any claims for which the Stockholders may be required to indemnify Blackbaud pursuant to Article VII hereof, shall be
binding upon all of the Stockholders, and no Stockholder shall have the right to object, dissent, protest or otherwise contest the same.

(c) In connection with the performance of its rights and obligations hereunder, the Stockholder Representative shall have the right at any time and
from time to time to select and engage, at
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the cost and expense of the Stockholders, attorneys, accountants, investment bankers, advisors, consultants and clerical personnel and obtain such other
professional and expert assistance, maintain such records and incur other out-of-pocket expenses, as the Stockholder Representative may deem necessary or
desirable from time to time. The Stockholder Representative Fund shall be used to reimburse the Stockholder Representative for its out-of-pocket fees and
expenses and to pay other obligations to or of the Stockholder Representative in connection with this Section 7.7, or shall (to the extent not previously distributed
to the Stockholder Representative as provided for or subject to a claim by the Stockholder Representative) be distributed to the Stockholders (allocated to each in
accordance with their Pro Rata Share) at such time, and in such manner, as the Stockholder Representative directs. Upon the delivery of the Stockholder
Representative Amount to the Stockholder Representative by Blackbaud, the Stockholders, without act by them, shall be treated as having received from
Blackbaud such cash in accordance with their respective Pro Rata Share of the Stockholder Representative Amount and then as having deposited such cash into
the Stockholder Representative Fund.

(d) The Stockholder Representative shall not have any Liability for any act done or omitted hereunder as Stockholder Representative while acting in
good faith and in the exercise of reasonable judgment, and any act done or omitted pursuant to the advice of counsel shall be conclusive evidence of such good
faith. The Stockholders shall severally (based on their Pro Rata Share) indemnify the Stockholder Representative and hold it harmless against any Loss, Liability
or expense incurred without gross negligence or bad faith on the part of the Stockholder Representative and arising out of or in connection with the acceptance or
administration of its duties hereunder, including any out-of-pocket costs and expenses and legal fees and other legal costs incurred by the Stockholder
Representative. The Stockholder Representative shall first use the amounts in the Stockholder Representative Fund before seeking any amounts directly from the
Stockholders. In the event that any Stockholder fails to promptly pay any amounts owed to the Stockholder Representative hereunder (after depletion of the
Stockholder Representative Fund), the Stockholder Representative is hereby authorized to direct Blackbaud and the Escrow Agent that all or any portion of any
amounts otherwise payable to such Stockholder under this Agreement or the Escrow Agreement be paid to the Stockholder Representative in satisfaction of
Blackbaud’s or the Escrow Agent’s obligations to make such payment under the terms of this Agreement and the Escrow Agreement, and to the extent such
payment is made to the Stockholder Representative, such Stockholder shall have no cause of action against Blackbaud or the Escrow Agent with respect to such
Stockholder’s failure to receive such payment. In no event shall the Stockholder Representative be liable hereunder or in connection herewith for any indirect,
punitive, exemplary, special, incidental or consequential damages. The Stockholder Representative shall be fully protected against the Stockholders in relying
upon any written notice, demand, certificate or document that it in good faith believes to be genuine, including facsimiles or copies thereof.

(e) No bond shall be required of the Stockholder Representative, and the Stockholder Representative shall not receive any compensation for its
services as Stockholder Representative.

(f) By its approval of the Sale and this Agreement, each Stockholder agrees, in addition to the foregoing, that:

(i) Blackbaud and any other Blackbaud Indemnified Party shall be entitled to rely conclusively on the instructions and decisions of the
Stockholder Representative as to (i) the settlement of any claims for indemnification by Blackbaud or such Blackbaud Indemnified Party pursuant to Article VII
hereof, or (ii) any other actions required or permitted to be taken by the Stockholder Representative hereunder, and no party hereunder shall have any cause of
action against Blackbaud or such Blackbaud Indemnified Party for any action taken by Blackbaud or such Blackbaud Indemnified Party in reliance upon the
instructions or decisions of the Stockholder Representative;
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(ii) all actions, decisions and instructions of the Stockholder Representative shall be conclusive and binding upon all of the Stockholders and
no Stockholder shall have any cause of action against the Stockholder Representative for any action taken, decision made or instruction given by the Stockholder
Representative under this Agreement, except for fraud or willful misconduct by the Stockholder Representative in connection with the matters described in this
Section 7.7;

(iii) the provisions of this Section 7.7 are independent and severable, are irrevocable and coupled with an interest and shall be enforceable
notwithstanding any rights or remedies that any Stockholder may have in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement;

(iv) remedies available at law for any breach of the provisions of this Section 7.7 are inadequate; therefore, each of Blackbaud and the
Stockholder Representative shall be entitled to seek temporary and permanent injunctive relief without the necessity of proving damages if Blackbaud or the
Stockholder Representative brings an action to enforce the provisions of this Section 7.7.

(g) The individual serving as the Stockholder Representative may resign (upon no less than ten (10) days prior notice to Blackbaud, the Escrow
Agent and each Stockholder). In the event of the death or permanent disability of the then Stockholder Representative, or if the then-acting Stockholder
Representative shall give notice of intent to resign, Stockholders with an aggregate Pro Rata Share of at least 50.1%, by written notice to Blackbaud and the
Escrow Agent, shall appoint a successor Stockholder Representative as soon as practicable, and in no event later than ten (10) days following such death,
permanent disability or notice of intent to resign. In addition, the individual serving as the Stockholder Representative may be replaced from time to time by
Stockholders with an aggregate Pro Rata Share of at least 66.7% upon not less than ten (10) days prior written notice to Blackbaud, the Escrow Agent and each
Stockholder. Each successor Stockholder Representative shall have all of the power, authority, rights and privileges conferred by this Agreement upon the original
Stockholder Representative, and the term “Stockholder Representative” as used herein shall be deemed to include any such successor Stockholder
Representatives.

(h) The provisions of this Section 7.7 shall be binding upon the executors, heirs, legal representatives, personal representatives, successor trustees
and successors of each Stockholder, and any references in this Agreement to a Stockholder or the Stockholders shall mean and include the successors to the rights
of the Stockholders hereunder, whether pursuant to testamentary disposition, the Laws of descent and distribution or otherwise. All of the indemnities,
immunities, releases and powers granted to the Stockholder Representative under this Agreement shall survive the Closing.

(i) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, in the event that any Stockholder fails to provide proper payment instructions to
Blackbaud or its Affiliates prior to the time that any payment from Blackbaud (or such Affiliate) is due to such Stockholder (or if there is a requirement under this
Agreement to provide payment instructions in advance of such payment, prior to the time that such instructions are required to be provided), Blackbaud (or such
Affiliate) shall instead make such payment to an account designated by the Stockholder Representative, who shall hold such amounts for distribution (without
interest) to such Stockholder promptly after the Stockholder Representative receives proper payment instructions from such Stockholder.
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ARTICLE VIII

GENERAL PROVISIONS

8.1 Amendments and Waivers. This Agreement may not be amended except by a writing signed by Blackbaud, the Company and the Stockholder
Representative. Only by a writing may the Stockholder Representative and, at or prior to the Closing, the Company, on the one hand, or Blackbaud and, after the
Closing, the Company, on the other hand, waive compliance by Blackbaud and, after the Closing, the Company or the Stockholder Representative and, at or prior
to the Closing, the Company, respectively, with any term or provision of this Agreement that such other party was or is obligated to comply with or perform.

8.2 Notices. All notices and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed duly delivered (i) three (3) Business Days after being
sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, (ii) one (1) Business Day after being sent for next Business Day delivery, fees
prepaid, via a reputable nationwide overnight courier service, or (iii) on the first Business Day following the date of confirmation of receipt of transmission by
facsimile, in each case to the intended recipient as set forth below:

(a) if to Blackbaud or, after the Closing, to the Company, to:

Blackbaud, Inc.
2000 Daniel Island Drive
Charleston, South Carolina 29492
Attention: Jon W. Olson, Vice-President and General Counsel
Facsimile No.: (843) 216-3676

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Wyrick Robbins Yates & Ponton LLP
4101 Lake Boone Trail, Suite 300
Raleigh, North Carolina 27607
Attention: Donald R. Reynolds
Facsimile No.: (919) 781-4865

(b) if to the Company at or prior to the Closing, to:

Public Interest Data, Inc.
1800 Diagonal Road, Suite 400
Alexandria, Virginia 22314
Attention: John Hennessey, Chief Executive Officer

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Holland & Knight LLP
1600 Tysons Boulevard, Suite 700
McLean, VA 22102
Attention: Michael Mannix, Esq.
Facsimile No.: (703) 720-8610
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(c) if to the Stockholder Representative, to:

Stephen W. Zautke
Zanbar Capital
11485 E. Troon Vista Dr.
Scottsdale, AZ 85255
Facsimile No.: (480) 248-2162

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Holland & Knight LLP
1600 Tysons Boulevard, Suite 700
McLean, VA 22102
Attention: Michael Mannix, Esq.
Facsimile No.: (703) 720-8610

(d) if to a Stockholder, to the address for such Stockholder set forth on Schedule I hereto, with copies to:

Stephen W. Zautke
Zanbar Capital
11485 E. Troon Vista Dr.
Scottsdale, AZ 85255
Facsimile No.: (480) 248-2162

and

Holland & Knight LLP
1600 Tysons Boulevard, Suite 700
McLean, VA 22102
Attention: Michael Mannix, Esq.
Facsimile No.: (703) 720-8610

8.3 Interpretation. The words “include,” “includes” and “including” when used herein shall be deemed in each case to be followed by the words “without
limitation.” The table of contents and headings contained in this Agreement are for reference purposes only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or
interpretation of this Agreement. All formulas in this Agreement (whether based upon words or numbers) will be calculated in a manner consistent with
mathematic rules and constructs (e.g., multiplication and division performed before addition and subtraction unless context indicates otherwise, an addition of a
negative number is a subtraction, a subtraction of a negative number is an addition, etc.). In this Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires: (a) words of
the masculine or neuter gender will include the masculine, neuter or feminine gender, and words in the singular number or in the plural number will each include,
as applicable, the singular number or the plural number; (b) reference to any Person includes such Person’s successors and assigns but, if applicable, only if such
successors and assigns are permitted by this Agreement, and reference to a Person in a particular capacity excludes such Person in any other capacity; (c) any
accounting term used and not otherwise defined in this Agreement or any Related Agreement has the meaning assigned to such term in accordance with GAAP;
(d) reference to any Law means such Law as amended, modified codified or reenacted, in whole or in part, and in effect from time to time, including rules and
regulations promulgated thereunder; (e) any agreement, instrument, insurance policy or Law defined or referred to herein or in any agreement or instrument that
is referred to herein means such agreement, instrument, insurance policy or Law as from
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time to time amended, modified or supplemented, including (in the case of agreements or instruments) by waiver or consent and (in the case of Laws) by
succession of comparable successor Laws and references to all attachments thereto and instruments incorporated therein; and (f) the term “or” means “and/or.”
The Schedule of Exceptions will be deemed incorporated into this Agreement.

8.4 Counterparts; Facsimiles. This Agreement may be executed by facsimile and in one or more counterparts, all of which shall be considered one and the
same agreement and shall become effective when one or more counterparts have been signed by each of the parties and delivered to the other party, it being
understood that all parties need not sign the same counterpart. Signatures delivered by facsimile or by electronic data file shall have the same effect as originals.

8.5 Entire Agreement; Assignment. This Agreement, the Schedule of Exceptions, and the documents and instruments and other agreements among the
parties hereto referenced herein: (i) constitute the entire agreement among the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersede all prior agreements
and understandings both written and oral, among the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof; (ii) are not intended to confer upon any other Person any
rights or remedies hereunder; and (iii) subject to Section 7.7(g) hereof, shall not be assigned by operation of law or otherwise without the prior written consent of
the parties hereto (with the Stockholder Representative authorized to provide such consent on behalf of Stockholders), except that Blackbaud may assign its rights
and delegate its obligations hereunder to its Affiliates so long as Blackbaud remains obligated to perform those obligations required to be performed by
Blackbaud hereunder. This Agreement will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

8.6 Schedule of Exceptions. The schedules, exhibits and the Schedule of Exceptions to this Agreement are a material part of this Agreement as if fully set
forth in this Agreement and are intended only to qualify and limit the representations, warranties and covenants contained in this Agreement, and will not be
deemed to expand in any way the scope or effect of any of such representations, warranties or covenants. Blackbaud hereby acknowledges and agrees that:
(i) certain agreements and other matters may be listed in the Schedule of Exceptions for informational purposes only, as they do not rise above applicable
materiality thresholds, they are not outside of the ordinary course of business or their disclosure is not otherwise required under the terms of this Agreement
(items that are not required to be disclosed but are disclosed, the “Informational Disclosures”); (ii) in no event will the Informational Disclosures be deemed or
interpreted to broaden or otherwise amplify or influence the construction or interpretation of any of the representations and warranties; (iii) disclosures made for
the purpose of any section or sections of the Schedule of Exceptions will be deemed made for the purpose of all sections so long as cross-references are made or
the applicability to the other section(s) is reasonably apparent on the face of such disclosure; (iv) headings in the Schedule of Exceptions have been inserted for
reference only and will not be deemed to modify or influence the interpretation of the information contained in the Schedule of Exceptions or this Agreement;
(v) no reference to or disclosure of any item or other matter in the Schedule of Exceptions will be construed as an admission or indication that such item or other
matter is material or outside of the ordinary course of business or that such item or other matter is required to be referred to or disclosed in the Schedule of
Exceptions or otherwise imply that any such item or matter creates a measure for materiality for the purposes of this Agreement; (vi) no disclosure in the
Schedule of Exceptions relating to any possible breach or violation of any agreement, law or regulation shall be construed as an admission or indication that any
such breach or violations exists or has actually occurred; (vii) the inclusion of any matter, information or item in the Schedule of Exceptions will not be deemed to
constitute an admission of any liability by Company or its Subsidiaries to any third party; and (vii) summaries of or references to any written document in the
Schedule of Exceptions do not purport to be complete and are qualified in their entirety by the written documents themselves.
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8.7 Severability. In the event that any provision of this Agreement or the application thereof, becomes or is declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to
be illegal, void or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement will continue in full force and effect and the application of such provision to other Persons or
circumstances will be interpreted so as reasonably to effect the intent of the parties hereto. The parties further agree to replace such void or unenforceable
provision of this Agreement with a valid and enforceable provision that will achieve, to the extent possible, the economic, business and other purposes of such
void or unenforceable provision.

8.8 Governing Law. EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE PROVIDED HEREIN, INCLUDING SECTIONS 1.4 AND 1.5 HEREOF, ALL QUESTIONS AND/OR
DISPUTES CONCERNING THE CONSTRUCTION, VALIDITY AND INTERPRETATION OF THIS AGREEMENT AND THE TRANSACTIONS
CONTEMPLATED HEREBY SHALL BE GOVERNED BY THE INTERNAL LAWS, AND NOT THE LAW OF CONFLICTS, OF THE STATE OF
DELAWARE. THE STOCKHOLDERS, BY ACCEPTANCE OF CONSIDERATION SPECIFIED HEREIN, HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND
UNCONDITIONALLY AGREE TO BE SUBJECT TO, AND HEREBY CONSENT AND SUBMIT TO, THE JURISDICTION OF THE COURTS OF THE
STATE OF DELAWARE AND AGREE THAT ANY ACTION INVOLVING ANY EQUITABLE OR OTHER CLAIM SHALL BE BROUGHT
EXCLUSIVELY IN THE DELAWARE COURT OF CHANCERY. IN THE EVENT THAT THE DELAWARE COURT OF CHANCERY DOES NOT ACCEPT
JURISDICTION OVER ANY SUCH ACTION, THE COMPANY, THE STOCKHOLDERS, BY ACCEPTANCE OF CONSIDERATION SPECIFIED HEREIN,
HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY AGREE THAT ANY SUCH ACTION THEN SHALL BE BROUGHT EXCLUSIVELY IN THE
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE.

8.9 Rules of Construction. The parties hereto agree that they have been represented by counsel during the negotiation and execution of this Agreement and,
therefor, waive the application of any law, regulation, holding or rule of construction providing that ambiguities in an agreement or other document will be
construed against the party drafting such agreement or document.

8.10 Specific Performance. The parties hereto agree that irreparable damage might occur in the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement were not
performed in accordance with their specific terms or were otherwise breached. It is accordingly agreed that the parties shall be entitled to seek an injunction or
injunctions to prevent breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions hereof.

8.11 Attorneys’ Fees. If any action or other proceeding relating to the enforcement of any provision of this Agreement is brought by any party hereto, the
prevailing party shall be entitled to recover reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs, and disbursements (in addition to any other relief to which the prevailing party may
be entitled).

8.12 WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY AND
ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM (WHETHER BASED ON CONTRACT, TORT, OR OTHERWISE) ARISING OUT OF OR
RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE ACTIONS OF ANY PARTY HERETO IN NEGOTIATION, ADMINISTRATION, PERFORMANCE OR
ENFORCEMENT HEREOF

8.13 Representation of Company and its Affiliates. The parties agree that, notwithstanding the fact that Holland & Knight LLP may have jointly
represented the Company and/or the Stockholders (including the Stockholder Representative) in connection with this Agreement, and has also represented the
Company and/or its Affiliates in connection with matters other than the transaction that is the subject
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of this Agreement prior to Closing, Holland & Knight LLP will be permitted in the future, after Closing, to represent one or more of the Stockholders (including
the Stockholder Representative) or their Affiliates in connection with matters in which such Persons are adverse to the Company or any of its Affiliates, including
any disputes arising out of, or related to, this Agreement. The Company and Blackbaud, who are represented by independent counsel in connection with the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement, hereby agree, in advance, to waive (and to cause their Affiliates to waive) any actual or potential conflict of interest
that may hereafter arise in connection with Holland & Knight LLP’s future representation of one or more of the Stockholders (including the Stockholder
Representative) and their Affiliates in which the interests of such Person are adverse to the interests of the Company and/or Blackbaud or any of their respective
Affiliates, including any matters that arise out of this Agreement or that are substantially related to this Agreement or to any prior representation by Holland &
Knight LLP of the Company or any of its Affiliates. The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that, for the purposes of the attorney-client privilege, the
Stockholders, including the Stockholder Representative (and not the Company), shall be deemed the clients of Holland & Knight LLP with respect to the
negotiation, execution and performance of this Agreement and the Related Agreements.

ARTICLE IX

DEFINITIONS

9.1 Definitions. For all purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following respective meanings:

“Affiliate” shall mean, with respect to any Person, any other Person directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries controlling, controlled by or
under common control with such other Person. For purposes hereof, “control” means, as to any Person, the possession of the power to direct or cause the direction
of the management and policies of such Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.

“Aggregate Threshold Amount” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.4 hereof.

“Agreed Amount” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.5(a) hereof.

“Agreement” shall have the meaning set forth in the preamble hereof.

“Audit Costs” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.5(d) hereof.

“Blackbaud” shall have the meaning set forth in the preamble hereof.

“Blackbaud Employment Agreements” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.6(a) hereof.

“Blackbaud Indemnified Party” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.2(a) hereof.

“Blackbaud Material Adverse Effect” shall mean any change, event or effect that is materially adverse to Blackbaud’s ability to consummate the
Transactions or perform its obligations under this Agreement or any Related Agreement.

“Business Day” shall mean any day other than (a) a Saturday or Sunday or (b) a day on which banking institutions located in Charleston, South Carolina
are permitted or required by Law, executive order or governmental decree to remain closed.
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“Claim Certificate” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.5(a) hereof.

“Claimed Amount” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.5(a) hereof.

“Closing” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.2 hereof.

“Closing Balance Sheet” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.5(b) hereof.

“Closing Company Indebtedness” shall mean, as of the Closing, (a) all obligations of the Company for borrowed money, whether current or funded,
secured or unsecured, (b) all obligations of the Company for the deferred purchase price of any property or services (other than trade accounts payable arising in
the ordinary course of the business of such Person), (c) all obligations of the Company secured by a purchase money mortgage or other lien to secure all or part of
the purchase price of property subject to such mortgage or lien, (d) any refinancings of any of the foregoing obligations, (e) any penalties or fees accrued under
any of the foregoing, including those resulting from the prepayment or repayment of any of the foregoing obligations and (f) all accrued interest payable on any
of the foregoing obligations.

“Closing Date” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.2 hereof.

“Closing Purchase Price” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.3(a) hereof.

“Closing Statement” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.5(b) hereof.

“COBRA” shall mean the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended and as codified in Section 4980B of the Code and
Section 601 et. seq. of ERISA.

“Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

“Company” shall have the meaning set forth in the preamble hereof.

“Company Authorizations” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.17 hereof.

“Company Capital Stock” shall mean all capital stock of the Company, whether or not issued or outstanding.

“Company Charter Documents” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.1 hereof.

“Company Common Stock” shall mean shares of common stock, no par value per share, of the Company.

“Company Employee Plan” shall mean (i) any plan, program, policy, practice, contract, agreement or other material arrangement providing for
compensation, severance, termination pay, deferred compensation, performance awards, stock or stock-related awards, statutory, fringe, retirement, death,
disability or medical benefits or other employee benefits or remuneration of any kind, whether written, unwritten or otherwise, funded or unfunded, including
each “employee benefit plan,” within the meaning of Section 3(3) of ERISA that is or has been maintained, contributed to, or required to be contributed to, by the
Company or any of ERISA Affiliates for the benefit of any Company Personnel, or with respect to which the Company or any of its ERISA Affiliates has or may
have any Liability.

“Company Intellectual Property” shall mean any and all Licensed Company Intellectual Property and Owned Company Intellectual Property.
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“Company Intellectual Property Agreements” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.13(e) hereof.

“Company Material Adverse Effect” shall mean any change, event or effect that (a) is materially adverse to the business, assets (whether tangible or
intangible), financial condition, results of operations or capitalization of the Company, or (b) materially impairs the Company’s ability to consummate the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement; provided, however, that none of the following shall constitute a “Company Material Adverse Effect”: (i) changes
that are the result of factors generally affecting the industries or markets in which the Company conducts business that do not disproportionately affect the
Company as compared to other companies of similar size and scope that operate in the same industry or business as the Company; (ii) changes in Laws or GAAP
as applied on a consistent basis, or the interpretation thereof, that do not disproportionately affect the Company as compared to other companies of similar size
and scope that operate in the same industry or business as the Company; (iii) changes that are the result of economic factors affecting the national, regional or
world economy or acts of war or terrorism that do not disproportionately affect the Company as compared to other companies of similar size and scope that
operate in the same industry or business as the Company; (iv) changes that are the result of the announcement or pendency of the Sale and the other transactions
contemplated hereby, including the impact thereof on the relationships (contractual or otherwise) of the Company with customers, suppliers, licensors, partners or
employees; (v) the failure, in and of itself, of the Company to meet any of its internal projections or forecasts; and (vi) changes that result from any action taken
by the Company or the Stockholders pursuant to this Agreement or at the written request or with the written consent of Blackbaud.

“Company Personnel” shall mean any current or former Employee, consultant or director of the Company or any of its Affiliates.

“Company Privacy Obligations” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.30 hereof.

“Company Privacy Policies” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.30 hereof.

“Company Products” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.13(a) hereof.

“Company Source Code” shall mean source code for which both the Intellectual Property and Intellectual Property Rights therein are part of the Owned
Company Intellectual Property.

“Company Transaction Expenses” shall mean the sum, without duplication, of (a) all amounts payable as of the Closing in connection with the
Transactions as a result of the change in control of the Company or other similar provisions contained in any agreements binding upon the Company, including all
bonuses and severance payments (excluding COBRA or similar benefits paid after the Closing) (but for the avoidance of doubt, excluding any double-trigger or
similar severance arrangements that are still contingent obligations as of the Closing), termination payments to consultants or independent contractors and any
settlement of any such bonus or severance payment obligations, obligations related to terminated stock options, or obligations related to terminated stock
appreciation, phantom stock, profit participation and/or similar rights, entered into by the Company at or prior to the Closing (including with John Hennessey,
Shawn Cox and Jason Welch); and (b) any Third-Party Transaction Expenses incurred by or on behalf of the Company.

“Confidential Information” means any information of or concerning Blackbaud, the Company, this Agreement and the Transactions that is confidential or
propriety by nature and not already generally available to the public; provided, that Confidential Information shall not include: (a) information that at the time of
disclosure is generally available to the public or is otherwise available to the receiving party
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other than on a confidential basis; (b) information that, after disclosure, becomes generally available to the public by publication or otherwise through no fault of
the receiving party; (c) information disclosed to the receiving party by a third party not under an obligation of confidentiality to the disclosing party; or
(d) information that is or has been developed by an employee, agent or contractor of the receiving party independently of the disclosures by the disclosing party.

“Conflict” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.5 hereof.

“Consultant Severance Agreement and Release” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.6(c) hereof.

“Continuing Employee” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.6(a) hereof.

“Contract” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.5 hereof.

“Copyrights” shall mean any and all copyrights, copyrights registrations and applications therefor, and all other rights corresponding thereto throughout the
world including moral and economic rights of authors and inventors, however denominated.

“Covered Losses” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.4 hereof.

“Customer Information” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.12(g) hereof.

“Database Management Services” shall mean all database management services, including monthly database management, database customer support, list
exchange services and custom work, where such custom work is performed on the Company’s DonorDirect platform (including affiliated and related components)
only.

“Database Management Services Revenue” shall mean all gross revenues Blackbaud records in its consolidated financial statements (including the
Company) under GAAP (subject to Section 1.4(c) hereof) generated from Database Management Services Blackbaud provides to the Named Customers,
including (a) all such revenue generated by the Named Customers using DonorDirect (including any improvements or enhancements to, new versions of, and
successor programs to, DonorDirect and any affiliated and related components), and (b) except with respect to [*], all such revenue generated by Named
Customer subscriptions that convert to Blackbaud Database Management Services (based on comparable Database Management Services only). For the
avoidance of doubt, “gross revenues” shall take into account any discounts received by the Named Customers, shall mean revenues actually paid by, or accrued
with respect to, such Named Customers, and shall include revenues actually paid by, or accrued with respect to, successors and assignees of Named Customers to
the extent paid or payable by, or derived from, the transferred Named Customer but not those attributable to or derived from any entity that acquires a Named
Customer.

“Domain Name” shall mean any or all of the following and all worldwide rights in, arising out of, or associated therewith: domain names, uniform resource
locators and other names and locators associated with the Internet.

“Earnout Acceptance Notice” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.4(b)(ii) hereof.

“Earnout Dispute Costs” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.4(b)(ii) hereof.

“Earnout Measurement Period” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.4(c)(ii).
 
* Confidential treatment requested; certain information omitted and filed separately with the SEC.
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“Earnout Objection Notice” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.4(b)(ii) hereof.

“Earnout Payment Statement” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.4(b)(i) hereof.

“Earnout Payments” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.4(b)(i).

“Earnout Process Period” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.4(c)(i).

“Employee” shall mean any current or former employee of the Company or any of its Affiliates.

“Employee Agreement” shall mean each management, employment, severance, consulting, relocation, repatriation, expatriation, visas, work permit or
other agreement, or contract between the Company or any of its Affiliates and any Company Personnel.

“Environmental Laws” shall mean all federal, state, local and foreign Laws issued, promulgated, approved or entered relating to environmental matters, the
protection of the environment, the protection of human health and safety, or exposure to Hazardous Materials, including workplace health and safety Laws,
packaging and labeling Laws and Laws relating to the Release or threatened Release of Hazardous Materials to the environment (including ambient air, surface
water, ground water, land surface or subsurface strata) or otherwise relating to the presence, manufacture, processing, distribution, use, treatment, storage,
disposal, transport or handling of Hazardous Materials.

“Equipment” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.12(e) hereof.

“ERISA” shall mean the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.

“ERISA Affiliate” shall mean any other Person under common control with the Company within the meaning of Section 414(b), (c), (m) or (o) of the Code,
and the regulations issued thereunder.

“Escrow Account” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.3(b) hereof.

“Escrow Agent” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.3(b) hereof.

“Escrow Agreement” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.3(b) hereof.

“Escrow Amount” shall mean [*].

“Escrow Funds” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.6 hereof.

“Estimated Closing Balance Sheet” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.5(a) hereof.

“Estimated Closing Statement” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.5(a) hereof.

“Examination Period” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.5(c) hereof.

“Excess Recovery” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.4(f) hereof.

“Final Closing Statement” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.5(c) hereof.

“Final Earnout Determination” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.4(b)(iii) hereof.

“Final Purchase Price Adjustments” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.5(c) hereof.
 
[*] Confidential treatment requested; certain information omitted and filed separately with the SEC.
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“Financial Statements” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.7 hereof.

“First Earnout Amount” shall mean [*].

“First Earnout Payment” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.4(b)(i) hereof.

“GAAP” shall mean United States generally accepted accounting principles consistently applied.

“Governmental Entity” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.6 hereof.

“Hazardous Materials” shall mean all hazardous substances, wastes, extremely hazardous substances, hazardous materials, hazardous wastes, hazardous
constituents, solid wastes, special wastes, toxic substances, pollutants, contaminants, petroleum or petroleum derived substances or wastes, and related materials,
including any such materials defined, listed, regulated or identified under or described in any Environmental Laws (including, by way of example, spent solvents,
PCBs, urea-formaldehyde, radon, lead or lead based paints or materials, asbestos and asbestos containing materials).

“Immigration Laws” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.31 hereof.

“Indebtedness” shall mean, with respect to any Person (a) all obligations of such Person for borrowed money, whether current or funded, secured or
unsecured, (b) all obligations of such Person for the deferred purchase price of any property or services (other than trade accounts payable arising in the ordinary
course of the business of such Person), (c) all obligations of such Person secured by a purchase money mortgage or other lien to secure all or part of the purchase
price of property subject to such mortgage or lien, (d) all obligations under leases which shall have been or should be, in accordance with GAAP or other
generally accepted accounting principles as applicable to such Person, recorded as capital leases in respect of which such Person is liable as lessee, (e) any
obligation of such Person in respect of bankers’ acceptances, (f) any obligations secured by Liens on property acquired by such Person, whether or not such
obligations were assumed by such Person at the time of acquisition of such property, (g) all obligations of a type referred to in clauses (a), (b), (c), (d), (e), or
(f) above which is directly or indirectly guaranteed by such Person or which it has agreed (contingently or otherwise) to purchase or otherwise acquire or in
respect of which it has otherwise assured a credit against loss, (h) any refinancings of any of the foregoing obligations, (i) any penalties or fees accrued under any
of the foregoing, including those resulting from the prepayment or repayment of any of the foregoing obligations and (j) all accrued interest payable on any of the
foregoing obligations.

“Indefinite Representations” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.1(a) hereof.

“Indemnified Party” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.3 hereof

“Indemnified Party Representative” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.5(a) hereof.

“Indemnifying Party Representative” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.5(a) hereof.

“Individual Threshold Amount” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.4 hereof.

“Informational Disclosures” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.6 hereof.

“Initial Purchase Price” means an amount equal to seventeen million six hundred twenty -five thousand dollars ($17,625,000).
 
* Confidential treatment requested; certain information omitted and filed separately with the SEC.
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“Intellectual Property” shall mean any or all of the following: (i) proprietary inventions (whether patentable or not), invention disclosures, industrial
designs, improvements, trade secrets, proprietary information, know how, technology, technical data and customer lists, and all documentation relating to any of
the foregoing; (ii) proprietary business, technical and know how information, non-public information and confidential information including databases and data
collections; (iii) works of authorship (including computer programs, source code, object code, whether embodied in software, firmware or otherwise),
architecture, artwork, logo images, documentation, files, records, schematics, verilog files, netlists, emulation and simulation reports, test vectors and hardware
development tools; (iv) proprietary processes, devices, prototypes, schematics, bread boards, net lists, mask works, test methodologies and hardware development
tools; (v) logos, trade names, trade dress, trademarks, service marks, World Wide Web addresses, uniform resource locators and domain names; and (vii) any
similar or equivalent property of any of the foregoing (as applicable).

“Intellectual Property Rights” shall mean any or all of the following and all worldwide common law and statutory rights in, arising out of, or associated
therewith: (i) Patents; (ii) Copyrights; (iii) industrial designs and any registrations and applications therefor throughout the world; (iv) Trademarks; (v) Trade
Secrets; (vi) Mask Works; and (vii) any similar or equivalent rights to any of the foregoing (as applicable)

“Interested Person” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.16(a) hereof.

“IRS” shall mean the United States Internal Revenue Service.

“Key Employees” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.6(a) hereof.

“Knowledge of the Company” shall mean the actual knowledge of the Persons set forth in Schedule 9.1(1) hereto, and the knowledge that such Persons
should have in performing their day-to-day duties for the Company, taking into account their tenure with the Company.

“Law” shall mean any law, statute, ordinance, rule, regulation, code, order, judgment, injunction, decree or other provision having the force or effect of law
enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or ordered by a Governmental Entity.

“Lease Agreements” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.12(c) hereof.

“Leased Real Property” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.12(b) hereof.

“Liability” shall mean, with respect to any Person, any liability or obligation of such Person of any kind, character or description, whether known or
unknown, absolute or contingent, accrued or unaccrued, disputed or undisputed, liquidated or unliquidated, secured or unsecured, joint or several, due or to
become due, vested or unvested, executory, determined, determinable or otherwise, and whether or not the same is required to be accrued on the financial
statements of such Person.

“Licensed Company Intellectual Property” shall mean all Intellectual Property and Intellectual Property Rights licensed to the Company by third parties.

“Liens” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.10(a)(viii) hereof.

“Loss” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.2(a) hereof.
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“Mask Works” shall mean any and all mask works, mask work registrations and applications, and all other rights corresponding thereto throughout the
world.

“Merge/Purge Services” shall mean merge/purge services and analytics services which require data derived from merge/purge services provided.

“Merge/Purge Revenue” shall mean all gross revenues Blackbaud records in its consolidated financial statements (including the Company) under GAAP
(subject to Section 1.4(c) hereof) generated for Merge/Purge Services provided to customers of Blackbaud and its Subsidiaries, whether former Company
customers or not. For the avoidance of doubt, “gross revenues” shall take into account any discounts received by customers of Blackbaud and its Subsidiaries and
shall mean revenues actually paid by, or accrued with respect to, such customers.

“Named Customers” shall mean those Persons listed on Schedule II hereto, including any successor to any such Person (whether by sale of stock, merger,
purchase of all or substantially all of its assets or otherwise) and any assignee of a Contract between any such Person and Blackbaud or the Company relating to
Database Management Services.

“Negotiation Period” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.5(c) hereof.

“Non-Continuing Employee” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.6(b) hereof.

“Non-Continuing Employee Severance Agreements and Releases” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.6(b) hereof.

“Official” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.26 hereof.

“Open Source Software” shall mean each of (i) “open source” code, as defined by the Open Source Initiative, (ii) “Free” code, as defined by the Free
Software Foundation, and (iii) Software for which the human readable version (or source code) is available to the general public for use, modification and/or
distribution free of charge or for a de minimis charge.

“Other Adjustment Amount” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.5(f) hereof.

“Owned Company Intellectual Property” shall mean all Intellectual Property and Intellectual Property Rights in which both are owned by the Company.

“Patents” shall mean any patents and applications therefor and all reissues, divisions, renewals, extensions, provisionals, continuations and continuations-
in-part thereof throughout the world.

“Payment Dispute Notice” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.5(c) hereof.

“Permits” shall mean any permits, consents, licenses, certificates, registrations, certificate of occupancy or use, variances, orders, governmental
authorizations or approvals, or any other permits.

“Person” shall mean shall mean any natural person, company, corporation, limited liability company, general or limited partnership, trust, proprietorship,
joint venture, or other business entity, unincorporated association, organization or enterprise, or any Governmental Entity.

“Pre-Closing Tax Periods” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.8(a) hereof.
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“Pro Rata Share” shall mean, with respect to each Stockholder, an amount equal to the quotient (expressed as a percentage) obtained by dividing (a) the
number of Shares held by such Stockholder by (b) the total number of Shares. The Pro Rata Share of each Stockholder is listed on Schedule I hereto.

“Purchase Price Adjustments” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.3(a) hereof.

“Related Agreements” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.4 hereof.

“Release” shall mean any release, spill, emission, leaking, pumping, injection, deposit, disposal, discharge, dispersal, leaching or migration into the
environment or out of any property, including the movement of any materials through or in the air, soil, surface water, ground water or property.

“Release Date” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.6 hereof.

“Representative” means, with respect to any Person, such Person’s Affiliates and such Person’s and its Affiliates’ respective officers, directors (or members
of a similar governing body or with a similar role), employees, equity holders, consultants, advisors, agents and other representatives.

“Sale” shall have the meaning set forth in Recital B hereto.

“Schedule of Exceptions” shall have the meaning set forth in preamble to Article II hereof.

“Second Earnout Amount” shall mean [*].

“Second Earnout Payment” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.4(b)(i) hereof.

“Securities Act” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.7 hereof.

“Selected Independent Firm” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.5(d) hereof.

“Shares” shall have the meaning set forth in Recital A hereto.

“Special Representation” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.1(a) hereof.

“Straddle Tax Period” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.8(b) hereof.

“Stockholder Charter Documents” shall mean the certificate of incorporation, articles of incorporation or articles of organization and bylaws of a
Stockholder, if applicable.

“Stockholder Indemnified Party” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.3 hereof

“Stockholder Representative” shall have the meaning set forth in the preamble hereof.

“Stockholder Representative Amount” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.3(c) hereof.

“Stockholder Representative Fund” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.3(c) hereof.

“Stockholders” shall have the meaning set forth in the preamble hereof.

“Subsidiary” shall mean, with respect to any party, any corporation or other organization, whether incorporated or unincorporated, of which (i) such party
or any other subsidiary of such party is a general partner (excluding such partnerships where such party or any subsidiary of such party does not have a
 
* Confidential treatment requested; certain information omitted and filed separately with the SEC.
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majority of the voting interest in such partnership) or (ii) at least a majority of the securities or other interests having by their terms ordinary voting power to elect
a majority of the Board of Directors or others performing similar functions with respect to such corporation or other organization is directly or indirectly owned or
controlled by such party or by any one or more of its subsidiaries.

“Survival Date” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.1(a) hereof.

“Tax” or collectively, “Taxes” shall mean (i) any and all federal, state, local and foreign taxes, assessments and other governmental charges, duties,
impositions and liabilities, including taxes based upon or measured by gross receipts, income, profits, sales, use and occupation, and value added, ad valorem,
transfer, franchise, withholding, payroll, recapture, employment, excise and property taxes as well as public imposts, fees and social security charges (including
health, unemployment and pension insurance), together with all interest, penalties and additions imposed with respect to such amounts, (ii) any Liability for the
payment of any amounts of the type described in clause (i) of this paragraph as a result of being a member of an affiliated, consolidated, combined or unitary
group for any period, and (iii) any Liability for the payment of any amounts of the type described in clauses (i) or (ii) of this paragraph as a result of any express
or implied obligation to indemnify any other Person or as a result of any obligation under any agreement or arrangement with any other Person with respect to
such amounts and including any Liability for taxes of a transferor or predecessor entity.

“Tax Return” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.10(a)(i) hereof.

“Terminated Consultant” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.6(c) hereof.

“Third-Party Transaction Expenses” shall mean all fees and expenses incurred in connection with the Sale and the other Transactions, including all legal,
accounting, investment banking, financial advisory, consulting and all other fees and expenses of third parties.

“Total Current Assets” shall mean the sum of (a) cash, (b) accounts receivable outstanding for 60 days or fewer from their invoice date (c) prepaid
expenses, each as determined in accordance with GAAP, consistently applied with the Company’s past practices.

“Total Current Liabilities” shall mean the sum of (a) accounts payable and (b) accrued expenses and other current liabilities, each as determined in
accordance with GAAP, consistently applied with the Company’s past practices. Without limitation, other liabilities in the definition of Total Current Liabilities
shall include, subject to the last sentence of this definition, (a) any minimum payment obligations under any Contract related to any period ending up to the
Closing Date that are due within twelve (12) months of the Closing Date; and (b) all wages, salary, bonuses, severance or other compensation payable to any
Company Personnel prior to the Closing Date that the Company has not paid in full prior to the Closing Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Total Current
Liabilities shall exclude deferred revenue, Company Transaction Expenses, Closing Company Indebtedness, obligations under capital leases, deferred rent, Taxes
payable and deferred income Taxes.

“Total Earnout Amount” shall mean two million five hundred thousand dollars ($2,500,000).

“Trade Secrets” shall mean any and all trade secrets (including, those trade secrets defined in the Uniform Trade Secrets Act and under corresponding
foreign statutory and common law) and proprietary business, technical and know-how information, non-public information, and confidential information and
rights to limit the use or disclosure thereof by any Person, including databases and data collections.
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“Trademarks” shall mean any and all trade names, logos, common law trademarks and service marks, trademark and service mark registrations and
applications therefor and all goodwill associated therewith throughout the world.

“Transactions” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.4 hereof.

“Unresolved Earnout Objections” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.4(b)(ii) hereof.

“Working Capital” shall mean Total Current Assets of the Company as of 11:59 p.m. on the day immediately prior to the Closing Date minus Total Current
Liabilities of the Company as of 11:59 p.m. on the day immediately prior to the Closing Date, in each case prior to giving effect to the Transactions.

“Working Capital Adjustment Amount” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.5(e) hereof.

“Working Capital Deficiency” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.5(a) hereof.

“Working Capital Surplus” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.5(a) hereof.

“Working Capital Target” shall mean [*].

“Zanbar” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.3(d) hereof.

“Zanbar Capital Management” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.6(c) hereof.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank.]
 
[*] Confidential treatment requested; certain information omitted and filed separately with the SEC.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Blackbaud, the Company, the Stockholder Representative and the Stockholders have caused this Agreement to be signed, all as
of the date first written above.
 

Blackbaud:

 BLACKBAUD, INC.

 By:  /s/ Timothy Williams
 Name: Timothy Williams
 Title:  SVP & CFO

The Company:

 PUBLIC INTEREST DATA, INC.

 By:  /s/ John T. Hennessy
 Name: John T. Hennessy
 Title:  CEO

The Stockholder Representative:

 /s/ Stephen W. Zautke

 

Name: Stephen W. Zautke, solely in his
capacity as Stockholder Representative
hereunder

The Stockholders:

 

THE MICHAEL F. MACLEOD
REVOCABLE TRUST DATED 10/3/2000

 By:  /s/ Michael F. MacLeod
 Name: Michael F. MacLeod
 Title:  Trustee

[Signature Page to Stock Purchase Agreement]



THE DELBERT CLARK REVOCABLE
TRUST DATED 3/8/2001

By:  /s/ Delbert Clark
Name: Delbert Clark
Title:  Trustee

THE STEPHEN W. ZAUTKE TRUST, AS
AMENDED

By:  /s/ Stephen W. Zautke
Name: Stephen W. Zautke
Title:  Trustee

THE HANSEN FAMILY TRUST DATED
4/4/97, TRUST 3

By:  /s/ Gregory F. Hansen
Name: Gregory F. Hansen
Title:  Trustee

THE CHRISTOPHER R. BARBER TRUST,
AS AMENDED

By:  /s/ Christopher R. Barber
Name: Christopher R. Barber
Title:  Trustee

THE JMS LIVING TRUST

By:  /s/ Joseph M. Stevens
Name: Joseph M. Stevens
Title:  Trustee

[Signature Page to Stock Purchase Agreement]



EXHIBIT 31.1

Blackbaud, Inc.

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Marc E. Chardon, certify that:
 

 1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q of Blackbaud, Inc.;
 

 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 

 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 

 
a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
b. designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 
c. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

 
d. disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent

fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

 
a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are

reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 

 
b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal

control over financial reporting.
 
Date: May 10, 2011  By: /s/ Marc E. Chardon

  Marc E. Chardon
  President and Chief Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 31.2

Blackbaud, Inc.

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Timothy V. Williams, certify that:
 

 1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q of Blackbaud, Inc.;
 

 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 

 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 

 
a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
b. designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 
c. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

 
d. disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent

fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

 
a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are

reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 

 
b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal

control over financial reporting.
 
Date: May 10, 2011  By: /s/ Timothy V. Williams

  Timothy V. Williams
  Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer



EXHIBIT 32.1

Blackbaud, Inc.

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Blackbaud, Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ended March 31, 2011 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on or about the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Marc E. Chardon, President and Chief Executive Officer, hereby certify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:
 

 (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

 
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as

of, and for, the periods presented in the Report.
 
Date: May 10, 2011   By: /s/ Marc E. Chardon

   Marc E. Chardon
   President and Chief Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 32.2

Blackbaud, Inc.

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Blackbaud, Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ended March 31, 2011 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on or about the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Timothy V. Williams, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer,
hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:
 

 (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

 
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as

of, and for, the periods presented in the Report.
 
Date: May 10, 2011   By: /s/ Timothy V. Williams

   Timothy V. Williams
   Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer


